DOTTORATO DI RICERCA in

Scienze Mediche Generali e Scienze dei Servizi

Ciclo XXXII

"ELASTOVOD PROJECT: Prospective studies to evaluate the preclinical diagnostic potential of hepatic ultrasound-based elastography measurement for predicting the development of Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome (SOS/VOD) and hepatic complications in patients undergoing hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT)"

> Settore Concorsuale **06/D4** Settore scientifico disciplinare MED/12

Presentata da: Dott. Federico Ravaioli

Coordinatore Dottorato

Supervisore

Chiar.mo Prof. Fabio Piscaglia Chiar.mo Prof. Davide Festi

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND

Veno-occlusive-disease (VOD), also known as sinusoidal-obstruction-syndrome (SOS), is one of the main complications of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation and is related to the treatment with pyrrolizidine alkaloids or other toxic agents (chemotherapy for liver-metastasis). Clinical diagnosis using the new criteria from the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation is the reference for SOS/VOD diagnosis. However, increasing evidence suggests the emerging role of several imaging methods that could help the clinician in VOD/SOS assessment. The survival rate is higher when earlier specific therapy is initiated, thus improving early, non-invasive diagnosis of SOS/VOD is strongly needed. We aimed to assess in patients undergoing HSCT, the SOS/VOD diagnostic role of Liver Stiffness Measurement (LSM) evaluated by many elastography techniques.

METHODS

The ElastoVOD project was an interventional study without drugs developed in two sequential phases: the first was monocentric proof of the concept study in Bologna from April 2015 to November 2017; the second was a national multicentre study involving around 47 Italian transplant centres and is still ongoing (clinicaltrial.gov NCT03426358). LSM was performed before HSCT and at day +9/10, +15/17 and +22/24 post-HSCT. EBMT-criteria were used to establish a VOD/SOS diagnosis.

RESULTS

Among the 456 patients undergoing HSCT, 20 patients developed SOS/VOD (4.4%) during the study period. A sudden increase of LSM, compared to the previous assessment and pre-HSCT measurement, was found in all patients who developed SOS/VOD. LSM increases occurred from 1 to more than ten days before clinical SOS/VOD appearance. The SOS/VOD diagnostic performance of increased LSM over pre-HSCT assessment showed Area under the ROC Curve (AUROC) 0.997 (Sens. 75%; Spec. 98.7%). LSM gradually decreased following successful SOS/VOD specific treatment. Interestingly in the adult patient's subgroup, LSM values did not significantly increase in patients experiencing hepato-biliary complications (according to common terminology criteria, CTC) other than SOS/VOD.

CONCLUSION

Elastography techniques measuring liver stiffness (LSM) represent the most recent and promising approach to perform an early, pre-clinical diagnosis and follow-up of SOS/VOD. In our view, a multidisciplinary approach to the SOS/VOD diagnosis should be highly encouraged.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART 1 – LITERATURE REVIEW3
1. Sinusoidal obstruction Syndrome SOS 3
Definition and History of the disease
Epidemiology11
Pathogenesis11
Clinical diagnosis by aetiology25
Treatments and preventions54
2. Role of imaging in SOS/VOD diagnosis61
Diagnostic role of Hepatic Venous Pressure Gradient (HVPG) in SOS/VOD assessment 61
Diagnostic role of ultrasound imaging (US) in SOS/VOD assessment64
Role of Ultrasound Elastography techniques in SOS/VOD assessment
Diagnostic role of Computed Tomography (CT) in SOS/VOD assessment
Diagnostic role of Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) in SOS/VOD assessment
Diagnostic role of Nuclear Medicine in SOS/VOD assessment
Integrative imaging approach to SOS/VOD diagnosis
PART 2 – RESEARCH STUDIES93
INTRODUCTION93
METHODS96
RESULTS 115
CONCLUSION139
REFERENCES 146
APPENDIX

PART ONE

- LITERATURE REVIEW -

PART 1 – LITERATURE REVIEW

1. Sinusoidal obstruction Syndrome SOS

Definition and History of the disease

Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome (SOS), also known as Hepatic Veno-Occlusive Disease (VOD) was first described by a pathologist from Prague in 1905 as an obliterative endophlebitis in the terminal hepatic veins of the human liver lobule, suggesting syphilis as the only possible etiology [1]. This entity was recognised in South Africa in 1920 as cirrhosis resulting from Senecio poisoning in humans. It was further characterised in the West Indies in the 1950s, based on conspicuous congestion of sinusoids and hemorrhagic necrosis in the centrilobular area while large hepatic veins were patent and there was a non-thrombotic occlusion of central and sublobular hepatic veins by subendothelial oedema and fibrosis[2]. In 1954, terminal vein lesions were described in Jamaican drinkers of bush tea, characterised by eradication of hepatic vein radicals by varying amounts of subendothelial swelling and delicate reticulated tissue[2]. At later stages, a fibrous pericentral scar developed. [3] It was soon recognised that the disease was associated with the consumption of "bush tea". In the early 1960s, studies of the effects of ionising

radiation on mammalian tissues documented that the hepatic vasculature could be damaged by this mechanism [4], in the absence of antecedent vascular thrombosis [5,6]. The most remarkable example of an obliterative venous lesion induced by irradiation was observed in humans with lung tumours treated with radiation; both the lung vasculature and that of the dome of the liver that was included in the radiation field developed vascular obliteration, but not the remainder of the unexposed liver [7]. Shortly after that, 12 patients who were receiving upper abdominal irradiation by the Stanford Linear Accelerator showed evidence of the induction of obliterative venopathy, as a consequence of heavy irradiation of the human liver for metastatic [8]. Thus, by the mid-1960s, the concept of hepatic veno-occlusive disease was well-known, caused by either chemical or radiation toxicity, and as a lesion separate from Budd-Chiari syndrome and Banti syndrome [9,10]. In the late 1970s, similar histologic lesions were found in outbreaks in India and Israel, attributed to contamination of wheat and traditional herbal remedies with plant toxins [11,12]. The histological lesions resembled previously described hepatic veno-occlusive lesions observed in rats infected with Senecio plant extracts[13] or Crotolaria[6]. This type of liver toxicity was ultimately associated with hepatic exposure to plant pyrrolizidine alkaloids, proving these plant toxins as the cause of veno-occlusive disease in users of herbal teas. A relationship with similar lesions found in cattle exposed to pyrrolizidine alkaloidcontaining plants was rapidly established.

Pyrrolizidine alkaloids are many, varying in structure and origin. They are mostly found in plants, of several families, including about 3% of the world's flowering plants. Following ingestion, they are absorbed from the gut and transformed by hepatic cytochrome P450, CYP3A and CYP2B into so-called DHP esters. These metabolites react rapidly with functional groups on DNA, proteins or glutathione to form DHP adducts and rapid spontaneous hydrolysis of DHP esters forms less reactive intermediates that can diffuse outside the liver. DHP adducts may further induce toxic effects. The differences in metabolism among different species are likely to explain part of the species susceptibility to pyrrolizidine alcaloids[14].

In the 1970s, besides the endemic cases related to the consumption of bush teas, epidemic forms of the disease have been described as a result of consuming products made from wheat contaminated with seeds of pyrrolizidine alkaloid-containing plants[15]. These epidemics occurred in a context of war or drought, modifying regular harvesting and allowing for toxic plants to contaminate crops. Attack rates have been up to 30% based on clinical examination and associated with fatalities or complete recovery within the same

epidemics. The findings from endemic cases have been similar to from histopathological studies, spanning from acute those centrilobular congestion with occlusion of central veins to cirrhosis. Such outbreaks of SOS/VOD have still been reported into the 1990s. Since the mid-1980s, several sporadic cases related to the consumption of herbal remedies have been reported from western countries or China. Recently, attention has been drawn to the possible SOS/VOD occurring as a result of the erroneous substitution of pyrrolizidine alkaloid-containing to non-pyrrolizidine alkaloid in herbal remedy [16]. Epidemiological studies have recently on lowlevel dietary exposure to pyrrolizidine alkaloids, e.g. consuming honey from plants containing pyrrolizidine alkaloids[17]. There is a lack of evidence for significant toxicity from such low-level dietary exposure, but this is challenging to be verified in humans [14]. They could explain in part some endemic/epidemic toxic liver injury related to co-exposure to DTT, as recently reported for the Hirmi valley disease[18]. Recent efforts have also focused on identifying accurate biomarkers for exposure to pyrrolizidine alkaloids. Serum pyrrole-protein adducts may prove valuable in this regards [16].

The long-used administration of pyrrolizidine alkaloids to animals of various species has allowed a demonstration of direct responsibility in inducing the liver changes. A reproducible rat model was eventually developed, consisting of gavage with monocrotaline for 1 to 10 days before sacrifice[19]. This model showed early injury to sinusoidal and central vein endothelium, preceding the development of venoocclusive lesions. The latter could be explained by the contiguity of venous subendothelial areas with the space of Disse, where endothelial denudation allowed accumulation of erythrocytes and cellular or non-cellular debris. These findings lead the new denomination of "SOS" being proposed for the entity, in order to better account for damage to sinusoidal endothelium rather than occlusion of the central vein as a primary event. Coagulative necrosis of hepatocytes was also found to occur later than endothelial injury [19]. This model further provided clues to understand how toxic metabolites, which are produced in the hepatocytes, induce more severe damage to endothelial cells than hepatocytes. Indeed, a decrease in glutathione content was more profound in endothelial cells than in hepatocytes.

Moreover, supply in exogenous GSH through the portal vein protected from SOS/VOD [20]. Further experiments showed that the earliest changes detectable in sinusoidal endothelium, the rounding up of a sinusoidal endothelial cell, was dependent on the production of matrix metalloproteinase nine and two by endothelial

cells[21], which could be induced by a decreased production of nitric oxide [22]. This experimental model also allowed for showing that bone marrow-derived progenitors replace sinusoidal and central venous endothelial cells after injury and that monocrotaline suppresses endothelial cell progenitors in the bone marrow and circulation [23]. Therefore, SOS/VOD appears to be a disease resulting from 2 combined mechanisms:

- toxic injury to sinusoidal/central venous endothelial cells;
- toxic injury to bone marrow progenitors preventing the replacement of the damaged endothelial cells in sinusoids and central veins.

These concepts are highly relevant to hematopoietic stem cell transplantation.

Bone marrow transplantation for humans with leukaemias became a therapeutic option during the 1960s. Initial challenges to this new therapy were the preservation of harvested marrow and achieving successful marrow engraftment[24]. Reports of hepatic venoocclusive disease in patients undergoing bone marrow transplantation emerged in the 1970's[25],; a number of different studies followed this research and validated the following apparent risk factors: bone marrow transplantation for malignancy, involving intense chemotherapeutic and radiation conditioning regimens; patient age over 15 years; and in particular, abnormal pretransplant serum levels of liver enzymes[26–28]. Moreover, also the presence of metastatic liver disease, predisposed to veno-occlusive disease [28,29].

In these initial years of veno-occlusive disease as a complication of induction regimen before bone marrow transplantation, the prevalence of veno-occlusive disease varied from 21% to 25% in allogeneic graft recipients [28,30,31], to 5% in recipients of autologous marrow[28,32,33]. In the four decades since routine use of bone marrow transplantation for solid malignancies, lymphomas and leukaemias, induction regimes and therapies have helped to improve, but not to eliminate, the incidence of this condition in the transplant population. Up to date, the incidence of SOS/VOD is primarily in the setting of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (Table 01). The initial definition of VOD suggested the primary involvement of hepatic venules. However, it is now known that the primary sites of toxic injury are sinusoidal endothelial cells due to hepatoxic agents, leading to a loss of sinusoidal wall integrity, endothelium detachment and embolisation towards the centrolobular zone of the hepatic acinus[34]. These events lead to a block in the liver blood outflow, with sinusoidal obstruction and consequent congestion, which can also lead to the development of

(post)sinusoidal portal hypertension (PH)[35]. Other features, such as marked sinusoidal fibrosis, necrosis of pericentral hepatocytes, and the narrowing and fibrosis of central veins, have also been described in liver biopsies[36].

Young children and adults were both affected. Several variants of clinical presentation were described:

- Acute presentation with rapid and massive abdominal swelling and pain associated with haemorrhagic centrilobular necrosis;
- Subacute presentation with recurrent ascites, splenomegaly and hepatomegaly, associated with extensive fibrosis in centrilobular areas;
- Chronic variant indistinguishable at the bedside from cirrhosis of other origins but showing a venocentric type of cirrhosis at histological examination.

A possible full clinical, biochemical and pathological recovery was recorded in half the patients, a rapid death in 20% of patients, and the development of decompensated liver disease in the rest. Table 01: Main causes of Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome (SOS)

Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT)
Adjuvant or neoadjuvant chemotherapy with hepatectomy for
metastatic liver disease
Radiation-induced liver disease
Chemotherapy for acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) and acute
lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL) CD22+
Liver transplantation
Use of herbal remedies
Veno-occlusive disease with immunodeficiency (VODI)

Epidemiology

Although several agents can be the carriers of the syndrome, the most common cause of SOS/VOD in the West today is certainly HSCT[37]. In fact, SOS/VOD affects 14% (5-60%) of patients who received an allogeneic or autologous HSCT[38], with significant differences in its incidence depending on several risk factors[39], the clinical diagnostic criteria chosen and the use of Reduced Intensity Conditioning (RIC) regimens[40].

Pathogenesis

Experimental Investigation in Animals

The first experimental efforts to induce veno occlusive disease in animals concentrated mainly on irradiation. Even though the nonhuman primate liver is relatively resistant to radiation-induced veno-

occlusive disease, [41], veno-occlusive lesions could be induced in primates [42] and non-primates [43] by exposing them to the chronic irradiation regimes. However, the underlying pathogenesis of this condition was not demonstrated with these early experimental models. Careful ultrastructural examination of human tissues suggested that the initial morphologic change in the hepatic venoocclusive disease was the obstruction at the level of hepatic sinusoids, followed by obliteration of the terminal hepatic veins [36]. In 1999 a study with a more economical and reproducible rodent model of veno-occlusive disease confirmed this observation [19]. The earliest documented alteration found in rats gavaged with the pyrrolizidine alkaloid monocrotaline and killed between days 1–10 after exposure, was damage to the hepatic sinusoids; fibrosis and obliteration of the terminal hepatic veins occurred as a subsequent lesion. This articulation that toxic injury to the hepatic sinusoids was the primary lesion of the hepatic veno-occlusive disease led to its being renamed sinusoidal obstruction syndrome (SOS)[34].

The rat model of SOS/VOD may be summarised as follows[19,44]. Following a single gavage with monocrotaline, within 24 h-48 h there is ultrastructural evidence of damage to hepatic sinusoidal endothelial cells (SEC), but little clinical or histological evidence of hepatic toxicity. By days 3–5 (early SOS), sinusoidal

obstruction evidence is quite severe, with huge centrilobular necrosis and haemorrhage, damage to endothelial cells of the terminal hepatic veins, subendothelial haemorrhage, and ultrastructural evidence of extensive destruction of the sinusoidal wall. The clinical manifestations are hepatomegaly, ascites, and hyperbilirubinemia. By days 6–7 (late SOS), the characteristic subendothelial and adventitial fibrosis of terminal hepatic veins becomes more evident. There is continued sinusoidal and subendothelial haemorrhage, but the gradual resolution of the ultrastructural evidence of damage to the sinusoidal endothelial cells. By days 8–10, SOS/VOD has entirely resolved in some animals or persisted as a severe pattern of hepatic damage in others.

А detailed study of the first hours after monocrotaline exposure[44] reveal that SECs become swollen, with increased adhesion of leukocytes to the endothelium. Red blood cells dissect beneath the endothelial cells and into the space of Disse, separating the endothelial cells from the underlying hepatocytes and permitting free access of blood to the parenchymal space. In contrast, blood flow in the restricted sinusoidal channel becomes sluggish. The sinusoid is eventually obstructed by an embolism of aggregated sinusoidal lining cells, red blood cells, and adherent monocytes. Kupffer cells are lost along the sinusoidal lining and are replaced with an influx of circulating phagocytic monocytes which accumulate in the injured centrilobular area. The specific toxicity of monocrotaline is that of its reactive metabolite, monocrotaline pyrrole, which binds covalently to the actin microfilaments of endothelial cells[12]. The F-actin depolymerises causing the disassembly of the actin cytoskeleton and rounding up of the endothelial cells. Increased expression and release of matrix metalloproteinase-9 into the extracellular space causes the breakdown of the extracellular matrix in the space of Disse, allowing further dehiscence of the endothelial cells [44].

These experiments started to suggest that SECs are more susceptible to toxic injury than hepatocytes. SEC glutathione depletion, nitric oxide depletion, increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and activation of clotting factors are considered some of the most relevant pathogenic factors[45]. In the beginning, drugs leading to SOS/VOD are metabolised exclusively by the hepatocellular cytochrome P450 systems, for which glutathione is an antioxidant recovery mechanism. Hepatic exposure to these drugs causes the depletion of glutathione. Severe deficiency of glutathione levels in SECs renders them susceptible to cell death; prophylactic infusion of glutathione or Nacetyl cysteine prevents the development of SOS/VOD in the monocrotaline-treated rat model[44]; post-hoc administration of glutathione lowers the degree of sinusoidal injury, but does not avoid it. The central role of glutathione depletion is highlighted by additional evidence including the predisposition to SOS/VOD in humans with a glutathione S-transferase M1 (GSTM1) null genotype who are undergoing bone marrow transplantation[46] or receiving oxaliplatin for metastatic colon cancer [47]. In the second instance, nitric oxide levels in the hepatic vein of rats decrease during induction of SOS/VOD [48]. The induction of SOS/VOD can either be exacerbated by administration of N(G)-nitro-l-arginine methyl ester (l-NAME), an inhibitor of nitric oxide synthase or be mitigated by infusion of V-YRRO/NO, a liver-selective nitric oxide donor prodrug [22]. Vasoconstriction plays different roles as not only provides evidence for nitric oxide depletion in the pathogenesis of SOS/VOD [48] but also shows that adequate nitric oxide levels inhibit vasoconstriction of hepatic stellate cells, which invest the hepatic sinusoidal from within the space of Disse [49].

Matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression increases early in the rat monocrotaline-induced SOS/VOD model; later, the increase in matrix metalloproteinase-2 is of a lower degree. SECs are proved to be a relevant origin of both basal and monocrotaline-induced enzyme expression and release. The development of experimental SOS/VOD is avoided by the Administration of matrix metalloproteinase

inhibitors [21]. This implicates degradation of the extracellular matrix within the space of Disse as contributing to the loss of endothelial cell adhesion. DeLeve and associates utilised the rat model of monocrotaline-induced SOS/VOD to demonstrate that the repair of sinusoidal endothelial cells (SEC) by constitutive bone marrow stem cell is critical to the maintenance of the sinusoidal architecture[23]. Bone marrow suppression by irradiation through impairing SEC repair mechanism may contribute to the pathogenesis of SOS.

The role of VEGF as an angiogenic factor has less clear evidence. Iguchi et al. observed increased serum levels of VEGF during the development of SOS/VOD in human patients[50]. This observation is leaving open the question of whether VEGF-induced acceleration of neovascularisation, vasopermeability, and expression of coagulopathic tissue factors on circulating mononuclear cells may be relevant in SOS/VOD pathogenesis[45]. Nakamura et al. [51] hypothesised that antiangiogenic agents might be a protection against SOS/VOD and decided to utilise sorafenib to test this hypothesis. Sorafenib is a multiple receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor that is responsible for the inhibition of multiple tyrosine kinases, including the VEGF receptor-2 (VEGFR-2) and -3 (VEGFR-3). Its primary usage is found in the standard treatment for hepatocellular carcinoma

and renal cell carcinoma, but it may also have an antifibrotic effect in and the liver prevent the development of portal hypertension[52,53]. Nakamura treated rats with sorafenib before induction of SOS/VOD by monocrotaline before partial hepatectomy, and showed significant suppression of the morphological features of with significant improvement in SOS. post-hepatectomy survival[51]. While the loss of endothelial cells was not completely blocked, it did suppress the degradation of the extracellular matrix in the space of Disse and uplift of the endothelial cells. Hence, although the link to VEGF is not proven owing to the broad inhibitory action of sorafenib on tyrosine kinases, remodelling of the extracellular matrix in the space of Disse is demonstrated to be a contributing factor to the dehiscence of sinusoidal endothelial cells in the development of SOS. radiation-induced liver disease (RILD) has become the centre of attention due to recent technological advances in radiation therapy [54]. Although whole-liver irradiation has generally been restricted to 30-35 Gy in standard daily fractions of 1.8-2.0 Gy owing to the risk of lethal RILD above these levels, intensity-modulated radiation therapy, 3-dimensional conformal radiation treatment planning, and organ and tumour motion tracking enable treatment of liver cancer with fewer but larger dose fractions. This innovation is called "hypofractionated stereotactic body RT" [55]. Revisiting the original

Cynomolgus monkey model of RILD[42], Yannam et al. [54]recently conducted an escalated dose study in order to evaluate the effect of newer hypofractionated regimes on the liver. The authors demonstrated a higher tolerance for hypofractionated radiation, but that the characteristic histological lesions of SOS/VOD still developed at radiation doses above 40 Gy. However, an additional key finding was that metabolic stress on the liver, such as glucose loading or administration of total parenteral nutrition, produced substantial additional hepatic injury and generated hepatic failure. These findings suggest radiation-induced hepatocellular injury as a critical component of RIDL. Although this injury may be considered as a secondary factor to the inadequate blood supply to perivenous hepatocytes per se, a broader level of injury to the parenchyma may also be operatively generated by the upstream impairment of sinusoidal blood flow.

A separate study developed a new rodent model for oxaliplatininduced SOS/VOD has been developed [56], owing to the importance of this form of chemotherapy for advanced colorectal cancer. The model consisted of intraperitoneal administration of FOLFOX (folinic acid, 5-fluorouracil, and oxaliplatin) to C57Bl/6 mice, based on the premise that FOLFOX induces endothelial damage and leads to a prothrombotic state within the liver. This new model may allow for new experimental examination of the role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of oxaliplatin-induced SOS, and potential amelioration or prevention of SOS/VOD by prophylactic administration of antioxidants. This model may also be necessary for exploring the role of the pro-thrombotic state in SOS/VOD [57], unlike the monocrotaline rodent model of SOS, in which there is no evidence of clotting abnormalities[19].

Recent studies to establish a rodent model of SOS/VOD arising from hematopoietic stem cell transplantation also have recently been successfully met with success, using an allogeneic transplantation model involving male C57BL/6 male mice as donors and female BALB/c mice preconditioned with whole-body irradiation as recipients[58].

Clinical Pathogenesis of Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome

Experimental models of SOS/VOD in animals allowed examination of fundamental causes of sinusoidal destruction and vascular compromise. However, there is still a need to perform a clinical investigation of human patients affected by SOS, mainly because the induction pathways vary. Through the 1980s and 1990s, SOS/VOD was a complication of induction regimes for a broad set of patients undergoing allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. The fundamental premise was that, while SOS/VOD developed in the days

and weeks following the actual bone marrow transplantation, it was the marrow ablation regime before transplantation that was the actual cause of the hepatotoxicity. Accordingly, induction regimes were modified to reduce the incidence of SOS.

In the past decade, SOS/VOD has become an issue primarily with patients undergoing HSCT for widely metastatic solid tumours, or intense neoadjuvant chemotherapy for cancer metastatic to the liver. The reported degree of SOS/VOD in these two patient populations remains entirely consistent, therefore requiring a continuing investigation into pathogenesis. An example is the performance of gene expression profiling to examine potential mechanisms for oxaliplatin-induced SOS/VOD in humans (vide infra)[59].

Recently, on 98 patients undergoing preoperative chemotherapy for colorectal cancer metastatic to the liver, followed by hepatic resection[60] SOS/VOD was observed. Of these patients, 80 were treated with preoperative chemotherapy. SOS/VOD manifested in 39 of these patients (39.8%), with the development of SOS/VOD in patients receiving oxaliplatin-based neoadjuvant chemotherapy significantly higher than those receiving non-oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy. Increased CD34 immunohistochemical reactivity in sinusoids was found in histological examination of resected nontumoral liver tissue, the intensity of which correlated both with

preoperative functional studies of indocyanine green retention, and severity of histological SOS. These studies conclude that sinusoidal capillarization, as evidenced by CD34 expression, should be a component of the hepatic functional deterioration in the setting of SOS.

Histopathological features

SOS/VOD may exhibit acute, subacute, and chronic features, depending on the time of collection of liver material. Unfortunately, as this disease is focal in nature, diagnostic features may not be evident on liver biopsy. During the acute phase of the disease, striking centrilobular congestion is observed, with centrilobular hepatocellular necrosis and accumulation of hemosiderin-laden macrophages (Figure 01).



Figure 01 Early histology changes of sinusoidal obstruction syndrome. (A) Post-mortem liver: low power image showing massive pericentral conges- tion and hemorrhagic necrosis; (B) Liver biopsy: high power image of pericentral region, showing subtotal occlusion of terminal hepatic venule, with entrapped erythrocytes; (C) Liver biopsy: high power image showing dilatation of sinusoids and necrosis of hepatocytes. Terminal hepatic vein is occluded, but collagen deposition has not yet occurred. (From Fan, c. Q., & Crawford, J. M. (2014). Sinusoidal obstruction syndrome (hepatic veno-occlusive disease). Journal of Clinical and Experimental Hepatology, 4(4), 322–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jech.2014.100.002)

The terminal hepatic venules exhibit intimal oedema, without visible fibrin deposition or thrombosis. As per previous discussions, SOS/VOD originates from toxic injury to the sinusoidal endothelium [61]. The cells round up and slough off the sinusoidal wall, embolizing downstream and obstructing sinusoidal blood flow.



Figure 02 Sinusoidal obstruction syndrome of longer duration, post-mortem livers. (A) Medium power image showing deposition of loose fibrous tissue in the pericentral region, with early formation of fibrous bridges to adjacent centrilobular areas; (B) Medium power image of the terminal hepatic vein, showing complete loss of pericentral hepatocytes with sharp demarcation zone from viable hepatocytes in the middle of the lobule. The lumen of the terminal hepatic vein is completely occluded, and there is extravasation of erythrocytes in the pericentral space; (C) Higher power image of terminal hepatic vein, showing intraluminal deposition of extracellular matrix, with residual lumen; (D) Low power image of post-mortem liver with SOS/VOD of longer duration, with extensive destruction of the parenchyma and central-to-central fibrous bridging. (From Fan, C. Q., & Crauford, J. M. (2014). Sinusoidal obstruction syndrome (hepatic veno-occlusive disease). Journal of Clinical and Experimental Hepatology, d() 202-246 bits: (Hig in a construction of the parenchyma and central-to-central fibrous bridging.

This obstruction is accompanied by dissection of erythrocytes into the space of Disse and downstream accumulation of cellular debris in the terminal hepatic vein. The proliferation of perisinusoidal stellate cells and subendothelial fibroblasts in the terminal hepatic vein follows, with deposition of the extracellular matrix. However, liver biopsies are rarely obtained during the acute stage.

Over days to weeks (subacute), collagen deposition occurs in and around the affected terminal hepatic venule (Figure 02). This leads to progressive obliteration of the venules, which is easily identified with special stains for either collagen or reticulin[62]. Apparent centrilobular congestion without readily identifiable terminal hepatic veins on haematoxylin and eosin stain should prompt performance of connective tissue stains to exclude SOS. With the persistence of the SOS/VOD lesion into weeks to months (chronic), dense perivenular fibrosis radiating out into the parenchyma develops. The scar tissue contains hemosiderin-laden macrophages, and terminal hepatic vein luminal cannot be identified. Notably, congestion is found in minimal evidence at this stage. There is a possibility of severe destruction of lobular parenchyma, and rarely evolution to cirrhosis.



Figure 03 Liver biopsies. (A) Biopsy from patient with acute SOS, demonstrating extensive dilatation and congestion of sinusoids, and lack of evident terminal hepatic veins; (B) Same liver biopsy, showing terminal hepatic vein with narrowed lumen, intraluminal deposition of extracellular matrix with entrapped erythrocytes; (C) Biopsy from patient with chronic consumption of herbal teas, showing extensive destruction of pericentral parenchyma with deposition of fibrous tissue, inflammation, and partial obliteration of the terminal hepatic vein lumen; (D) Liver biopsy from a different patient, also consuming herbal teas, showing inapparent terminal hepatic vein, extensive extravasation of erythrocytes into pericentral parenchyma, and diffuse pericentral fibrosis. (Prom Fan, C, Q, & Crauford, J. M. (2014). Sinusoidal obstruction syndrome (hepatic veno-occlusive disease). Journal of Clinical and Experimental Hepatology, 4(4), 332–346. https://doi.org/10.016/j.jebn.2014.0.002)

When the liver biopsy is performed, either in the acute stage or during a more chronic stage, the histologic findings of SOS/VOD may be strikingly evident (Figure 03). However, the pathologist must be alert to SOS/VOD being the cause of these findings, since histologic findings may be misinterpreted if the centrilobular venopathy is not recognised.

<u>Clinical diagnosis by aetiology</u>

Toxic liver injury related to conditioning for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation

SOS/VOD was first and simultaneously reported by several groups in 1979–1980 as a fatal complication of hematopoietic stem cell SOS/VOD developing transplantation[26]. after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) typically occurs within the first month after HSCT, although later onset has been described [63]. Conditioning regimens associated with the onset of SOS/VOD typically consist of cyclophosphamide combined either with total body irradiation or Busulfan[64]. Liver disease occurs in up to 80% of patients following hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) for malignancies, ranging from a mild and reversible elevation of serum transaminases to fatal hepatic failure[62]. The prevalence of SOS/VOD is much lower following HSCT for idiopathic aplastic anaemia, reported as 7%, but still carries a high fatality rate (21%) if it occurs[65].

SOS/VOD is part of a broader pattern of toxic liver damage occurring following HSCT[66], in which generalised impairment of liver function in the immediate post-transplantation period, may be further complicated by SOS/VOD in the weeks following

transplantation, or nodular regenerative hyperplasia months later[32]. As a result, the histopathological definition has mostly included the late finding of fibrous obliteration of the central veins, rather than the earlier lesions of central haemorrhagic necrosis, or sinusoidal changes. Still, clinical criteria for diagnosis were identified based on these autopsy data[67].

Despite initial reports of SOS/VOD incidence were in the 60% range[26]; more recently a meta-analysis of 135 studies carried out between 1979 and 2007 set the overall mean incidence of SOS/VOD following HSCT at 13.7% (95% confidence interval = 13.3%–14.1%) [68]. In one study, the cumulative incidence was significantly higher 20 years ago (1985–1996) than in more recent years (1997–2008), attributed to reduced-intensity conditioning regimes for HSCT, and the reduction in the use of unrelated donors for HSCT [38]. Depending on clinical diagnostic criteria and risk factors, the incidence of SOS/VOD has ranged between 0 and 50% among transplantation units, and the fatality rate between 3 and 45%[67]. In an extensive multicentric prospective survey, the incidence was 5.3% [69].

The onset of SOS/VOD after HSCT is characterised by painful hepatomegaly, jaundice, weight gain, and ascites. Severe SOS/VOD is typically associated with multiorgan failure (MOF) and high mortality

rates (>80%)[38,68,70]. The sudden weight gain and the development of hepatomegaly and tenderness are usually observed on day 0 or 1 following HSCT, or 8-10 days after the start of cytoreductive therapy. From the standpoint of clinical parameters, when serum bilirubin values exceed 15 mg/dl and weight gains approach 10–15 kg, mortality exceeds 90% [71]. Despite persistent severe liver dysfunction being a signal of a fatal outcome, liver disease per se is not usually the direct cause of death; most patients die because of to septicaemia, pneumonia, and bleeding and multiorgan failure[68]. Pretransplant hepatitis (elevation of serum transaminases) is a risk factor for liver toxicity after transplantation. Clinical diagnosis of SOS/VOD is based on the occurrence of at least two of the three following symptoms during the first month after bone transplantation: jaundice, development of tender marrow hepatomegaly and right upper quadrant pain, ascites, and unexplained weight gain[72,73]. Serum transaminase levels may also rise substantially, but do not differentiate between potential causes of liver injury.

MODIFIED SEATTLE CRITERIA [14] Presentation before day 20 post HSCT of at least 2 of the following: • Bilirubin >2 mg/dL • Hepatomegaly or right upper quadrant pain • Weight gain (>2%)		BALTIMORE CRITERIA [15] Presentation of bilirubin >2 mg/dL before day 21 post HSCT and at least 2 of the following: • Painful hepatomegaly • Ascites • Weight gain (>5%)	
ADULT POPULATION [9]		PEDIATRIC POPULATION [16]	
Classical SOS/VOD (In the first 21 days after HSCT)	Late onset SOS/VOD (>21 Days after HSCT)	No limitation for time of onset of SOS/VOD	
 Bilirubin ≥ 2 mg/dL and two of the following criteria must be present: Painful hepatomegaly Weight gain ≥ 5% Ascites 	 (1) Classical VOD/SOS beyond day 21 OR (2) Histologically proven SOS/VOD OR (3) Two or more of the following criteria must be present: Bilirubin ≥ 2 mg/dL Painful hepatomegaly Weight gain ≥ 5% Ascites AND Hemodynamical or/and ultrasound evidence of SOS/VOD 	The presence of two or more of the following ^a : • Unexplained consumptive and transfusion-refractory thrombocytopenia ^b • Otherwise unexplained weight gain on three consecutive days despite the use of diuretics or a weight gain 45% above baseline value • ^c Hepatomegaly (best if confirmed by imaging) above baseline value • ^c Ascites (best if confirmed by imaging) above baseline value • ^c Ascites (best if confirmed by imaging) above baseline value • ^c Ascites (best if confirmed by imaging) above baseline value • ^c Ascites (best if confirmed by imaging) above baseline value • ^c Ascites (best if confirmed by imaging) above baseline value • ^c Ascites (best if confirmed by imaging) above baseline value • ^c Ascites (best if confirmed by imaging) above baseline value • ^a with the exclusion of other potential differential diagnoses. • ^b ≥1 weight-adjusted platelet substitution/day to maintain institutional transfusion guidelines. ^c suggested: imaging (US, CT or MRI) immediately before HSCT to determine baseline value for both hepatomegaly and ascites.	

These symptoms/signs should not be attributable to other causes.

Abbreviations: Computed tomography, CT; European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation, EBMT; Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, HSCT; Magnetic Resonance imaging, MRI; Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome/Veno-Occlusive Disease, SOS/VOD; Ultrasonography, US.

Table 02: Clinical diagnostical criteria for SOS/VOD (from Ravaioli et al. (2019)Expert Review of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 13:5, 463-484)

To date, SOS/VOD diagnosis has been mainly based on clinical and biochemical parameters, which are part of the widely used modified Seattle Criteria or Baltimore Criteria. New clinical criteria have also been proposed by the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT), both for paediatric and adult patients[40,74]In addition to the "classical onset" (which usually appears within 21 days after HSCT), EBMT criteria for the first time have proposed the SOS/VOD form, which is a less common "lateonset" (>21 days after HSCT) form [40].

Thy widely used clinical criteria are presented in Table 02. Recommended clinical indices for assessing the severity of SOS/VOD are given in Table 03 [75].

	Mild ^a	Moderate ^a	Severe	Very severe - MOD/MOF ^b
Time since first clinical symptoms of SOS/VOD ^c	>7 Days	5–7 Days	≤4 Days	Any time
Bilirubin (mg/dL) Bilirubin (μmol/L)	\geq 2 and $<$ 3 \geq 34 and $<$ 51	\geq 3 and $<$ 5 \geq 51 and $<$ 85	\geq 5 and $<$ 8 \geq 85 and $<$ 136	≥8 ≥136
Bilirubin kinetics			Doubling within 48 h	
Transaminases	$\leq 2 \times normal$	$>$ 2 and \leqslant 5 \times normal	>5 and $\leqslant 8 \times$ normal	>8×Normal
Weight increase	< 5%	\geqslant 5% and $<$ 10%	\geqslant 5% and $<$ 10%	≥ 10%
Renal function	$<$ 1.2 \times baseline at transplant	\geqslant 1.2 and < 1.5 \times baseline at transplant	\geqslant 1.5 and $<$ 2 \times baseline at transplant	≥2 × baseline at transplant or others signs of MOD/MO

Abbreviations: EBMT = European society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation; MOD = multi-organ dysfunction; MOF = multi-organ failure; SOS = sinusoidal obstruction syndrome; VOD = veno-occlusive disease. Patients belong to the category that fulfills two or more criteria. If patients fulfill two or more criteria in two different categories, they must be classified in the most severe category. Patients weight increase \geq 5% and < 10% is considered by default as a criterion for severe SOS/VOD; however, if patients do not fulfill other criteria for severe SOS/VOD, weight increase \geq 5% and < 10% is therefore considered as a criterion for moderate SOS/VOD; however, if patients do not fulfill other criteria for severe SOS/VOD, weight increase \geq 5% and < 10% is therefore considered as a criterion for moderate SOS/VOD. ^aIn the case of presence of two or more risk factors for SOS/VOD, patients should be in the upper grade. ^bPatients with multi-organ dysfunction must be classified as very severe. ^cTime from the date when the first signs/symptoms of SOS/VOD began to appear (retrospectively determined) and the date when the symptoms fulfilled SOS/VOD diagnostic criteria.

Table 03: EBMT criteria for severity grading of a suspected SOS/VOD (fromMothy et al. (2015)

Seattle and Baltimore's criteria yield differing estimates for the incidence of SOS/VOD [76,77]. These data suggest that the widely used clinical criteria for SOS/VOD point to a syndrome of liver dysfunction where SOS/VOD is relevant together with many other factors, rather than to a discrete clinic-pathological entity. The accuracy of these criteria is limited by the need for a careful exclusion of alternative diagnoses, particularly viral hepatitis, bacterial infections, graft versus host disease, and other drug reactions, all of which are common and frequently combined in the setting of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Given the risks of complications, liver biopsy is usually performed in patients in whom the diagnosis of SOS/VOD is unclear, therefore requiring to exclude other diagnoses[72,73]. Due to the potentially dangerous conditions of patients requiring a liver biopsy, the transjugular approach was

recommended to reduce the risks associated with the procedure. Overtime after transplantation, a liver biopsy may become increasingly necessary in order to rule out the diagnostic possibilities in these patients. In these later time frames, coagulation status may be more intact, permitting a percutaneous approach. When the clinical diagnosis was compared to that reached through transjugular liver biopsy, a high rate of a false definite diagnosis of SOS/VOD was found, as well as an underestimation of associated conditions [78,79]. Furthermore, when pre-transplantation and post-transplantation liver biopsy could be compared in the same patient, many features of VOD found after transplantation were already present before, reflecting the importance of taking into account pre-transplant condition and management[80]. A hepatic venous pressure gradient above 9 or 10 mmHg appears to be 85–90% specific for finding SOS/VOD lesions at liver biopsy [64,65].

Major risk factors for the occurrence of this clinical SOS/VOD include[40]:

- the intensity of the conditioning regimen;
- the autologous or allogeneic type of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation;
- exposure to oestroprogestative in women;
- second myeloablative HSCT;

• pre-existent liver disease (as indicated by raised serum transaminase activity).

include High-intensity regimens those using cyclophosphamide both busulfan and cyclophosphamide, or irradiation > 12 Gry., with total body cyclophosphamide or and BCNU and etoposide; or those with an equivalent intensity. vivo studies, cyclophosphamide toxicity Based on ex to

sinusoidal endothelial cells appears to be mediated by metabolism to toxic intermediates in hepatocytes and depletion in glutathione in sinusoidal endothelial cells [81].

In the multicentric European survey mentioned above, SOS/VOD was classified as mild (i.e. self-limited) in 8%; moderate (i.e. with complete resolution but necessitating therapy) in 64%; and severe (i.e. leading to death or not resolving by day 100) in 28% of cases. SOS/VOD related mortality was 1% of the whole series, 18% of SOS/VOD patients, and 67% of severe SOS/VOD [69]. In patients developing SOS/VOD, features of more severe liver disease (increased serum bilirubin or transaminase levels, increased hepatic venous pressure gradient) are associated with a more unfortunate outcome [67].

Prophylaxis with defibrotide has been recommended in children at high risk of SOS/VOD. Its use has also been suggested in such

adults [72,82]. The recommendation is based on a positive randomised controlled trial in 356 children [25]. Twenty-two (12%) patients receiving defibrotide developed clinically defined SOS/VOD by day 30, versus 35 (20%) in the control group (P = 0.05). The design was that of an open-label trial. Non-relapse mortality was 9% in both groups. Therefore, the clinical impact of prophylactic defibrotide administration appears to be limited. The drug, however, appears to be well tolerated [26]. Other agents proposed for prophylaxis have included prostaglandin E1, pentoxifylline, heparin and antithrombin, but of these is recommended none or suggested [72]. Ursodeoxycholic acid has been suggested based on randomised trials showing both decreased and unchanged incidence of SOS/VOD but without any impact on mortality [73].

Data on treatment for established SOS/VOD from randomised controlled trials are lacking. Most studies had a retrospective design or, when prospective, used historical controls. Most studies reported apparently improved outcomes. Tolerance appears to be good. As a result, defibrotide has been recommended for treatment of SOS/VOD despite the poor methodological quality of the trials. Tissue plasminogen activator is not recommended as several fatalities related to the use of this agent have been reported. The use of N-
acetyl cysteine proved inefficient in a randomised controlled trial [72,73].

Therefore, the most effective means to control SOS/VOD associated to hematopoietic stem cell transplantation has been to reduce the exposure to chemotherapy and radiotherapy, including conditioning for transplantation and prior therapies for underlying blood disease. Attempts at adjusting the dose of myeloablative agents to individual polymorphism in drug metabolism have thus far not been associated with a decreased incidence of SOS/VOD [83].

Other liver-related diagnoses to be excluded after HSCT include graftversus-host disease (GVHD); other causes of venous outflow obstruction such as Budd-Chiari syndrome and congestive heart failure; drug reactions, including the toxic effects of hyperalimentation; and infections such as viral hepatitis, fungi, and sepsis.

The pathology of Budd-Chiari syndrome is characterised by centrilobular congestion and potentially parenchymal destruction, but it does not present the occlusion of terminal hepatic veins seen in SOS. Drug reactions show parenchymal damage with hepatocellular apoptosis, cholestasis, and parenchymal inflammation. While severe SOS/VOD may cause similar histology in its more severe stages, identification of the terminal hepatic vein lesions is readily made in

such cases. Importantly, the clinical features of post-transplantation "drug toxicity" and the specific condition of SOS/VOD are similar, and there is no specific management of either condition except supportive. Hence, there is less need to make a specific diagnosis of SOS/VOD by liver biopsy in these unstable patients, as there is a need to exclude other potential causes of hepatic dysfunction. Lastly, patients who undergo stem cell transplantation for non-malignant conditions are less likely to develop liver toxicity, as the doses of cytoreductive therapy are generally lower than those given for malignancy [73].

Due to the concomitant risk of post-transplant GVHD, sirolimus has been used to reduce that risk. However, there is evidence of an increased risk of SOS/VOD after sirolimus-based GVHD prophylaxis[84]. Sirolimus may act as an endothelial toxin and has been associated with another endothelial injury syndrome, thrombotic microangiopathy after transplantation[85]. Cutler et al. have suggested using the biomarkers of endothelial injury (circulating von Willebrand Factor (vWF), thrombomodulin, E-selectin, and soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (sICAM-1)) to predict the development of SOS/VOD following HSCT [86]. Increased serum vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) after HSCT also has been correlated with the development of SOS[50].

In summary, SOS/VOD related to hematopoietic stem cell transplantation is a condition decreasing in incidence and severity due to increased attention to reduced exposure to toxic chemotherapeutic agents. Unmet needs consist of accurate biomarkers for early diagnosis and evaluation of patients at risk and well-designed therapeutic trials for the prevention and management of the disease.

Sinusoidal changes after chemotherapy for liver metastasis

The liver is the most common site of metastatic tumour spread, and SOS/VOD may occur in patients with stable metastatic tumours to the liver who are given alkylating agents such as oxaliplatin before surgical resection of the metastatic tumours [87]. In particular, nearly half of patients with colorectal cancer develop liver metastases during their disease[88]. For patients with limited metastatic burden of colorectal cancer in the liver, surgical resection of the hepatic tumour deposits without chemo-inductive therapy offers the best opportunity for cure[89], with five-year survival of a rate 40%-58%[90,91]. However, 60%-70% of patients undergoing initial curative resection suffer recurrent disease, of whom 10%–15% may be considered eligible for repeated resections[92]. The remainder is relegated to chemotherapy. For patients with initially unresectable colorectal metastatic disease, chemotherapeutic regimes can rescue a

reported 12.5% by promoting tumour down-sizing and enabling successful surgical resection of residual disease[93]. Widely utilised regimens for this latter purpose are characterised by a thymidylate synthase inhibitor such as 5-fluorouracil, folinic acid, or capecitabine, combined with either oxaliplatin or irinotecan. More recently, antibody therapy in the form of bevacizumab or cetuximab has been included in these regimes[94]. Thus, there is a potentially large population of patients with advanced colorectal carcinoma who will be subjected to either adjuvant or neoadjuvant chemotherapy. In the paediatric population, chemotherapy accompanying hepatectomy for solid metastatic cancer such as Wilms tumour may also cause hepatic SOS[95,96].

As a consequence of these treatments, an abundance of liver resections specimens has become available for a comprehensive evaluation of the changes in non-tumorous areas. Indeed, specific sinusoidal changes resembling those of SOS/VOD have been described of such patients. Grossly, diffuse liver congestion has a typical nutmeg aspect corresponding on histology to extensive venovenous dilatation and congestion around small hepatic veins; centrilobular hepatocytes plates are atrophic or disrupted, and a sinusoidal fibrosis is frequently observed without venous obliteration. They consist of congestive sinusoidal dilatation predominating in the

centrilobular area in 30-65% of patients, perisinusoidal fibrosis in 35-40%, centrilobular fibrosis in 30%, atrophy of liver cell plate but few necrotic cells bordering dilated areas, and low-grade nodular regenerative changes in 12–20% [97,98]. According to a widely used classification, the sinusoidal lesions are mild (less than 1/3 of the lobule), moderate (1/3 to 2/3 of the lobule), and severe (extending in the whole lobule) in about 30% of patients each. Only in occasional patients with severe lesions was extravasation of erythrocytes in the space of Disse described [99,100]. Similar lesions were not found in control patients receiving resection without preoperative chemotherapy [90].

Oxaliplatin is a critical agent in such regimes and may cause sinusoidal injury, the onset of SOS, and increased morbidity before or hepatectomy[99,101,102]. after 59% of patients receiving preoperative oxaliplatin treatment before hepatectomy showed histologic evidence of high-grade lesions of SOS/VOD, based on examination of the surrounding resected liver[103]. The presence of such sinusoidal injury had a negative effect both on the intra- and postoperative course of patients undergoing major liver resection. In the first instance, both intraoperative bleeding and transfusion rate were increased in patients with high-grade SOS/VOD lesions, when compared to those with low-grade SOS/VOD lesions. In the second

case, there were more frequent and severe postoperative complications, including the development of a large number of postoperative ascites and liver insufficiency. Ironically, oxaliplatin has also been demonstrated to induce focal hepatic SOS/VOD that can mimic metastatic liver disease.

There is a clear association with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy, where the incidence of such sinusoidal changes is up to 75%. Still, irinotecan-based chemotherapy is also associated with a 25-40% incidence of similar sinusoidal changes [97,98]. 5- fluorouracile is also was found to be independently associated with the development of sinusoidal changes [104]. Co-administration of bevacizumab has been shown to reduce the incidence and severity of sinusoidal changes [100,104-106]. A murine model of FOLFOX-associated sinusoidal alterations has been established [56]. In this model, however, sinusoidal dilatation and hepatocyte atrophy are marked, endothelial destruction and hepatocyte necrosis are but inconspicuous. There is evidence for activation of VEGF and IL6 pathway mediators both on patients, and in experimental models[56,59,107] There is also evidence that changes induced in the tumour itself by chemotherapeutic agents participate in inducing through activation of pro-inflammatory sinusoidal changes pathways [57]. Therefore, it is still unclear whether the sinusoidal

changes observed in oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy are identical to SOS/VOD observed after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation or pyrrolizidine alkaloid exposure, or are mostly related to pro-inflammatory mechanisms [108].

Clinical manifestations associated with sinusoidal changes in patients with liver metastasis from colorectal carcinoma appear to be mild or absent. However, patients with clinically conspicuous toxicity from chemotherapy could have been denied resection and thus could have been excluded from analyses due to lack of histological data. Reports of clinically significant liver injury in unoperated or operated patients are scarce. They were exclusively observed in patients receiving intrahepatic arterial administration of high doses of oxaliplatin combined with the systemic or hepatic arterial infusion of other agents [109,110]. Therefore, the frequency of pathological findings contrasts with the rarity of the clinical manifestations.

The occurrence of post-hepatectomy SOS/VOD is also linked with early tumour recurrence and decreased long-term survival[111]. The conditioning chemioadiuvants regimens for metastatic colorectal carcinoma (mainly based on. Irinotecan) are not complicated with SOS but by a risk of chemotherapy-associated steatohepatitis[112]. The impact of sinusoidal changes associated with chemotherapy on the outcome of patients has been unclear. Increased postoperative

morbidity after major resection has been reported by some [103,113] but not all [98] investigators. Interestingly, the occurrence of sinusoidal changes has been associated with a decreased tumour response [114,115]. However, there is currently no evidence for increased mortality in patients with sinusoidal changes [114].

Determinants for the development of sinusoidal changes after chemotherapy for colorectal cancer have not been identified yet. Genetic polymorphism in drug metabolising enzymes, such as glutathione S-transferase, has been incriminated [47]. Preoperative laboratory indices designed to predict liver fibrosis in patients with hepatitis C virus-related liver disease involves such calculations as aspartate aminotransferase (AST) to platelet ratio index (APRI) and fibrosis scoring systems[116,117]. Recently, these clinical parameters have been applied to patients undergoing oxiplatin-based induction chemotherapy for metastatic colorectal carcinoma; the evidence suggests that the APRI score, along with a low preoperative platelet count, may be reliable predictors of SOS/VOD severity following hepatectomy [103]. In the posthepatectomy time-frame, a clinical marker of risk for SOS/VOD has been found in the measurement of circulating Hyaluronic Acid as a measure of endothelial function [117]. More recently, monitoring of post-hepatectomy splenic volume by imaging methods has been found to be a useful predictor of risk for the development of SOS[90]. Moreover, polymorphisms in a transmembrane drug transporter gene (ATP7B), have been identified for increasing the susceptibility to SOS/VOD after oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy[57]

Of note, particular focal lesions simulating metastasis can be attributed to sinusoidal changes. A distinctive feature of such focal lesions is their ill-defined margin on hepatobiliary phase of gadoxetic acid-enhanced and diffusion weighed MR imaging [118].

In summary, oxaliplatin-associated sinusoidal lesions is a pathological entity with minimal clinical expression, which is not entirely specific for oxaliplatin in the context of chemotherapy for liver metastasis of colorectal cancer. The impact on patients' outcome is uncertain or minimal. Similarity with pyrrolizidine alkaloid or hematopoietic stem cell transplantation is only partial, probably related to the use of clinically fewer toxic doses in most protocols than those used for preparation to hematopoietic stem cell transplantation.

Radiation-Induced Liver Disease

Radiation therapy (RT) without chemotherapy or hepatectomy still constitutes a central approach for the treatment of cancer metastatic to the liver and host conditioning for bone marrow transplantation.

Patients with RILD typically present with fatigue, weight gain, hepatomegaly, ascites, and an isolated elevation in alkaline phosphatase in months following hepatic RT[8]. Liver biopsy reveals the characteristic features of SOS/VOD affecting terminal and sub lobular hepatic veins[80].

RILD is a severe complication of RT. In patients who do not die of this condition, liver healing happens over several months as the vascular congestion resolves.

Sinusoidal changes related to other drugs or conditions

Table 04 presents the agents, which have been reported to be associated with SOS/VOD. All of these agents share, causing bone marrow suppression in addition to SOS/VOD.

6-mercaptopurine
6-thioguanine
Actinomycin D
Azathioprine
Busulfan
Cytosine arabinoside
Cyclophosphamide
Dacarbazine
Gemtuzumab-ozogamicin
Inotuzumab-ozogamicin
Melphalan
Oxaliplatin
Urethane

Table 04 Drugs reported being associated with SOS/VOD.

The relationship of azathioprine to SOS/VOD is particularly unclear for several reasons: i) there is no animal model; ii) dose relationship is not apparent; iii) similar to oxaliplatin, lesions have been described under various denomination including SOS/VOD but also peliosis, sinusoidal dilatation and nodular regenerative hyperplasia; iv) conditions for which azathioprine was administered have been reported to be associated with sinusoidal changes including Crohn's disease [108], renal transplantation and liver transplantation [119,120].

A singular example of SOS/VOD occurring in the setting of intensive cytotoxic chemotherapy is the use of Mylotarg[®] (gemtuzumab ozogamicin, GO) and Besponsa® (inotuzumab ozogamicin, INO) for acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) and acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL), respectively [121,122]. GO is composed of a humanised conjugated antibody carrier linked to a potent antitumor antibiotic (calicheamicin). It targets the CD33 antigen expressed on the surface of AML cells, which is relatively absent from non-hematopoietic tissues (also present on sinusoidal endothelial cells) and primitive hematopoietic stem cells. This population of GO-treated patients show a prevalence of SOS/VOD at as 9.1%[123]. Despite the 6-month mortality rate in this population of SOS-affected patients is high (68%), three-quarters of the deaths were due to progression of the AML. The overall risk of death from SOS/VOD and multiorgan failure was 2.7%. Briefly, the histopathological findings in such patients are characterised by dilatation and congestion of sinusoids limited to centrilobular zones around the terminal hepatic vein; endothelial cells of veins and sinusoids are damaged, leading to a substantial hematic deposition in Disse space and hepatocyte necrosis around the central veins.

INO is a humanised monoclonal antibody to the human CD24 cell surface marker which is highly expressed on malignant lymphoblastic leukaemia cells[122]. INO is conjugated to a cytotoxic agent called ozogamicin. When inotuzumab binds to CD24, it is internalised, and the ozogamicin is released by the action of lysosomal enzymes on the linker molecule that joins it to the monoclonal antibody. The released intracellular ozogamicin causes a break in double-stranded DNA that leads to apoptotic cell death. This monoclonal antibody conjugate is effective in inducing remissions in refractory acute lymphoblastic leukaemia and was given accelerated approval for this indication in the United States in 2017. Inotuzumab ozogamicin is available as 0.9 mg of lyophilised powder in single-dose vials under the brand name Besponsa[122]. The recommended dose regimen depends on the following factors: body weight, day of therapy, and whether treating refractory vs relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Common side effects include bone marrow suppression, infections, fatigue, fever, nausea, headache, abdominal pain and haemorrhage. Less common but potentially severe side effects include severe myelosuppression, severe infections, clinically significant bleeding and haemorrhage, related infusion reactions, QTc interval prolongation and embryofetal toxicity[122].

In prelicensure clinical trials of INO, up to half of the patients had serum ALT or AST elevations during therapy which were above five times limit of normal (ULN) in 2% the upper to 5%. Hyperbilirubinemia is also common during inotuzumab therapy, generally occurring without carrying ALT or AST elevations. More importantly, a variable proportion of patients (ranging from 2% to 35%) showed clinically apparent sinusoidal obstruction syndrome (SOS) after inotuzumab ozogamicin therapy. The incidence was even higher (15% to 25%) in patients who receive inotuzumab and subsequently underwent hematopoietic cell transplantation (HCT). Symptoms of nausea, right upper quadrant pain, weight gain and abdominal distension (from ascites) arose within 5 to 20 days of the infusion and were followed in some patients by progressive rises in bilirubin, serum aminotransferase and alkaline phosphatase levels. Clinically apparent SOS/VOD has a poor prognosis, and the mortality rate is as high as 70%, most patients dying of multiorgan failure. Allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation, use of other antineoplastic agents and the presence of preexisting liver disease are recognised as the main risk factors for developing SOS/VOD after inotuzumab therapy [122].

The cause of the serum enzyme elevations during inotuzumab ozogamicin therapy is not known, but they are likely due to direct toxicity of the conjugate. The propensity of inotuzumab ozogamicin to cause sinusoidal obstruction syndrome may be explained by the fact that hepatic sinusoidal endothelial cells express low levels of CD24 on the cell surface and the antibody conjugate may be taken up by these cells resulting in their damage and release of apoptotic fragments into sinusoids causing obstruction[122].

The mild-to-moderate serum aminotransferase elevations that occur during inotuzumab ozogamicin therapy are generally transient and asymptomatic and do not require dose modification or delay in therapy. More careful monitoring and suspension of further infusions should be carried out when there is evidence of elevations above five times the upper limit of normal, at least until levels return to normal or near-normal levels. Management of SOS/VOD generally relies on careful attention fluid balance and to treatment of complications. There are no proven means of prevention or treatment of SOS/VOD due to inotuzumab ozogamicin, although pretreatment with ursodiol and acute management with defibrotide are often utilised. The adverse events profile and hepatotoxicity of inotuzumab ozogamicin are similar to those caused by gemtuzumab ozogamicin, a similar monoclonal antibody-conjugated directed to CD33 that is used to treat refractory or relapsed acute myeloid leukaemia [122].

In summary, drugs which are simultaneously toxic for hepatic endothelial and hematopoietic cells appear to be at risk of inducing SOS/VOD. However, conditions characterised by a dysregulated and therefore indications for immunosuppressive immunity, agents including azathioprine also appear to be risk factors for sinusoidal changes, which makes the relationship with immunosuppressive agents challenging to establish. It can be suggested that the combination of several factors is relevant to the pathogenesis of these uncommon lesions: an immune-related injury and a drug-induced injury.

Liver Transplantation

SOS/VOD as a cause of liver graft dysfunction after liver transplantation is rare but has a poor prognosis[124]. This needs to distinguish from post-transplant perivenulitis, as part of graft rejection[125]. If present, SOS/VOD is more likely to occur in livingrelated transplant grafts[126] or patients were receiving azathioprine as part of their immunosuppressive regime[119]. Better optimisation of immunosuppression is suggested as an approach to reduce the incidence of this rare event[119].

Herbal Toxins

Recent studies have focused on the use of hepatotoxic herbal remedies by humans [127]. An estimated 500 herbal products are

4ð

distributed worldwide and are represented as harmless healthy products without side effects[127,128]. Over 60% of patients in the U.S. is seen by a physician report use of herbal remedies[129]. It has been estimated that more than 6000 plant species contain pyrrolizidine alkaloids with different chemical structures[130].

Symphytum officinale, commonly known as comfrey, is one of the most famous herbs containing pyrrolizidine alkaloids [131]. This herb has been used as an external remedy for bone fractures, joint inflammation, and wound healing, and internally for gastroduodenal ulcers and gastritis[132]. The comfrey-induced injury involves fibrous obliteration and destruction of hepatic veins, leading to cirrhosis[133,134]. However hepatotoxicity (including SOS), acute or chronic hepatitis, cholestasis, hepatic necrosis or fibrosis, cirrhosis, and outright liver failure, can occur with a much broader array of herbal products[135], depending on what plant components have been used, storage conditions for the plant products, mislabeling or misidentification of the plant, and outright contaminations[18,136]. Even Echinacea, despite being widely considered as being completely free of toxicities, is known to contain pyrrolizidine alkaloids and may induce hepatotoxicity[137].

Clinical presentation of hepatotoxicity arising in the setting of herbal product use is non-specific, involving fatigue, loss of appetite, and

potentially jaundice. Hepatomegaly, ascites, and hyperbilirubinemia may be evident. Liver enzymes may be elevated in either hepatitis, cholestatic or combined pattern. Similar to the onset of SOS/VOD in the post HSCT setting, there are no symptoms or laboratory findings that specifically implicate SOS.

The presence of this form of liver injury requires a liver biopsy and attentiveness to this possibility in examining the biopsy tissue. More severe chronic exposure to the hepatotoxins in comfrey can manifest clinically in hepatomegaly and ascites, with SOS/VOD again confirmed by liver biopsy[138,139], even in the very young child given comfrey tea[140]. The presence of perivenular necrosis, endophlebitis and fibrotic alterations of the terminal and sub-lobular hepatic veins are consistent with SOS[141]. However, histological examination of liver tissue may be difficult to perform owing to ascites and coagulopathy. In such cases, diagnosis of SOS/VOD may have to rely on clinical features and a retrospective history of drug or herb exposure. Recently, a useful supplement to conventional diagnostic methods is found in the development of an ultra-performance liquid (UPLC-MS) chromatography-mass spectrometry assay for identification of pyrrole-protein adducts in peripheral blood [142]. With either mild or moderate cases of SOS, removal of the offending agent may offer good prospects for clinical recovery. In the most

severe cases of herbal toxin-induced SOS/VOD in adults, hepatic failure may ensue. Notably, a fatal case of SOS/VOD has been discovered in the preterm infant born of a mother consuming herbal teas[134].

Because botanicals are self-prescribed, self-administered, and widely difficult to control difficult available. they are and to document[119]. Generally, mixed formulations are conventional. The point should be made that severe hepatotoxicity, including SOS, may be quite rare, given the extensive use of herbal products and the infrequency relative of clinical severe presentations[141]. Nevertheless, healthcare providers are recommended to obtain accurate information about their patients' use of herbal remedies and to make sure that they receive a good education about their potential hepatotoxicities.

VOD-SOS/VOD with Immunodeficiency

Mellis and Bale described in 1976, cases of infants from three families who died within seven months by the veno-occlusive disease of the liver[143]. Authors described the infants with the evidence of immune deficiency, including hypogammaglobulinemia, multiple infections (mainly, Pneumocystis jerovici, enteroviral infections, and mucocutaneous candidiasis), and lymphoid tissues devoid of germinal centres and mature plasma cells. An additional 19 cases of what is now termed autosomal recessive hepatic veno-occlusive disease with immunodeficiency syndrome (VODI) have been identified over the ensuing years. VODI is associated with an 85% mortality if unrecognised and untreated with intravenous immunoglobulin and P. jerovici prophylaxis. The lack of hepatic veno-occlusive disease in other forms of inherited immunodeficiency suggests that this is a primary feature of VODI.

et al. [144] described mutations In 2006, Roscioli in the promyelocytic leukaemia protein (PML) nuclear body protein Sp110 in six children from five families of Lebanese ethnicity, who met the clinical criteria for VODI. The immunodeficiency consisted of a combined Т and В cell immunodeficiency. The В cell immunodeficiency showed of evolving signs severe hypogammaglobulinemia, absent memory (CD19+ CD27+ IgD-) B cells and tonsillar lymph nodes and circulating CD19+ B cell numbers percentages and within the normal range. The Т cell immunodeficiency was represented by reduced numbers of memory (CD4+ CD45RO+ CD27-) T cells, and low or reduced intracellular T cell cytokine expression after antigen stimulation. SP110 is an immunoregulatory gene expressed in T and B lymphocytes within lymph nodes, spleen and liver. The affected infants in four of the

families homozygous single-base had deletion, 642delC a (P214PfsX15) in exon 5. There were no living affected individuals in the fifth family, but the consanguineous parents and unaffected children of these families exhibited a heterozygous single-base deletion, 40delC (Q14SfsX25) in exon 2 of SP110. The central role of the SP110mutation in VODI, along with identification of novel mutations and critical clinical and immunological features, has been confirmed in an extensive additional study[145]. This and a limited number of other studies have discovered that early disease recognition and management (e.g., immunoglobulin replacement therapy and trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole prophylaxis) can improve the dismal mortality rates [146]. HSCT, when carried out before disease onset, can be curative. In one publication, the antenatal diagnosis was possible for a family with a known risk of this disease[147].

Interestingly, SP110 is a single-copy gene in humans. However, in all inbred strains of laboratory mice, it is part of a rearranged and the amplified genomic region containing approximately 60–2000 copies of Sp110 and 20 adjacent genes[148]. Therefore it has not been possible to produce a genetic knockout model of Sp110 for the study of the tissue pathobiology of this syndrome. Thus, despite the potential unique opportunity to gain insights from SP110 mutation into the immunopathogenesis of hepatic veno-occlusive disease (SOS), the evolution of the hepatic vascular lesions in VODI has not been elucidated.

Treatments and preventions

Supportive Measures

Current management of SOS/VOD is characterised mainly by supportive care, with a focus toward fluid management, adequate oxygenation and transfusional support to minimise ischemic liver injury, and avoidance of hepato/nephrotoxins[149,150]. Correctly, patients with mild SOS, as defined by clinical indicators, can be observed[73]. Patients with evidence of moderate SOS/VOD should be treated expectantly with mild diuretics. This helps mitigate against fluid overload while preserving renal blood flow and avoid prerenal azotemia and potential hepatorenal syndrome. If ascites occurs, paracentesis may be required. However, the number of ascites removed should be modest, in the range of 1 litre per day, to not harm renal blood flow[75]. Patients with severe SOS/VOD require treatment.

Defibrotide

The use of Defibrotide (DF) for the treatment of SOS/VOD is supported by a large number of clinical trials showing that DF

improves both complete response and survival. Richardson et al. [150]first reported on 19 patients with SOS/VOD and multiorgan failure who had received Defibrotide for the management of severe SOS/VOD in the United States. The efficacy of Defibrotide (DF) for the treatment showed complete resolution of SOS/VOD in 8 patients (42%), 6 of who survived for longer than 100 days with no significant bleeding observed[151]. Several trials have subsequently confirmed the efficacy of DF in this setting, including a similar European multicenter compassionate-use study, which treated 40 patients and demonstrated a 55% complete response (CR) rate, with 43% patients alive after 100 days[152]. Importantly, the US Food and Drug Administration granted access to DF in the United States by issuing an investigational new drug compassionate-use treatment protocol in December 2007. An interim analysis of 269 patients enrolled between December 2007 and March 2011 at 67 US centres revealed that 32% of patients achieved a CR at day-100 post-HSCT, with overall day-100 survival of 50% [153]. To date, DF has been used in more than 240 transplantation centres across 33 countries as a result of a sizeable compassionate-use program and the ongoing named patient programs.

Based on an overall experience in more than 1800 patients, DF continues to demonstrate remarkable safety and tolerability despite

an acutely ill patient population, with manageable toxicities and low rates of attributable haemorrhage [70]. A study from Spain consisted of a population of 845 patients, who received allogenic HSCT over 24 years. Of 845 patients, a total of 117 developed SOS[154]. Overall mortality from SOS/VOD decreased, from a reported 22% in 1997 to 14% in 2008, despite no change in clinical severity of the SOS[154]. For those patients with severe SOS/VOD and multiorgan failure, only 2 of 8 (25%) of patients receiving defibrotide died, versus 14 of 18 (78%) for those severely ill patients receiving other treatments.

Tissue-Plasminogen Activator (tPA)

Anticoagulation and thrombolytic therapies using tissueplasminogen activator (t-PA) have been used, but are reported to be associated ineffective and with significant bleeding are complications[70,155]. The use of tissue plasminogen activator with or without heparin has been evaluated in many studies and small case series. However, results have generally been disappointing; although about one-third of patients show improvement in their SOS/VOD with thrombolytic therapy, life-threatening haemorrhages are frequent, and no survival advantage is apparent[149].

For pediatric patients developing SOS/VOD after chemotherapy and hepatectomy, careful supportive measures and anti-fibrinolytic drugs

are the standard treatment. In one report, two patients with lifethreatening SOS/VOD who failed to respond to the standard therapeutic approach were successfully treated with non-activated protein C supplementation[156].

Methylprednisolone

High dose methylprednisolone has also been utilised in the treatment of SOS. Some studies reported that response was defined as a reduction in the total serum bilirubin by 50% or more within 10 d of initiation of corticosteroids. Sixty-three per cent of patients responded, and 28/48 (58%) were alive at 100 days from transplant[72]. A recent pediatric retrospective study described by Myers et al., 2013, 9 patients who received methylprednisolone[157]. Eight of these patients had multi-organ failure secondary to SOS. The response was defined as a 50% reduction in bilirubin level by ten days after the commencement of therapy. Six patients responded to treatment. Four patients also received treatment with defibrotide. Overall survival was 78%[157]., methylprednisolone may be taken into consideration for the usage in the treatment of SOS/VOD.

Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt (TIPS)

TIPS insertion has been used to decompress the portal circulation, and relieve ascites in some patients with hepatic SOS, but in some others, this procedure has been shown to worsen the process, with no signs of improvement of the outcome [158–160].

Liver Transplantation

Liver transplantation has been reported as a treatment for SOS[161– 163]. However, it should only be taken into consideration for patients with severe liver failure who are expected to have a good outcome in the absence of liver disease, and those who have undergone bone marrow transplantation for benign disease. Liver transplantation is usually contra-indicated when malignancy is present because of the high rates of recurrence.

Prevention

Holding to the adage that "an ounce of prevention is worth a pound of cure", prevention remains the primary tool in the clinician's arsenal for managing SOS/VOD in the HSCT population[75]. The first step is the identification of patients at higher risk for developing SOS, namely those with pre-existing liver injury or global systemic inflammation[164]. These include patients with pre-existing viral hepatitis, alcoholic hepatitis, or steatohepatitis, or other causes of elevated liver enzymes, massive exposure to hepatotoxic agents, a history of infection and long antibiotic exposure, or patients with a reduced diffusing capacity of the lung[75]. Risk factors arising directly from HSCT include those receiving high doses of total body irradiation (TBI), cyclophosphamide exposure and dosage, oral busulfan use, and exposure to other hepatotoxic medications[69,165– 168]. Over the last decade, there is evidence that the reported incidence of SOS/VOD following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation has diminished, with an improved outcome [38]. This has been attributed to reduced-intensity conditioning HSCT (RIC-HSCT) for patients myeloablative-HSCT from unrelated donors.

Patients identified as being at higher risk for SOS/VOD should be considered for prophylaxis. Ursodeoxycholic acid (ursodiol) beginning two weeks before transplantation is commonly used. Nevertheless, there is not enough evidence as to whether early prophylactic use of ursodeoxycholic acid (ursodiol) reduces the incidence of SOS/VOD in the HSCT population [169–173]. Institution of low-dose heparin prophylaxis is a more aggressive approach, as it requires an infusion regime, and the evidence for the efficacy of this prophylaxis also is equivocal[174–176]. Evidence shows that glutamine supplementation, use of peripheral blood progenitor cells as opposed to those derived from the bone marrow, and T-cell depletion as prophylaxis against graft-versus-host disease has reduced the prevalence of SOS[177,178]. In the pediatric population undergoing HSCT, it has been discovered that a prophylactic regime

of enoxaparin or ursodeoxycholic acid and vitamin E has proven valuable [179].

Lastly, aggressive fluid management and control of fluid balance during HSCT are essential. Although not proven to prevent SOS, successful fluid management can reduce hepatic congestion and potentially eliminate a source of the hepatic insult. Inputs, outputs, and weight are strictly recorded daily, with aggressive diuresis to maintain euvolemia.

In the population of patients with metastatic colorectal carcinoma, the addition of bevacizumab to oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy can attenuate the incidence and severity of SOS[100,180]. Bevacizumab (Bmab) is a monoclonal humanised antibody directed against VEGF, and is an approved drug for first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer, but only as part of combination chemotherapy[181]. It is reassuring that this drug may also be helpful to avoid one of the life-limiting complications of one of the companion chemotherapeutic agents, oxaliplatin.

2. Role of imaging in SOS/VOD diagnosis

Due to the suboptimal performance of clinical criteria, histological examination of liver tissue (liver biopsy) and hepatic venous pressure gradient (HVPG) measurement may be necessary in order to obtain a conclusive diagnosis[31]. However, since these techniques are invasive and carry a high risk of bleeding and infective complications, particularly in pancytopenic patients, even when the safer transjugular approach is used, they are only performed in selected cases[73].

Several radiological techniques have recently been proposed to identify SOS/VOD development, with promising results. Physicians involved in HSCT processes are required to understand the specificities and pitfalls of each method. Head-to-head consultations among transplanters, hepatologists and radiologists to select the best method for a patient-tailored diagnostic approach represent a challenge and an exciting field for future clinical research.

Diagnostic role of Hepatic Venous Pressure Gradient (HVPG) in SOS/VOD assessment

SOS/VOD is considered as a paradigmatic model of sinusoidal PH[77]. HVPG still represents the gold standard for PH measurement[77]. HVPG represents the gradient between the

wedged pressures (WHVP) and the free hepatic venous pressures (FHVP). When blood flow in a hepatic vein is stopped by a wedged catheter (WHVP), the proximal static column of blood transmits the pressure from the other vascular territory (hepatic sinusoids) to the catheter. WHVP thus reflects the hepatic sinus pressure and not the portal pressure itself [77]. In a normally functioning liver, due to the pressure balance through interconnected sinusoids, the WHPV is slightly lower than the portal pressure, although this gradient is clinically insignificant. Based on HVPG values, the patients can be classified into i) normal when the HVPG is less than five mmHg; ii) with portal hypertension when the HVPG ranges from 5 to 9 mmHg and iii) with clinically significant portal hypertension (CSPH) when the HVPG is higher than ten mmHg. When CSPH occurs, clinical manifestations (ascites, hepatomegaly, splenomegaly...) can occur. Thus, HVPG can be useful to predict and diagnose SOS/VOD through the assessment of the degree of PH[182,183]. In 98% of cases and with adequate sample size, measuring HVPG by the trans-jugular route[184,185] enables a liver biopsy (LB) to be safely carried out also in cytopenic patients[186].

The first case report describing high HVPG values in a patient with SOS/VOD dates back to 1981. Since then, only a few studies have investigated its accuracy in relatively large cohorts. Carreras et al.

[25,26] showed that all 36 out of 217 patients with histological SOS/VOD diagnosis presented an HVPG > five mmHg; and over 80% CSPH[79,187]. Shulman et al [78] described a specificity of 91% (PPV 86%) for HVPG \geq 10 mmHg in SOS/VOD diagnosis in 24 out of 60 patients who underwent HSCT. A similar result was also recently reported by Kis et al [185] in a large cohort of 141 patients: HVPG \geq 10 mmHg presented a 90.8% specificity, and 77.3% sensitivity, PPV 75.6%, NPV 91.6%.

Besides its diagnostic role, HVPG is also a significant prognostic factor of SOS/VOD, as HVPG ≥ 20 mmHg is associated with more unsatisfactory outcome and higher mortality. Regarding PH improvement after therapy, few studies have described an HVPG and portosystemic gradient reduction after Transjugular Intrahepatic Portosystemic Shunt (TIPS) placement in severe cases of SOS/VOD[160,188] the role and benefit of this therapeutic option are however still controversial.

Regarding Oxaliplatin-induced SOS/VOD, only one recent study[158] has investigated the role of HVPG before surgical resection of liver metastases. Pelegrina et al. found that 4 out of 9 patients with a histological diagnosis of SOS/VOD presented PH at baseline [189]; none of which had CSPH. Higher values of HVPG were associated with SOS/VOD diagnosis and significant surgical complications.

In conclusion, despite many authors and guidelines considering the HVPG measurement as one of the most accurate imaging techniques for SOS/VOD diagnosis, some aspects still need to be addressed: i) HVPG is an invasive technique and available only in centres with specific expertise; ii) a limited number of studies are available; iii) there is no clear interpretation of values belonging to a "grey area" [between 5 (PH) and 10 mmHg (not CSPH)]; iv) and therefore its diagnostic role in mild-moderate cases of SOS/VOD still needs to be determined.

Therefore, only in cases of suspected and unclear SOS/VOD, primarily determined by discrepancies between the various diagnostic assessments carried out, can HVPG with trans-jugular LB confirm the diagnosis with confidence.

Very probably, given the continuous improvements in non-invasive techniques for SOS/VOD diagnosis, the role of HVPG in the diagnostic work-up could become more marginal soon.

Diagnostic role of ultrasound imaging (US) in SOS/VOD assessment

Of the non-invasive radiological techniques, liver ultrasound (US) is one of the most commonly studied. It enables hepatic venous circulation changes to be assessed through dynamic scans by Color-Doppler US.

Currently, the role of US in SOS/VOD assessment mostly regards a differential diagnosis, i.e. cholangitis, cholestasis, acute GvHD, fulminant viral hepatitis, mycotic liver infections or Budd-Chiari Syndrome [190–192].

However, the latest EBMT criteria for SOS/VOD stated that US characteristics, in addition to other clinical criteria, should be prioritised and even be mandatory in the context of a diagnosis of late-onset SOS/VOD[73].

The first evidence of the role of US in this syndrome dates back to the 1990s, when various authors described typical signs in a case series of patients who developed SOS/VOD-induced by HSCT or other forms of chemotherapy, in particular, hepatosplenomegaly, ascites, thickening of the gall bladder wall, ill-defined borders of the hepatic vessels, and failure to visualize the significant hepatic veins (HV)[193,194]. Gallbladder wall thickness is due to PH-related congestion and correlates with HVPG[195]. Similarly, portal vein (PV) flow decreases/reverses, or "to-and-fro" flow and triphasic hepatic venous outflow is lost due to the hepatic congestion leading to a loss of liver compliance[196].

From these results, the authors proposed the use of Color-Doppler US as an easy, non-invasive, repeatable and reliable tool for the daily monitoring of the effects of treatment with the recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), which was the SOS/VOD pharmacological treatment at that time[196]

However, evidence regarding the usefulness of US in SOS/VOD assessment has always been controversial. Around the same time, in fact, two prospective studies[197,198] found no strong association between the above described US signs and SOS/VOD diagnosis, and proposed a mean hepatic arterial resistive index (HARI) of \geq 0.75 as a new indicator of SOS/VOD development, observing significantly high values in 95% of patients with SOS/VOD [198]. On the other hand, after finding no significant differences between patients with and without SOS/VOD, Teefey et al. [199] questioned the role of HARI and other signs, such as HV and PV flow, in SOS/VOD assessment.

The most critical effort in US research on SOS/VOD assessment was carried out by Lassau and colleagues [200]. In a large prospective study, with 100 patients who underwent high risk-HSCT, 25 developed SOS/VOD. The authors performed grey-scale and Doppler US examination before and then weekly after HSCT while patients were still hospitalised. Fourteen US criteria were then developed. The

seven grey-scale morphological US criteria were: hepatomegaly, PV diameter >12 mm, gallbladder wall thickening > 6 mm, HV <3 mm, splenomegaly, ascites, and visualisation of paraumbilical veins. On the other hand, the flow demodulation in the portal vein, a decrease in spectral density, portal flow <10 cm/sec, congestion index < 0.1, HARI > 0.75, monophasic flow in HV and flow in paraumbilical vein were assessed as being the best seven Doppler US criteria.

These US criteria have already been validated as US signs of portal hypertension by several medical ultrasound societies (e.g. European Federation of Societies for Ultrasound in Medicine and Biology, EFSUMB) and routinely used worldwide [201]. From these criteria, three scores have been developed: one for the B-mode US, one for Doppler-US, and one total score. A Doppler-US criteria score of >3 was correlated with CSPH, HVPG ≥ 10 mmHg [202]. A total score of >6, with 83% sensitivity, 87% specificity, 68% PPV and 94% NPV, were significantly associated with the diagnosis of SOS/VOD in patients who underwent HSCT. These criteria differ significantly between patients with SOS/VOD and those with GvHD of the liver, thus allowing a differential diagnosis between these forms. Finally, a total score of >8, in addition to total serum bilirubin >80 μ mol/L, were identified as a negative predictive factor of mortality [200]

The same French research group in 2002 validated the previously described criteria in 71 children who developed SOS/VOD after intensive myeloablative therapy with Busulfan, in order to also establish their prognostic role in the pediatric population[202].

When a clinical diagnosis of SOS/VOD was provided, US examination (grey and Doppler-US) was performed. In the univariate analysis, three B-mode US criteria (i.e. splenomegaly, ascites and visualization of the paraumbilical vein), and three Doppler-US criteria (i.e. reversed flow or less than 10 cm/sec in the portal vein, decrease in spectral density of the portal flow and flow in the paraumbilical vein) were correlated with the severity of SOS/VOD. Of the above criteria, only ascites, splenomegaly and the visualisation of the paraumbilical vein were independently associated with the SOS/VOD severity degree in multivariate analyses. Finally, a total score of ≥ 9 was chosen as a predictive cut-off for grade 3 SOS/VOD severity. In conclusion, the authors suggested that an early Doppler-US could predict the SOS/VOD grade at the time of diagnosis, also with a higher sensitivity than bilirubin levels and HVPG.

In contrast, McCarville et al [203] evaluated eight US parameters in 202 prospective examinations of 48 pediatric patients who underwent HSCT: direction and velocity of PV flow, thickness of the gallbladder wall, HARI, Doppler flow pattern in the HVs and inferior
vena cava, echotexture of the liver, diameter of the common bile duct, and presence of ascites. No differences were identified between patients who developed SOS/VOD (n=29) and those who did not. Only the Doppler flow pattern in the HV seemed to be inversely associated with SOS/VOD diagnosis; however, significant variations in range values were observed. Flow demodulation in PV (inversion) was also associated with SOS/VOD diagnosis but was only present in a few cases. These authors concluded that the US parameters evaluated could not reliably predict or diagnose SOS/VOD in their pediatric group[204].

Since then, little new evidence in the US imaging field has been established[205,206]. An interesting paper by a group in Turkey was recently published, which focused on the diagnostic value of hepatic arterial maximal systolic velocity (V_{max}) assessed by Doppler-US in pediatric patients[204]. In 18 out of 36 patients who developed SOS/VOD, the V_{max} of the hepatic artery was significantly associated (p-value<0.001) with clinical SOS/VOD diagnosis, based on modified Seattle criteria. No other Doppler-US parameters were found to be associated with SOS/VOD by these authors.

The proof of concept study on the use of contrast-enhanced US (CEUS) in the early diagnosis of SOS/VOD[206] is also worth mentioning. The contrast enhancement pattern was equal to the

patchy liver enhancement described in other radiological examinations such as multi-detector row CT and MRI (see below), reflecting the hepatic hemodynamic changes.

A group in Japan has recently established a novel scoring system (HokUS-10) based on 10 US variables, such as gallbladder wall thickening, ascites, and blood flow signal in the paraumbilical vein, which predicted the SOS/VOD diagnosis with a sensitivity of 100% and specificity of 95.8% in 10 patients[207]. HokUS-10 is a more effective and simplified scoring system than the one proposed by Lassau et al.[200], and if adequately validated, could prove to be an excellent diagnostic tool for SOS/VOD diagnosis.

Despite much evidence regarding the utility of US imaging as a diagnostic tool, its role is still controversial due to the non-uniformity of results and various limitations of the method[192]. These examinations require an expert sonographer in Doppler-US. Furthermore, Color Doppler-US signs, which mirror severe portal hypertension, usually arise when an advanced stage of SOS/VOD has already developed; thus, its application may be minimal for the early diagnosis of SOS/VOD.

<u>Role of Ultrasound Elastography techniques in SOS/VOD</u> <u>assessment</u>

Ultrasound elastography techniques are a group of new and noninvasive methods, which evaluate the stiffness of parenchymatous organs through the detection of the distortion velocity of the tissue induced by shear waves[208]. The liver stiffness measurement (LSM) thus detects changes in the mechanical properties of the liver which occur whenever the architecture of its parenchyma is modified by the disease. Stiffness is increased, and elasticity is diminished due to fibrosis, inflammation, congestion, central venous pressure, and cholestasis [209–214].

In over ten years, many studies and meta-analyses have shown the close relationship between LSM and HVPG in advanced chronic liver disease (ACLD) patients, confirming LSM as an accurate surrogate of PH[[215–217]. Of the ultrasound elastographic techniques, only transient elastography (TE) and point-shear wave elastography (p-SWEs) by acoustic radiation force impulse (ARFI) imaging have been investigated in SOS/VOD assessment.

The first impression of changes in LSM in patients that developed SOS/VOD was reported by Fontanilla et al. in 2011[206]. The authors showed that the shear wave velocity, assessed by ARFI, increased in the two patients who developed SOS/VOD (2.75 and 2.59 m/sec,

respectively). More recently, Auberger et al. found that a pretransplant LSM cut-off of 8 kPa could predict and differentiate patients that developed liver toxicity after HSCT[218]

A critical study on the role of ultrasound elastography in post-HSCT complications was performed by Karlas and colleagues, who prospectively enrolled 59 patients[219]. Major complications (grade 4 Common Terminology Criteria CTC for adverse events) [220] occurred in seven patients: four with acute GvHD and severe liver toxicity, two with SOS/VOD development and one case of transplant rejection. The authors showed that baseline liver and spleen size, liver perfusion, TE and right lobe LSM (R-ARFI) did not differ significantly between patients with and without severe complications. The only baseline left lobe LSM (L-ARFI) values were significantly increased in the group with complications. In general, these authors found a slight increase in LSM values in almost all patients throughout the post-HSCT period, probably due to oedema and hepatic inflammation caused by the high number of drugs administered in this context. On the other hand, in five patients who developed severe hepatic complications, LSM by TE was significantly higher (6.2±1.5 kPavs4.7±1.7 kPa, p=0.043) in comparison with the whole population cohort. However, the authors were unable to differentiate among the different post-HSCT complications.

Several research groups have recently focused on ultrasound elastography techniques in SOS/VOD assessment. A proof of concept of elastography usefulness in SOS/VOD assessment has now been achieved by Park's group, who evaluated the role of ARFI in a murine model with histologically diagnosed SOS/VOD[221].

The authors induced SOS/VOD with different severity stages in rat models, by monocrotaline gavage (n=40) or by intraperitoneal injection of 5-fluorouracil, leucovorin and oxaliplatin (FOLFOX) (n=16), in order to obtain acute and chronic SOS/VOD development respectively. Liver Shear Wave Velocity (SWV), assessed by ARFI imaging in the median lobe, was higher in the SOS/VOD-rat models than the matched control group (1.29–2.24 m/s vs 1.01–1.09; $p \le 0.09$). Subsequently, two liver pathologists evaluated rat liver samples by assessing the presence of SOS/VOD features (defining an "SOS-score"). Liver SWV was significantly related to the histological SOS/VOD score (r = .858, p < .001) and lobular inflammation (r =0.819, p < .001). Moreover, in acute monocrotaline-induced SOS/VOD, the liver SWV gradually and significantly decreased in the post-treatment period, while in FOLFOX-induced SOS/VOD, the stiffness values decreased after two weeks of FOLFOX treatment interruption. These behaviours seem to describe different sinusoidal injuries due to heterogenic pathogenetic patterns.

Thus, these results in the murine model may better explain the role of liver stiffness variations in SOS/VOD diagnosis.

A recent study by our group[222]investigated the predictive role of LSM changes, assessed by TE, in SOS/VOD development after HSCT in paediatric patients. Of the 22 patients enrolled, five patients developed SOS/VOD after HSCT. LSMs were carried out at baseline (before HSCT), and subsequently at the bedside at days 7-10, 17-20 and 27-30 after HSCT. No significant differences were observed at baseline LSM between patients that developed SOS/VOD and those that did not. In fact, in patients that developed SOS/VOD, LSM values increased markedly compared to the previous measurement, reaching values from 10.3 to 59.3 kPa. LSM increases were observed from 3 to 6 days before clinical SOS/VOD diagnosis. Based on these preliminary results, a national multicentre prospective study in Italy ("ElastoVOD Study" ClinicalTrial.gov: NCT03426358) was set up, aimed at confirming the prognostic role of LSM. All our above results are better and extensive, shown in part two of the present thesis dissertation. Similarly, a recent study by Reddivalla et al. [223] evaluated SWV by 2D-SWE in 25 paediatric patients at baseline and days +5 and + 14 after HSCT. An SOS/VOD diagnosis was made in five patients, observing no differences in pre-conditioning SWV between SOS/VOD and the control group (1.24 \pm 0.09 m/s vs 1.41 \pm

0.18 m/s, p=0.06). Interestingly, a significant increase in SWV velocity was observed in patients that developed SOS/VOD (at day +5: by 0.25 ± 0.21 m/s vs. 0.02 ± 0.18 in the control group; at day +14: by 0.91 m/s \pm 1.14 m/s vs. 0.03 m/s \pm 0.23 m/s). These authors concluded that an increase in SWV generally preceded a clinical and US-based SOS/VOD diagnosis by 9 and 11 days, respectively.

The first monocentric study on an adult population of patients undergoing HSCT was recently published by our group [224]. We confirmed that LSM increases occurred from +2 to +12 days before clinical SOS/VOD appearance and gradually decreased following successful SOS/VOD specific treatment also in the population of adult patients. Moreover, for the first time, we showed that LSM values did not significantly increase in patients experiencing hepato-biliary complications (according to common terminology criteria, CTC) other than SOS/VOD [224]. Again, all our above results are better and extensive, shown in part two of the present thesis dissertation.

These results need to be validated by extensive prospective studies in order to define the most suitable application of LSM in clinical practice [192]. However, many experts agree that liver elastography is a promising method since it is a non-invasive, bedside method for the early diagnosis and follow-up of SOS/VOD. Besides, it is well tolerated by patients, reproducible, and provides an objective quantitative value, preventing radiations, intravenous contrast agents, and risks of bleeding or infection.

<u>Diagnostic role of Computed Tomography (CT) in</u> <u>SOS/VOD assessment</u>

CT is routinely used in patients undergoing HSCT to evaluate transplant complications, particularly gastrointestinal Graft-versus-Host-Disease (GvHD)[225]. However, its role in SOS/VOD diagnosis in HSCT patients has only been investigated in the last few years. Most studies with CT derive from other contexts, such as SOS/VOD after liver transplantation or induced by other chemotherapy drugs (carboplatin, cisplatin and oxaliplatin) and hepatotoxic agents (pyrrolizidine alkaloids which are found in plants and shrubs).

To our knowledge, Erturk et al. were the first to retrospectively evaluate the CT scans of 18 patients after HSCT, with histological diagnosis of SOS/VOD, GvHD or both. Ascites, periportal oedema and right hepatic vein narrowing, were found to be the most specific findings for SOS/VOD, while small-bowel wall thickening seemed exclusive to GvHD[226].

Other studies have focused on the diagnostic role of CT in small cohorts of patients that developed SOS/VOD induced by pyrrolizidine alkaloids (PA). In 2012, Wu et al. observed some recurrent findings

by multi-detector row CT, Angio-CT and multiplanar reconstruction (MPR) in 10 patients with SOS/VOD-induced by "Gynura-Rhizome": all patients presented ascites, hepatomegaly (>18 cm), pleural effusion and gallbladder wall thickening[227]. In most patients, periportal oedema was also visible. After administration of the contrast agent, during the portal phase, a diffuse heterogeneity in hepatic enhancement was observed. Angiographic reconstruction was not able to identify hepatic veins in any of the patients. A larger group of 39 patients with SOS/VOD caused by another plant, "Sedum aizoon", was studied by Shao et al. with CT assessment[228]. The findings of this study agreed with the results described above. Besides, the authors highlighted the presence of splenomegaly, CT heterogeneous density of liver parenchyma, with widespread hypodense areas and again non-uniform contrast-enhancement.

A more exhaustive study was carried out by Kan et al. [229] in 2016, in order to establish the diagnostic value of CT radiological findings. The authors compared the CT-scans of 71 patients with SOS/VODinduced by *"Gynura Segetum"* ingestion with 222 patients with hepatic cirrhosis or Budd-Chiari syndrome. In the SOS/VOD cases, typical findings were ascites (100%), hepatomegaly (78.9%), gallbladder wall thickening (87%) and pleural effusion (70.4%). After contrast administration, the entire cohort of SOS/VOD patients showed heterogeneous hypoattenuation, and 93% presented patchy liver enhancement. These CT characterizations were present in a small subgroup of Budd-Chiari patients (19.3% hypo attenuated areas, and 28.1% irregular contrast-enhancement). In addition, hepatic vein narrowing was present in 87.3% of SOS/VOD patients, while other signs of portal hypertension such as collateral circulation and splenomegaly were more common in the cohort of control patients (cirrhosis and Budd-Chiari syndrome) [229]. CT-patchy liver enhancement showed a sensitivity of 93%, specificity of 92.8%, a positive predictive value (PPV) of 80.5%, a negative predictive value (NPV) of 97.6%, and an overall accuracy of 91.8% in SOS/VOD diagnosis. On the other hand, the CT-heterogeneous hypo attenuation showed a sensitivity of 100%, a specificity of 95.1%, PPV of 86.6%, NPV of 100%, and overall accuracy of 96.3%. The authors thus concluded that these radiological signs were the most specific features of SOS/VOD development by CT examination. In fact, all of the above radiological findings resulted in a superior SOS/VOD diagnostic performance than merely using clinical signs such as ascites, jaundice and hepatomegaly. Accordingly, the diagnostic performance of contrast CT was better than clinical Seattle criteria in PAs-induced SOS/VOD.

In 2017, further confirmation came from a meta-analysis carried out by Yang[230], who considered 11 studies involving a total number of 326 patients, in order to better establish CT feature incidence in SOS/VOD diagnosis. The authors analysed the presence of the above described CT findings, confirming that both heterogeneous hypoattenuation and patchy enhancement, with or without narrowing or an invisible hepatic vein were the essential features for SOS/VOD diagnosis.

The diagnostic role of the CT scan was also evaluated in patients undergoing Oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy. In the last few decades, the use of preoperative chemotherapy has facilitated radical surgical resection in patients with previously unresectable liver metastasis[231]. Unfortunately, the Oxaliplatin-based regimen has also been related to essential liver complications, such as SOS/VOD development, which could considerably influence the outcome of patients requiring liver resection surgery[102,232].

CT-scans could be very useful in this context, as they are the main radiological techniques used for cancer staging and surveillance in these patients[233]. According to Bethke and colleagues, sinusoidal congestion in SOS/VOD causes a delay in the inflow of radiocontrast agent in contrast-enhanced CT, and thus it could arise in the portal venous phase with heterogeneous attenuation of hepatic

parenchyma[233]. The pattern of "Post Oxaliplatin Heterogeneity of Liver parenchyma" (POHL) appears to be related to SOS/VOD development. In fact, in 2015, Han and colleagues [234], also confirmed the association of POHL (61.9%) with SOS/VOD development in 270 patients treated with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy using serial contrast-enhanced CT. POHL was predominantly located in the peripheral area (67.1%) and right (62.4%). A multivariate analysis POHL was hepatic lobe SOS/VOD independently associated with clinical factors. Furthermore, more severe forms of POHL appear to be related to increasing spleen size and decreased attenuation of the hepatic parenchyma[234].

Similar results have been recently found by Cayet et al.[235] who evaluated preoperative CT-scans in 67 patients undergoing hepatic surgical resection after neoadjuvant chemotherapy for colorectal cancer metastasis. The authors identified not only a heterogeneity pattern but also other SOS/VOD-related CT features in 29 patients who presented a histological SOS/VOD diagnosis. A clover-like sign, increase in spleen volume of >30% and peripheral distribution of heterogeneity were identified as independent predictors of SOS/VOD. Regarding Oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy, a new SOS/VOD presentation has been increasingly reported. Some case reports[236–

238] have described unusual radiological CT-scans after Oxaliplatin chemotherapy with "focal SOS/VOD lesions", as a new form of "chemotherapy-induced sinusoidal injuries". A CT-scan of focal SOS/VOD can often be misinterpreted as hepatic metastasis, leading to unnecessary biopsies and hepatectomies. Mass-forming sinusoidal injuries, mimicking metastatic liver tumours, usually appear at contrast-enhanced CT as hypodense, unenhanced lesions, which are often categorised as indeterminate lesions by radiologists[239]. More information is still needed to recognise pseudo metastasis at CT-scan. Despite the above shreds of evidence, CT examination for SOS/VOD suspicion is not routinely used in clinical practice, especially in HSCT patients, and further studies are needed to identify the role of CT in the early and differential diagnosis of SOS/VOD[192].

<u>Diagnostic role of Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) in</u> <u>SOS/VOD assessment</u>

Although evidence is still limited to clinical case series, the interest in MRI as a new radiological technique for SOS/VOD diagnosis has increased.

The first observations on MRI features were reported by van den Bosch et al. in 2000 [240] who observed hepatomegaly, hepatic vein narrowing, gallbladder wall thickening, periportal cuffing, ascites and pleural effusion in two patients who developed SOS/VOD after HSCT. These findings were explained by the authors as a result of increased resistance to lymphatic and venous inflow. They concluded that MRI could be a useful radiological tool to be performed after the Doppler-US examination. In fact, in addition to Doppler-U S, MRI enables slow portal venous flow to be differentiated from hepatic veins thrombosis and to define better various US findings that could be nonspecific (e.g. gallbladder wall thickening in SOS/VOD is associated with high signal intensity on T2-weighted images).

Two years later, another case [241] of SOS/VOD-induced by the recreational drug "popper" was studied with an MRI and compared with Budd-Chiari syndrome MRI-signs. Unlike Budd-Chiari syndrome, MRI features in SOS/VOD included signs of liver congestion spread throughout the parenchyma, with highly heterogeneous signal intensity and multiple contrast enhancement points (patchy liver enhancement), consistent with collateral vessels. In Budd-Chiari syndrome, on the other hand, hepatic congestion changes are typically observed in peripheral areas of the liver and are determined by venous shunts which provide hepatic venous drainage from central areas and the caudate lobe of the liver. Accordingly, hypotrophy of peripheral zones and hypertrophy of central non-

congested zones were observed only in Budd-Chiari syndrome patients.

Despite these slight differences, the authors concluded that the most reliable MRI-signs capable of differentiating between the two syndromes are the observation of hepatic veins or inferior cava vein obstruction.

Although supported by a few studies [242], patchy liver enhancement in Contrast-enhanced MRI seems to be associated with SOS/VOD development.

In 2014, a Korean research group directed by Zhou[243]compared the CT and MRI findings of 16 patients who had developed SOS/VOD induced by "Gynura Segetum". Of these, eight patients had a CT evaluation, three patients had an MRI assessment, and five patients had both techniques. CT and MRI features were in agreement. In the MRI, all patients showed ascites, main right hepatic vein narrowing and "patchy enhancement" after gadolinium infusion. Furthermore, in 87.5%, 50% and 75% of patients, hepatomegaly and gallbladder wall thickening, periportal hyper-intensity and periportal cuffing in T2-weighted were described, respectively.

Zhou and collegues[243]described for the first time, both in CT and MRI examination, the so-called "clover sign" in 25% of all patients,

which consisted in an area of liver parenchyma with regular enhancement in venous phases, surrounding the main hepatic vein. Finally, the authors established a significant association between the extent of abnormal enhancement areas and severity of SOS/VOD. In 2017, a Chinese group reported the largest retrospectively study on

MRI evaluation in patients with pyrrolidine alkaloid-related SOS/VOD[244]. Of the 90 patients who developed PA-SOS/VOD, 39 underwent MRI. The distribution and severity of hypointense heterogeneity were evaluated according to 4-point scales. The most common distribution of heterogeneous hypointensity was diffuse (76.92%), and right lobar predominance (17.95%) and hypointensity (92.31%) was scored as severe (grade 4).

In 74.36% of cases, non-homogeneous enhancement around the hepatic veins, defined as "claw-shaped enhancement", was described and explained as an expression of differential perfusion in PA-induced SOS/VOD.

It is also worth highlighting various observations on MRI with hepato-specific contrast agents in patients with SOS/VOD diagnosis. In patients with colorectal liver metastases undergoing hepatic surgery resection after neoadjuvant Oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy, SPIO-MRI (Super Paramagnetic Iron Oxide contrast-MRI) is a preoperative exam, which is highly sensitive in detecting liver

metastases. Performing preoperative SPIO-MRI in 60 patients, Ward et al. [245] observed a reticular hyperintensity in T2-weighted sequences, in 24 patients who developed SOS/VOD (confirmed by histological examination) with a sensitivity, specificity, PPV and NPV of 87%, 89%, 83% and 92%, respectively. In the study, two observers were involved whose task was to identify and classify linear and reticular hyper-intensity, in a 4-grade severity scale. Notably, the correlation between SPIO-MRI and histological examination was better for severe forms of SOS/VOD.

A similar study was performed in 42 patients by Shin et al. [246] in 2012, assessing preoperative MRI with another hepato-specific contrast, Gadolinium EthOxyBenzyl DieThylenetriamine Pentacetic Acid (Gd-EOB-DTPA), also known as Primovist. In 16 out of 42 patients who developed SOS/VOD after chemotherapy for hepatic metastasis, a reticular hypo-intensity in areas with hepatocellular dysfunction and injury was observed in hepato-biliary phases. The authors concluded that Gd-EOB-DTPA-MRI, compared with histological examination, achieved a sensitivity of 75% and a specificity of 96-100%, with lower accuracy in mild SOS/VOD identification. A further recent report described Gd-EOB-DTPA-MRI findings in a case of SOS/VOD occurring after thiopurine

administration in a patient with Crohn's disease, confirming the previous typical MRI signs also in this scenario[247].

In patients undergoing Oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy, unlike with CT-scans in which focal SOS/VOD mimics liver metastasis, some authors have suggested the role of MRI in differentiating "chemotherapy-induced sinusoidal injury" from real metastasis.

As described by Han et colleagues in 2014[118] a lesion with illdefined margins, non-spherical shape and intermingled signal intensity pattern is suggestive of focal SOS/VOD, while metastatic nodules usually presented a well-defined margin, spherical shape and homogeneous signal intensity in the gadoxetate-enhanced hepatobiliary phase (HBP-MRI). Also, 69% of focal SOS/VOD in the hepatobiliary phase presented a reticular heterogeneity of background liver tissue. Above all, the enhancement pattern of the focal SOS/VOD lesions at HBP-MRI and diffusion-weighted (DW-MRI) was different from the typical metastasis pattern.

Notwithstanding these intriguing data on the diagnostic role of MRI examination, in particular with hepato-specific contrast, further studies with a larger cohort of patients who develop SOS/VOD, are needed in order to identify the role of MRI in the early diagnosis of SOS/VOD and in differential diagnoses with other liver vascular lesions[192].

Diagnostic role of Nuclear Medicine in SOS/VOD assessment

Experience with nuclear medicine in SOS/VOD evaluation is minimal, although the first evidence suggesting the application of these techniques in this context originates from as early as 1975. The first cases [248] assessing scintigraphy with ⁹⁹mTc-pertechnetate in patients with a confirmed histological diagnosis of SOS/VOD, showed hepatomegaly and multiple widespread areas of hypo-captation of radionuclides. The authors underlined that the above findings, although not highly specificity for SOS/VOD, have a very different scintigraphy pattern from Budd-Chiari syndrome (right, a large and single area of hypo-captation).

A Japanese research group [249] recently used Rectal Portal Scintigraphy to investigate the development of SOS/VOD in a patient undergoing an unrelated cord blood transplant. This technique is based on nuclear medicine and is proposed as a new, non-invasive and potentially safe method for detecting patients who developed SOS/VOD after HSCT. Rectal portal scintigraphy with ⁹⁹mTcpertechnetate is a method to evaluate of portosystemic shunting using the portal shunt index (SI), calculated from radioactivity curves of the liver and the heart. A radioactive tracer absorbed from the rectum passes through the inferior mesenteric vein into the portal vein, the liver and then the right heart. In the case of reports, 60% of patients developed SOS/VOD, SI indicating severe PH (normal values <10%). Despite its potential, only prospective studies with large cohorts will be able to investigate and possibly confirm these results.

Other authors have proposed 18-FluoroDeoxyGlucose Positron Emission Tomography Computed Tomography (18-FDG-PET/TC) to detect patients who developed SOS/VOD.

After various case reports[250] in 2016 Kim and colleagues [251] showed that hepatic FDG uptake on PET/CT significantly intensified after the onset of SOS/VOD in 35 patients who underwent chemotherapy for colorectal liver metastases. Since FDG-PET/CT is frequently used to evaluate chemotherapy response in tumoral lesions, Kim underlined that an SOS/VOD-increased uptake could be responsible for errors in oncological evaluations [250]. A possible explanation for altered hepatic FGD uptake may lie in microvascular SOS/VOD physiopatogenetic disturbances, resulting in sinusoidal congestion state and endothelial cell dysfunction [251]. It has been reported that FGD uptake distribution could coincide with widespread hypodense areas seen at CT, compatible with the alterations previously described [97].

Based on the inadequate current evidence of this technique in the assessment of SOS/VOD, it is not possible to draw definitive

conclusions regarding the role of nuclear medicine as a useful tool when deciding on how to treat this disease [192].

Techniques	Common findings	Advantages	Disadvantages
Hepatic Venous Pressure Gradient (HVPG)	Increase in Hepatic Venous Pressure Gradient (> 10 mmHg predicts CSPH and VOD/SOS diagnosis with good accuracy/a specificity over 90%)	Good accuracy in CSPH assessment Concurrent liver biopsy (LB) can be performed, leading to a conclusive VOD/SOS diagnosis Trans-jugular approach safer than others Prognostic Value	Invasive High bleeding or infectious risk (pancytopenic patients) Contrast medium and radiation exposure risks Undear evaluation in 'grey area' (5–10 mmHg) Available in few centers High expertise required
Grey Scale Ultrasound (US)	Hepatomegaly, splenomegaly, ascites, gallbladder wall thickening, dilatation of portal vein (diameter > 12mm), narrowing of hepatic veins, paraumbilical vein recanalization	Non-invasive No contrast medium or radiation exposure risk Bedside feasible Available in most centers First-line technique for differential diagnosis	Operator-dependent No VOD/SOS specific signs Non-uniformity of results No quantitative values for assessing PH degree
Doppler Ultrasound (Doppler-US)	Reversal or reduction (mean velocity <10 cm/sed of portal vein flow, Congestion Index < 0.1, hepatic artery Resistive Index (HARI) > 0.75, monophasic flow in hepatic veins, detected flow in paraumbilical vein, decrease in hepatic arterial maximal systolic velocity (Vmax)	Non-invasive No contrast medium or radiation exposure risk Bedside feasible Good accuracy in PH assessment Useful in differential diagnosis	Strongly operator-dependent High expertise required PH signs only appear in advanced stages of VOD/SOS High non-uniformity of results
Contrast-enhanced Ultrasound (CEUS)	Patchy liver enhancement, similarly to other contrast-enhanced imaging techniques	Non-invasive No radiation exposure risk No nephrotoxi: oidine-contrast exposure risk Bedside feasible	Very limited evidence Strongly operator-dependent High expertise required Available in few centres Contrast medium exposure risk Not feasable with severe cardiological disease
Ultrasound Elastography Techniques: Transtern Elastography (p-SWEs) by Point-Shear Wave Elastography (p-SWEs) by Accountic Reduction Force Impulse Imaging (ARFI)	Increase in Liver Stiffness Measurement (LSM) assessed by Transient Elastography (p-SWE) by ElinoScan (TE) and Point-Shear Wave Elastography (p-SWE) by Accustic Radiation Force Impulse imaging (ARFI), from 1 to 9 days before clinical diagnosis; normalization of values, in accordance with VOD/SOS resolution	Non-invasive No contrast medium or radiation exposure risk Bedside feasible Easy to perform and high reproducibility (inter- operator) Provides objective and quantitative value Related to congestion and PH grades Increased stiffness values indicate need for clinical diagnosis, sueful in any assessment	Evidence still limited Performance in differential diagnosis needs to be assesse Not feasible if ascites, severe obesity, pacemaker and implantable device
Computed tomography (CT)*	Most relevant features: heterogeneous hypoattenuation of liver parenchyma, patchy liver enhancement at Contrast-enhanced scans. Other signs: Ascites, hepatomegaly, periportal edema, gallbladder walt thickening, pleural effusion, narrowing or inkisible hepatic veins. In patients underwent oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy for liver metastasis: heterogeneous attenuation of hepatic parenchyma in portal venous phase (so called Post Oxaliplatin Heterogeneity of Liver parenchyma' – POHL), predominantly located at the peripheral area and right hepatic lobe. In few cases: focal SOS/VOD mimicking liver metastasis	Non-Invasive Available in most centres: Useful in differential diagnosis (e.g. GvHD.) Largely used in patients with liver metastasis, in post-oxalplatin preoperative evaluation Good accuracy for SOS/VOD diagnosis, specific signs especially in contrast- enhanced scans	Contrast medium and radiation exposure risks Not bedside feasible Expert radiologist is required Cost No quantitative values related to PH Limited evidences, further studies are needed (HSCT context)
Magnetic Resonance imaging (MRI)*	Most relevant features: highly heterogeneous signal intensity, patchy liver enhancement in gadolinium-enhanced sequences. Other signs: Asties, hepatomegaly, periportal criffing, gallbladder wall thickening, pleural effusion, narrowing of hepatic veirs. In patients underwent oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy for liver metastasis: utility of hepato-specific contrast-enhanced MRI, with reticular hypointensity or hyperintensity (according to the different contrast agent used).	Non-Invasive Available in most centres No radiation exposure risk Good accuracy for SOS/VDD diagnosis, specific signs especially in contrast- enhanced scans Used in patients with liver metastasis, for post- oxaliplatin preoperative evaluation Good differentiation between focal-SOS/VDD and liver metastasis Usefulness of hepato-specific contrast medium	Gadolinium contrast related risk Not bedside feasible Expert radiologist is required High cost No quantitative values related to PH Lumied evidence in HSCT context (cases series) Lumied evidence in HSCT context (cases series) Not feasible in patients with pacemakers, defibrillators, other implanted electronic devices, metallic clips or implants
Positron Emission Tomography (PET)*	Significantly intensified 18-FluoroDeoxyGlucose (FDG) uptake liver areas; the distribution coincides with widespread hypodense areas at CT	Non-Invasive Available in most centres	Very limited evidence Exposure to radiation Expert radiologist is required Not bedside feasible High cost No quantitative values related to PH

Table 05: The most significant findings and pros- and cons- of variousimaging techniques in SOS/VOS diagnosis (from Ravaioli et al. (2019)Expert Review of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 13:5, 463-484)

Integrative imaging approach to SOS/VOD diagnosis

Only in the HSCT context is there an established and reference standard for SOS/VOD diagnosis which is represented by clinical criteria [74] however with the new evidence, imaging may be useful for oncohematologists and hepatologists to detect early or mild development of VOD (Table 05). We recently underlined the important potential significance of the use of liver elastography as an accurate, easy-to-use, non-invasive, bedside technique, which is repeatable and capable of early and preclinical diagnosis of VOD / SOS. A prompt diagnosis of VOD / SOS/VOD would increase the probability of response to drug therapies and a decrease in SOS/VODrelated mortality [192].

There is no doubt that most clinical and radiological research on SOS/VOD diagnosis has focused on the context of HSCT due to the crucial clinical implications[192]. Consequently, we proposed that in the next five years, the contribution of radiological techniques to SOS/VOD diagnosis in the HSCT-context could radically change from a solely clinical to an integrated clinical-radiological diagnosis.

We believe that the clinical criteria and non-invasive imaging techniques should be integrated into multidisciplinary diagnostic algorithms aimed at guiding the clinical decision-making of SOS/VOD diagnosis after HSCT where imaging could play an important role (Figure 04). We also believe that a multidisciplinary team would be highly recommended for a prompt diagnosis and tailored management of patients with SOS/VOD [192].



undergone HSCT (from Ravaioli et al. (2019) Expert Review of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, 13:5, 463-484)

PART TWO

- RESEARCH STUDIES -

PART 2 – RESEARCH STUDIES

INTRODUCTION

Veno-Occlusive Disease (VOD), also known as Sinusoidal Obstruction syndrome (SOS), is a relatively rare but potentially life-threatening complication which might affect patients after Hemopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation (HSCT)[73]. It occurs roughly in 14% (5-60%) of patients after HSCT[38] depending on several known factors[35,252-254]. From a pathophysiology point of view, the conditioning regimens lead to a toxic injury in sinusoidal endothelial cells with consequent damage of hepatic acini, with a blood outflow block causing sinusoidal portal hypertension (PH)[36,255,256]. The clinical signs such as ascites, weight gain, painful hepatomegaly and jaundice, which are the clinical diagnostic criteria for SOS/VOD[30,31,40,74] are directly connected to the PH. Despite these clinical criteria being crucial to establishing SOS/VOD diagnosis, several conditions can mimic or overlap SOS/VOD, (e.g. cholangitis, bacterial sepsis, acute GvHD and biliary sludge...) and often histological confirmation is needed to discriminate accurately among multiple differential diagnoses[72].

Moreover, severe forms of SOS/VOD lead up more frequently to severe multiorgan dysfunction/failure (MOD/MOF)[256] with a

mortality rate that can reach, in the historical cohort, up to 80%[154]. However, it has been demonstrated that an early and prompt diagnosis, leading to earlier specific treatment initiation[257], significantly improved at day +100 survival both in a subset of patients with MOF and in those without MOD[258,259].

For this reason, the recognition of SOS/VOD in its milder forms or at earlier stages[260] assumes a high grade of relevance. New ultrasonography scores and technological ultrasound improvement may help the physician to confirm the diagnosis in the suspect of SOS/VOD [191,200,207]; however, early recognition of SOS/VOD remains a challenge. Invasive methods, such as the measurement of Hepatic Vein Pressure Gradient (HVPG) and trans-jugular liver biopsy approach, can lead to a conclusive SOS/VOD diagnosis with high specificity although their use may be limited in selected cases and well-trained centres[72].

Recently, Ultrasound Elastography techniques, assessing the Liver Stiffness Measurements (LSM), have been investigated as a possible surrogate of PH degree and its complications[215,217,261,262]. Indeed, many studies and meta-analyses confirmed the close relationship between LSM and Hepatic Vein Portal Gradient (HVPG), the gold standard method to evaluate PH, in patients with advanced chronic liver disease (ACLD)[214,263,264]. A recent paper has shown that LS measurement using Point-Shear Wave Elastography (p-SWEs) by Acoustic Radiation Force Impulse (ARFI) and Transient Elastography (TE) by Fibroscan® (Echosens, Paris, France) could represent an additional diagnostic parameter for adult patients with suspected post-transplant hepatic injury; in fact, LS pretransplant values using ARFI < 1.25 m/sec were correlated with the absence of severe complications after allo-HSCT[219].

Here, I would report the results from our extensive evidence and results collected so far, from the ELASTOVOD project evaluating the role of LSM assessed in SOS/VOD development in patients undergoing allogeneic HSCT for haematological malignancies.

METHODS

Study design

The project was an interventional study without drugs developed in two sequential phases: the first was a monocentric proof of the concept study in Bologna from April 2015 to November 2017; the second was a national multicentre study involving 47 Italian transplant centres and is still ongoing (clinicaltrial.gov NCT03426358). The results of the first phase have already published in peer-reviewed international journals[222,224,265]

Aims:

The primary aim of the project was assessed in a large, mixed (adult and paediatric) population undergoing HSCT, the role of Liver Stiffness Measurement (LSM), assessed by different elastography methods, in SOS/VOD diagnosis.

Moreover, in these patients undergoing HSCT, we secondly aimed to:

- identify the actual incidence of SOS/VOD in the adult/ paediatric Italian population;
- evaluate the role of biochemical, ultrasound scores systems and clinical variables as possible predictors for SOS/VOD;
- define the role of LSM in the differential diagnosis among other liver-related HSCT complications;

- compare the application of LSM and ultrasound (US) in SOS/VOD assessment;
- to evaluate the role of LSM in SOS/VOD follow-up management.

Patients population

The project population was all consecutive adult or paediatrics patients undergoing allogeneic HSCT at the Institute of Hematology "L. and A. Seràgnoli" and Hemato-Oncologic Pediatric Unit, Sant'Orsola-Malpighi University Hospital, Bologna, Italy (first and second phases) or from the 47 participating HSCT-transplant centres in the multicentre phase (**Figure 05**)

Inclusion/exclusion criteria



Figure 05: Italian maps of the centers involved in the ElastoVOD

The inclusion criteria were allogeneic HSCT transplant from any donor and hematopoietic stem cell source, with either myeloablative and reduced-intensity conditioning, haematological indication for allogeneic transplant, age between 3 and 70 years.

The exclusion criteria were patients with pathological obesity (BMI over 40 kg/m²), with ascites and presence of advanced chronic liver disease (ACLD) at pre-HSCT assessment, in order to avoid possible technical LSM bias.

Study schedule

The study protocol, in both phases, foresaw a clinical evaluation, biochemical assays, a grey-scale and the colour-doppler US, and LSM evaluation of all patients included at enrolment (within a month before HSCT). Then the LSM subsequent evaluations were done by means of a dense schedule of LSM assessment on days +9/10 (T1), +15/17 (T2) and +22/24 (T3) after HSCT, three times a week assessment of biochemical laboratory tests and a daily clinical assessment of presence of SOS/VOD criteria from the start of preparing regimen until 30 days after transplant. In presence of clinical suspicion of SOS/VOD, according to the EBMT criteria[9], during the time interval between two subsequent scheduled time points (T0-T1, T1-T2, T2-T3 or >T3), in addition to the above schedule of the study protocol, a Colour-Doppler US, LSM and an

intense clinical monitoring were carried out as required by the severity of the clinical feature. In case of LSM increasing value was found at any scheduled time points, Colour-Doppler US, biochemical tests and intensive clinical monitoring were further assessed to confirm/exclude the diagnosis, according to the EBMT recommendations when SOS/VOD was diagnosed, weekly LSM evaluations until clinical SOS/VOD resolution were performed.

VOD/SOD diagnosis

SOS/VOD of the liver was defined by EBMT clinical diagnostic criteria for adults and pediatric patients (Table 02). Accordingly, painful hepatomegaly, weight gain, and bilirubin \geq 2.0 mg/dL with or without ultrasound signs (only in late-VOD) were considered as typical clinical signs for SOS/VOD diagnosis; in doubtful cases to confirm clinical diagnosis further invasive diagnostic methods (liver biopsies and Hepatic Venous Portal Gradient, HVPG) have been performed. SOS/VOD grading was defined by EBMT criteria for severity grading [9 (). VOD with MOF was defined as the presence of renal or pulmonary dysfunction in addition to VOD. Furthermore, the classical modified Seattle or Baltimore criteria[40] were also recorded.

Other hepatobiliary complications

The occurrence of other hepato-biliary complications after HSCT such as hepatic GvHD, infective hepatobiliary diseases and other Drug-Induced Liver Injury (DILI) following clinical definitions[266– 269] were also evaluated. Moreover, patients with liver biochemical alterations were stratified based on the common terminology criteria for adverse events (CTC AE) version 4 [220].

Liver Stiffness Measurements (LSM)

In the monocentric phase, LSM values were assessed bedside of patients by Transient Elastography (TE), using the FibroScan® apparatus with "M" probe (Echosens, Paris, France) after overnight fasting and after a complete abdominal ultrasound (US) examination. In the multicentre phase, the LSM values were evaluated based on the local experience of elastometric techniques, including in addition to TE, also pSWE and 2D-SWE techniques (Figure 06).



(Figure reproduced from Mulazzani et al. J Hepatol. 2019;70(3):545-547)

LSM values were obtained as previously reported [214] and the reliability criteria considered in accordance with the last EFSUMB Guidelines and Recommendations on the Clinical Use of Ultrasound Elastography[208].

Abdominal Ultrasound (US)

All patients underwent baseline gray-scale and colour-doppler US examinations before HSCT when LSM increased and in case of the presence of one among the SOS/VOD clinical signs criteria (Table 02) in the time interval between scheduled time points. US findings, according to Lassau criteria[200], were evaluated. US examination was performed at the bed-side throughout hospitalisation with 3 MHz convex probe.

Supportive care

Patients were allocated in single, air-positive pressure rooms with HEPA-filtered air. Anti-infectious prophylaxis was given, according to the local practice, with levofloxacin and anti-mould drugs (fluconazole for HLA identical sibling transplant and voriconazole in all the other transplants) during the neutropenic phase. All patients received acyclovir and cotrimoxazole in the standard schedule until nine months from transplant or as long as immunosuppression lasted.

CMV and EBV monitoring was performed once-twice a week, according to the risk of the pairs during the first 100 days from transplant and once a month after that. All patients received filtered and irradiated blood products.

Ethics:

This project was conducted following the Helsinki Declaration and approved by the local institutional review committee [Institutional Ethics Committee of the Sant'Orsola-Malpighi University Hospital (Bologna, Italy)]; protocol number 125/2015/O/ Sper. (monocentric phase) and 95/2017/U/Sper. (multicentric phase). Subsequently, the protocol was approved for confirmation by all the local institutional review committees of the participating centres involved. Written informed consent was obtained from each patient before inclusion in the study.

Data management: REDCap Sofware

Data were collected and managed using REDCap electronic data capture tools hosted at the Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences (DIMEC), University of Bologna, Italy [270,271].

Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) is a free web application developed by a Vanderbilt University IT team to acquire data for clinical research and to create databases and projects. It is compliant with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), US legislation that provides privacy and data security provisions to safeguard medical information and is highly secure and intuitive to use. The REDCap project was developed to provide scientific research teams with intuitive and reusable tools for collecting, archiving and disseminating clinical research data specific to a given project. Some key features can be identified to support the use of REDCap for project implementation and data acquisition [132]:

- Collaborative access to data between departments and academic institutions;
- User authentication and role-specific security;
- Intuitive electronic data collection (eCRF) cards;
- Validation of data in real-time, verification of completeness of the information and other mechanisms that guarantee the quality of the data collected;
- Ability to assign and control data;
- Data storage and sharing;
- Centralised data storage and backup;
- Data export function in statistical programs;
- Batch import function of data from other systems;
- Possibility to host multiple projects simultaneously;
- A tool can meet the different data collection needs of projects related to a wide range of scientific disciplines.

To access REDCap, you must be aware of an institutional agreement with Vanderbilt University. REDCap is a flexible tool that can be used
on multiple operating systems such as Windows and Mac, and a Web server is required. Usually, there is an electronic archive administrator who performs the installations to start updates and support users, who need a device connected to the Internet and a REDCap account to use this online platform. It is also useful for users to have a data analysis tool, such as Microsoft Excel, SAS, SPSS, to manage and evaluate data collected by REDCap projects.

A fundamental prerequisite when collecting data for a study is the revision and approval of the project by the Ethics Committee. It is also essential to define the data to be collected before starting to build a project, since having clear the objective for which these data are collected is an important step that determines how to organise data collection on REDCap.

REDCap	STUDIO MULTIC	ENTRICO ITAL	IANO "ELASTOVOD					
 Logged in as admin.elastovod Log out My Projects 	A Project Home	i≡ Project Setup	Other Functionality	၅ Project Revision History				
 Project Home or EProject Setup REDCap Messenger Project status: Production 	Quick Tasks	The Codeboo	kisa human raadahla raad o	nly version of the project's Data Diction	200			
ata Collection 📃	Codebook	and serves as	and serves as a quick reference for viewing field attributes.					
 Scheduling Record Status Dashboard Add / Edit Records 	Export data	Build custom	reports for quick views of you	iew in Excel or various stats packages. r data, and export reports to Excel/CSV. screpancies and errors in your project				
Applications 📃	🚨 User Rights		Grant new users access to this project or modify user privileges for current users.					
1 Calendar Data Exports, Reports, and Stats Data Import Tool Data Comparison Tool	Data Dictionary Up	ones using th the current D Create groups	e Online Designer or by uploa ata Dictionary s of users to limit user access t	Illection instruments or modify existing ding a Data Dictionary. Quick link: <u>Dowl</u> o certain records/responses, in which c access records created by users within	nload only			

Figure 07.01: Web-based application REDCap home page for ElastoVOD project

To start a new project, users can use the settings on REDCap to guide them in creating it.

The steps are:

- Determine the main tools of the project and the various fields necessary for data collection, and these can be inserted according to a ramification logic and actions;
- Create event sheets to the planning system that allows you to manage any visits or checks to which the patient must submit; it is also possible to carry out questionnaires that can be sent directly to the patient by e-mail, which is useful for collecting data for the project;
- Set user rights and permissions: the rights of each user who is granted access to the project must be defined individually, depending on the user's profile.

The REDCap platform can be accessed through any personal computer or device connected to the internet, using the URL address of reference. For our department, the REDCap software is hosted at https://redcap.unibo.it/gastroenterologia/

Once present on the electronic archive portal, each authorised investigator is asked to enter their credentials: In the case of multi-centre projects, personal credentials lead the investigator back to their centre of membership, and this will only have access to the data of the enrolled patients belonging to their centre. Only the administrator has access to the data of all the centres involved in the project (**Figure 07**).

Access control is entirely configurable: the project owner can authorise access to study staff and users can be marked and removed from data exports based on the conditions set by the study protocol.



Figure 07.02: Web-based application REDCap Record status dashboard page for ElastoVOD project

Every operation performed on this platform is monitored and can be quickly recovered; this ensures a certain degree of security with regards to the management of the data entered within this electronic archive. Furthermore, all the tools and data registered on REDCap are hosted on secure servers, and a backup can be performed at regular intervals, to ensure that no information is lost. Users are not required to have any basic knowledge to use REDCap, but for each module and function, video tutorials and help texts are available on the site that allows a steep learning curve. Once the personal credentials have been entered in the login page, the main page of the eCRF will be accessed, and it will be possible, by clicking on 'Add / Edit Records', to access the screen for entering the new patient.

A key code must identify each entered record. The REDCap platform, to protect the identity of the persons involved in the study, generates a unique identification code associated with its data collection cards for each subject, which allows each centre to maintain the association with the patient's data.

If several centres are involved in the study, it is a good idea to assign to each centre an identification code to be inserted in the ID-record to distinguish the records based on the centre to which it belongs.

Once the ID record has been created, the "Record Home Page" is accessed. The investigator will have to complete the tools on this page during the study period. By clicking on the "buttons", the different tools to be completed will open, entering the necessary data.

REDCap	STUDIO MULTICENTRICO ITALIA	ANO "ELASTOVOD"
Logged in as admin.elastoved Log out My Projects Project Home or i≡ Project Setup REDCap Messenger Project status: Production		selecting it from the drop-down lists below. To create a new record/response, type a r Enter. To quickly find a record without using the drop-downs, the text box will auto- egin to type in it, allowing you to select it.
Data Collection	Total records: 485	
Scheduling Record Status Dashboard Add / Edit Records	Choose an existing Record ID Enter a new or existing Record ID	select record 💠
Applications		
Calendar Data Exports, Reports, and Stats Data Import Tool	Data Search	
Data Comparison Tool Eleging	Choose a field to search (excludes multiple choice fields)	All fields
 File Repository User Rights and DAGs Record Locking Customization E-signature and Locking Mgmt 	Search query Begin typing to search the project data, then click an item in the list to navigate to that record.	
Data Quality and Secolve Issues API and API Playground REDCap Mobile App		N

Figure 07.03: Web-based application REDCap ID records management page for ElastoVOD project

REDCap	STUDIO MULTICENTRICO ITA	LIANO "EL	ASTOV	JD						
 Logged in as admin.elastovod Log out 	Record Home Page									
 My Projects Project Home or E Project Setup REDCap Messenger Project status: Production 	The grid below displays the form-by-form progress of data entered for the currently selected record. You may click on the colored status icons to access that form/event. If you wish, you may modify the events below by navigating to the <u>Define My Events</u> page.						tuses (all same)			
Data Collection 📃	🖸 Choose action for record 🗢									
Scheduling Record Status Dashboard Add / Edit Records	008_Bergamo - ASST P		cord ID C		Bergamo - d	ott.ssa Grass				
E Record ID 001 Select other record					VISITA	VISITA	VISITA			
Applications	Data Collection Instrument	t	VISITA PRE- TCSE	TCSE (+0)	1 POST- TCSE (+9- 10)	2 POST- TCSE (+15- 17)	3 POST- TCSE (+22- 24)	VALUTAZIONI EXTRA	DIAGNOSI VOD/SOS	FINE STUDIO
🛅 Data Comparison Tool	Consensi Informati		۲							
Logging Logging Logen Logen Secord Locking Customization E-signature and Locking Mgmt	Anamnesi Ematologica		۲							
	Anamnesi Patologica Remota - Anamnesi	i Epatologica	۲							
	Eco-Color Doppler Addome Superiore - P	RE-TCSE	۲							
	Elastometria Epato-Splenica - PRE-TCSE		۲							
Data Quality and SResolve Issues	Biochimica e Laboratorio - PRE-TCSE		۲							
API and API Playground REDCap Mobile App	Elastometria Epato-Splenica - POST-TCSE				۲	۲	۲			
	Biochimica e Laboratorio - POST-TCSE				۲	۲	۲			
eports / Edit reports 🖃	Criteri Diagnostici per VOD/SOS				۲	۲	۲			
Stato Inserimento Record Periodo di Osservazione Speciale	RUCAM-CIOMS SCALE for Drug Induced L	iver Injury			۲	۲	۲			
Report	Valutazione EXTRA							• +		
Report (copy) Report (copy) (copy)	Altre Metodiche Diagnostiche							• +		
OUTCOME VOD INCIDENCE	Diagnosi VOD/SOS								۲	
	Valutazione POST-DIAGNOSI								• +	
elp & Information 📃	Scheda di Fine Studio									
∂ Help & FAQ ☐ Video Tutorials	Annotazioni									
Suggest a New Feature	Data Quality		0		0		0	0		
Contact REDCap administrator	Delete all data on event:		×		×	×	×	×	×	×
	Repeating Instruments									
		Alutazione EXT ALUTAZIONI EXTRA			Altre Meto Diagnostic	he	9			
	1		/ 		1					
	+ Add new	+ Ad	id new			+ Add new				

Figure 07.04: Web-based application REDCap Record home page with all instrument for ElastoVOD project

On the REDCap platform, there is also a Scheduling function (programming), through which appointments for each Record are automatically generated, and one of Calendar (calendaring) synchronised; this facilitates the organisation of visits or events planned within the project.

REDCap	STUDI		ICENTRICO I	TAL	IANO "ELASTOV	OD"			
Logged in as admin.elastovod Log out	🛅 Cale	🛅 Calendar 😵 VIDEO: How to use the calendar (7 min							
 My Projects Project Home or I≡ Project Setup REDCap Messenger Project status: Production 	upcoming below. To	g events. It add a nev	will allow you to a note or calendar	dd or event	project calendar within 1 modify calendar events to any day, click +New ents for this project, you	s and then view them at the top of that day	either in a daily, week 's box to begin enterin	y, or monthly format g the information.	
Data Collection 📃	Events, w	hich will th	en be added to th	e cale	ndar.				
Scheduling Record Status Dashboard Add / Edit Records	Day	Week	Month Agenda						
Applications				-	October \$ 201	9 🕈 🕨	🚔 Print Caler	<u>idar</u>	
📅 Calendar		unday	Monday		Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday
Data Exports, Reports, and Stats Data Import Tool Data Comparison Tool Datging File Repository User Rights and					+ New 1 ☆ 035A_070_GA.RO (VAL ☆ 035A_071_B0.MA (VAL ☆ 007/P_016_MO.AR (FIN ☆ VE_LU (TCSE (+0)) [00 ☆ 035A_078_PE.FA (VISIT	+ New 2	+ New 3	+ New 4 ☆ 035A_072_DE.AN (VISI ☆ 035A_073_BA.MH (VAL ☆ 035A_076_GU.GJ (VISIT	+ New
Record Locking Customization Seignature and Locking Mgmt Data Quality and <i>Q</i> Resolve Issues API and API Playground REDCap Mobile App	+ New		6 + New 035A_072_DE.AN 035A_072_DE.AN 035A_073_BA.MH 035A_073_BA.MH 035A_074_ST.AG +2 more	(DIAG (DIA (FINE		+ New 9 ☆ 035A_074_ST.AG (DIAG ☆ 035A_075_MA.MA (VISI ☆ 035A_077_FA.AL (VISIT	+ New 10 ☆ 035A_074_ST.AG (FINE ☆ 001/A_149_PI.EN (VISI ☆ 001/A_148_VE.LU (VISI ☆ VE_LU (VISITA 1 POST	+ New 11 1 035A_075_MA.MA (VAL 1 035A_075_MA.MA (DIA 1 035A_076_GU.GJ (VISIT 1 035A_078_PE.FA (TCSE 1 007/P_017_RY.VI (VISIT	+ New BRESCIA016 (VISITA 1
Reports / Edit reports -	+ New	1		14	+ New 15	+ New 16	+ New 17	+ New 18	+ New
) Stato Inserimento Record) Periodo di Osservazione Speciale) Report) Report (copy)) Report (copy) (copy)			☆ 035A_075_MA.MA ☆ 035A_076_GU.GJ ☆ 001/A_150_FI.GI ☆ 035A_080_PU.RA	(VALU (VISIT	☆ 035A_079_GI.VI (TCSE	☆ 035A_076_GU.GJ (FINE ☆ 035A_077_FA_AL (VISIT		☆ 035A_077_FA.AL (VALU ☆ 035A_077_FA.AL (DIAG ☆ 007/P_017_RY.VI (VISIT	IN BRESCIA016 (VISITA 2
	+ New	2	0 + New	21	+ New 22	+ New 23	+ New 24	+ New 25	+ New 2
Help & Information			☆ 035A_077_FA.AL ☆ 035A_078_PE.FA		. ☆ 035A_080_PU.RA (TCSE		☆ VE_LU (VISITA 3 POST ☆ 035A_079_GI.VI (VISIT	☆ 007/P_017_RY.VI (VISIT	☆ VE_LU (VALUTAZIONI ☆ BRESCIA016 (VISITA 3
 Help & FAQ Video Tutorials 									
C Suggest a New Feature		2 DIAGNOSI VOL 17_RY.VI (VAL))/ 🚖 VE_LU (FINE STU	UTAZI (VISIT	☆ 007/P_017_RY.VI (FINE	+ New 30 ☆ BRESCIA016 (FINE STU	+ New 31 ☆ 035A_079_GLVI (VISIT ☆ 035A_080_PU.RA (VISIT		

Figure 07.05: Web-based application REDCap Calendar and scheduling page for ElastoVOD project

All data entered is subject to a revision system that must be implemented from the beginning of data collection to detect any data entry errors or update data entry instructions, if necessary. Several tools allow data review:

- a) Automatic controls during data entry or import: REDCap automatically checks if the information is entered with correct formatting and if there are missing values in the mandatory entry fields;
- b) Monitoring of data review: each data entry form has a status that can be used to track data entry and data review progress; different colours are presently based on the data entry status
- c) Report generator: allows users to create, save, export and print customised data reports. Once the report has been saved, it can be viewed by all users who have been granted access to the project. For example, it is possible to create reports to check the chronological order of the dates present in the various events.
- d) PDF: the data of one or all records can be downloaded in a single PDF file that contains the data entry page and the data of all or a single instrument. It can be used if the data needs to be shared in a short time;
- e) Graphical display and statistics: you can view any data report in aggregate graph format and as descriptive statistics.
- f) Data export: data can be exported to Excel, SAS, SPSS, R or STATA;
- g) Data quality module: the purpose of this module is to help you quickly find discrepancies and errors in the project. This

module contains rules that can be customised and the same can be used at any time during the study. Users can also exclude any results that they do not wish to see in future analyses.

When the data review is complete, the project can be moved to the inactive mode, and the data can be viewed, but it cannot be changed or deleted. The database is thus ready for statistics.

Spread and Implementation of Research Findings

An internet site (<u>www.elastovod.it</u>) has been developed to increase the dissemination to the scientific community of the results and the project network. The multicentric study protocol has been published on ClinicalTrial.gov (<u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/NCT03426358</u>).

Sample size calculation

No sample size was calculated for the first phase of the project (monocentric) Then, for the multicentric part of the project, we determined the sample size by estimating the proportion (Confidence Intervals for One Proportion Technique, PASS Sample Size Software)[272,273]. A sample size of 595 produces a two-sided 95% confidence interval [0.078 – 0.128] with a width equal to 0,050

when the sample proportion is 0,100. Considering an dropout rate of 20%, to preserve statistical significance, the total number of subjects who must be enrolled in the multicenter study is 744 patients.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using Stata/SE (Version 15.1; Stata Corp, Texas, United States of America) for Windows; continuous variables are expressed as median and values of 25% and 75% percentiles; categorical data are expressed as numbers (percentages). For group comparisons of categorical and continuous variables, Chi-square test or Mann-Whitney test and McNemar's test were used, as appropriate. Multiple linear regression analysis was performed to establish a regression equation able to predict the CCI preoperatively after HR. Univariate logistic regression analyses were performed to predict the risk factors of SOS/VOD development after HSCT. After evaluation of the multicollinearity, multivariable logistic regression analyses were carried out on variables which reached p<0.1 at univariate analysis. The final multivariate regression model was built from the set of candidate variables by removing the predictors based on p values, in a stepwise manner. For multivariable logistic regression, the model discrimination and calibration were reported together with AIC (Akaike information criterion) and BIC (Bayesian information criterion) measures for comparing maximum likelihood models. Model discrimination was assessed calculating the Area under the Receiver Operator Characteristic (AUROC) curve (or c-statistic), whereas model calibration was determined by Hosmer-Lemeshow (H-L) technique and AIC assessed the goodness of fit of the models. Basing on the multivariable logistic regression model, the novel nomogram was built and internally validated using bootstrap resampling. We made an a priori decision to consider only models with AUROC c-statistic \geq 0.70 adequate and to test the equality of the area under the curves, DeLong test was performed [274]. All p values referred to two-tailed tests of significance. P<0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Monocentric paediatric population

During the study period, 22 (16 males, six females, mean age: 140 months, min 54, max 245) out of 30 patients who had undergone HSCT were enrolled according to the previously defined inclusion criteria. The indication for HSCT and the baseline clinical and demographic characteristics of the patients enrolled are shown in **Table 06**.

Subject 1umber	Sex	Age (year)	Diagnosis	Conditioning regimen	Type of SCT	VOD	Day after HSCT	VOD treatment
1	М	5.7	AML	BU-MEL-CPM-ATG	MUD	No		
2	F	12.2	ALL	BU-THIO-CPM-ATG	MUD	Yes	22	Defibrotide
3	Μ	5	ALL	FLUDA-TREO-MEL-ATG	MUD	No		
4	F	20.4	ALL	BU-THIO-CPM	Sibling	Yes	25	Paracentesis
5	М	8.4	Ewing sarcoma	BU-MEL	Autologous	Yes	24	Diuretics+UDCA
6	М	4.5	ALL	BU-THIO-CPM+ ATG	PMUD	Liver	•	Diuretics+UDCA
		1.0			-	toxicity		
7	М	9.4	Beta-thalassemia	THIO-FLUDA-TREO- ATG	Sibling	No		
8	F	14.5	Severe aplastic anemia	FLUDA-CPM-ATG	PMUD	Liver toxicity	11	Diuretics+UDCA
9	М	15.8	Severe aplastic	THIO-FLUDA-TREO- ATG	Sibling	No		
			anaemia					
10	Μ	6	Beta-thalassemia	BU-THIO-FLUDA-ATG	PMUD	No		
11	Μ	19	AML	TREO-THIO-FLUDA	Sibling	No		
12	М	15.8	AML	TREO-THIO- FLUDA+ATG	PMUD	No		
13	Μ	13.2	AML	TREO-THIO-FLUDA	Haploidentical	No		
14	F	11.4	ALL	TREO-THIO-CPM	MFD	No		
15	Μ	16.5	LH REC	FLUDA+ MEL	Sibling	No		
16	F	9.3	Beta-thalassemia	BU+FLUDA+THIO	MUD	No		
17	М	10.6	AML	FLUDA+TREO+THIO	MUD	Yes	19	Defibrotide+ Diuretics
18	F	16.9	Severe aplastic anaemia	FLUDA-CPM-ATG	MUD	No		
19	М	5.4	ALL (relapse)	TREO-THIO-FLUDA	Haploidentical	GvHD		Defibrotide
20	M	5.4 8.7	Ewing sarcoma	BU-MEL	Autologous	No		Denbiotide
20	M	0./ 14.8	ALL (relapse)	BU-THIO-FLUDA-ATG	Haploidentical	No		
21 22	M	14.8 13.6	Ewing sarcoma	BU-MEL	Autologous	No		

Abbreviations: ALL = acute lymphoblastic leukemia; AML = acute myeloid leukemia; ATG = anti thymocyte globulin; BU = busulphan; CPM = cyclophosphamide; CPMpost = CPM after HSCT; F = female; FLUDA = fludarabine; GvHD = graft-vs-host disease; M = male; MEL = melphalan; MFD = matchedfamily donor; MUD = HLA matched unrelated donor; PMUD = HLA partially unrelated matched; THIO = thiotepa; TREO = treosulfan; UDCA =Ursodeoxycoholic acid.

Table 06. Demographic and clinical characteristics of patients

enrolled in the monocentric population

Except for patients 5, 20 and 22 who had Ewing's sarcoma and had undergone autologous transplantation, all patients underwent allogeneic transplantation. Table 06 also reports the pre-HSCT conditioning regimens. Patients 2, 4, 5 and 17 developed VOD; according to the diagnostic criteria, our patients were classified as moderate VOD (all necessary treatment, no one died from VOD). Patients 6 and 8 developed a clinical picture suggestive of liver toxicity; patient 19 developed GvHD.

The TE measurement was successful in all patients; none had ascites as documented by the preliminary during TE assessment, ultrasonography examination. The LS value for each assessment and the VOD diagnosis are shown in Figure 08; no evident differences were observed at baseline LS values between patients who developed VOD and those who did not. Of the patients who developed VOD, patient 2 had an increase in LS 18 days after HSCT, developing VOD 4 days later; patient 4 had an increase in LS 17 days after HSCT, developing VOD 5 days later; patient 5 had an increase in LS 18 days after HSCT, developing VOD 6 days later and patient 17 had an increase in LS 16 days after HSCT, developing VOD 3 days later. The LS values increased in the measurement carried out before VOD diagnosis, and these values were different from the baseline and the previous values.

In the two patients who developed liver toxicity, there was a gradual and early increase in LS, starting from the fifth day after HSCT. Of these patients, the first one had spontaneous resolution of the liver toxicity, and the second one developed multi-organ failure and died on day 44 after HSCT.



Figure 08. Variation of LS values at each determination for all patients

At T2 in patient 2, LS suddenly increased four days before VOD; in patient 4, LS suddenly increased five days before VOD; in patient 5, LS suddenly increased six days before VOD and in patient 17, LS suddenly increased three days before VOD (continuous lines). The early LS values which progressively increased in patients who developed liver toxicity (dashed lines). The LS values in patients without liver complications (dotted lines).

In a subgroup of patients, we also assessed the changes in LS values after SOS/VOD diagnosis and treatment. The patient's characteristic was reported in Table 07.

Characteristics	Patient 1	Patient 2	Patient 3
Age (y)	7	14	8
Sex	F	F	F
Diagnosis	ALL B Ph +	ALL B	ALL T
Stem Cell Source	BM	BM	BM
Cells received	12.0 × 10 ⁸ /kg	$5.5 \times 10^8 / \text{kg}$	$6.3 \times 10^8 / \text{kg}$
Type of STC	MUD	PMUD	MUD
Conditioning Regimen	BU-THIO-CPM-ATG	BU-THIO-CPM	BU-THIO-CPM-ATG
GvHD prophylaxis	Ciclosporin-MTX	Ciclosporin-MTX	Ciclosporin-MTX
GvHD	Yes (skin, grade 1)	No	No
Day of VOD diagnosis	25	18	19

Table 07: Demographic and clinical characteristics of thepaediatrics patients followed after VOD diagnosis

Abbreviation: ALL, acute lymphoblastic leukaemia; ATG, anti-thymocyte globulin; BM, bone marrow; BU, busulphan; CPM, cyclophosphamide; GvHD, graft-versus-host disease; MTX, methotrexate; MUD, matched unrelated donor; PMUD partially matched unrelated donor; STC, stem cell transplant; THIO, thiotepa.

Case I



Figure 09.01: Clinical course of patient CASE I

The first patient (Table 07, Figure 09.01) underwent HSCT for ALL Ph+. Conditioning regimen included busulphan (0.8 mg/kg from -8 to -5), thiotepa (10 mg/kg on -4), cyclophosphamide (60 mg/kg -3

and –2), and thymoglobulin (rabbit anti-thymocyte globulin (ATG) 2 mg/kg from –4 to 0.2); for GvHD prophylaxis, ciclosporin (3 mg/kg iv from –1 to +35, than orally) and short-term methotrexate (respectively 12/8/8/8 mg/m² on days +1/+3/+6/+11) were used. Preconditioning regimen liver stiffness and the first two valuations after SCT were below the cut-off of 8 kPa. Neutrophil and platelet engraftment was achieved on day +13 and day +48, respectively.

On day +25, for the presence of hyperbilirubinemia (2.17 mg/dL), weight gain >5% above baseline value, painful hepatomegaly, and transaminase elevation (AST 273 U/I, ALT 132 U/I), the diagnosis of SOS/VOD were made. On the same day, liver stiffness measurement was performed, revealing a pathological value (34.3 kPa), and supportive therapy (albumin, diuretics, antithrombin III) and treatment with defibrotide (25 mg/kg) were started. The clinical condition of the patient improved rapidly together with the normalisation of transaminase and bilirubin in the following days; there was no trans- fusion-refractory thrombocytopenia. On day +33, defibrotide was stopped, and another measurement of liver stiffness was performed, showing a decreased value of 9.6 kPa. The last liver stiffness on day +47 was normal: 5.1 kPa. The patient was later dismissed on day +53.

Case II



Figure 09.02: Clinical course of patient CASE II

The second patient (Table 07, Figure 09.02) underwent HSCT for a relapsed B-lineage ALL. Conditioning regimen was based on busulphan (0.8 mg/kg from -8 to -5), thiotepa (10 mg/kg on -4), cyclophosphamide (60 mg/kg -3 and -2); GVHD prophylaxis consisted of ciclosporin (3 mg/kg iv from -1 to +33, then orally) and short-term methotrexate (respectively 12/8/8/8 mg/m² on days +1/+3/+6/+11). The basal value of liver stiffness at conditioning regimen start was 3.6 kPa.

Neutrophil and platelet engraftment was achieved on day +19 and day +39, respectively. On day +18, the patient displayed a significant gain of weight concomitantly with hyperbilirubinemia (4.52 mg/dL), painful hepatomegaly, and transfusion-refractory thrombocytopenia: thus, VOD/ SOS/VOD was diagnosed, supportive therapy (albumin, diuretics, anti-thrombin III) and treatment with defibrotide (25 mg/kg) started.

The next-day valuation of the liver stiffness was performed, showing a pathological value of 33 kPa. The measurement was carried out multiple times in the following weeks as we noticed a progressive decreasing trend, alongside the normalisation of bilirubinaemia and the improvement of the patient's clinical condition (22 kPa on +21, 12 kPa on +26, eight kPa on +34, and 5.8 kPa on 48). Defibrotide was weaned on day +40 (12.5 mg/kg) and stopped on day +46. The patient was discharged on day +50.

Case III





The third patient (Table 07, Figure 09.03) underwent HSCT for highrisk T-lineage ALL. Conditioning regimen included busulphan (0.8 mg/ kg from -8 to -5), thiotepa (10 mg/kg on -4), cyclophosphamide (60 mg/kg -3 and -2), and thymoglobulin (rabbit ATG 5 mg/kg from -4 and -2); for GVHD prophylaxis, ciclosporin (3 mg/kg iv from -1 to +20, than orally) and short-term methotrexate (respectively 15/10/10 mg/m² on days +1/+3/+6) were used. Preconditioning regimen liver stiffness and the first two valuations after SCT were lower than eight kPa. Neutrophil engraftment was achieved on day +12. On day +19, the patient presented painful hepatomegaly and unexplained gain of weight; a measurement of liver stiffness was performed, showing a pathological value of 15 kPa. Diagnosis of severe SOS/VOD was made, and therapy with defibrotide (25 mg/kg) started.

In the following days, there was a further progressive gain of weight alongside rising bilirubinaemia (max value 4.1 mg/dL on +25), so another LS measurement was performed that resulted dramatically increased since the last one (36.8 kPa on +24). A bladder catheter was placed, and furosemide infusion began, for the worsening of renal function. During the next two weeks, four more evaluations with TE were carried out: These resulted progressively decreased (29.1 kPa on day +31, 23.1 kPa on day +34, 11.6 kPa on day +40) and became, at last, standard (6.9 kPa on day +47). Treatment with defibrotide was stopped on day +41. After the diagnosis of SOS/VOD, the patient needed daily platelet transfusion and, even at the moment of discharge (day +53), full platelet engraftment was not obtained.

Monocentric adult population

Over the study period, of the 89 patients referred to the transplant centre, two were excluded because of BMI>40 and ACLD at enrolment; 9 patients did not perform HSCT (unavailable donor or progression of the disease) after being initially enrolled. As shown by **Figure 10**, 78 patients fulfilled all the inclusion criteria and underwent HSCT. During the study period, two patients were transferred to the Intensive Care Unit (ICU), and four patients died for not-liver related causes. One patient died because of severe SOS/VOD.



Figure 10: Study flow-chart of the monocentric adult cohort

The clinical and transplant characteristics of the patients enrolled are shown in **Table 08**, respectively. Prior to HSCT (from the diagnosis of haematological disease to 10 days before transplantation), almost all patients (92.3%) underwent blood transfusions (median ferritin level 738 ng/mL (68 - 1333) and 32 (41.1%) have received more than 20 red cells blood transfusions; the baseline median LSM was 4.2 kPa (3.8-5.3).

During the study period, 4 out of 78 patients (5.1%) met the clinical diagnostic criteria of SOS/VOD. The median day of clinical SOS/VOD diagnosis was +17 (+4 - +28). The features of patients who developed SOS/VOD are reported in **Table 09.** Most of the SOS/VOD were severe/very severe (3/4), and one of them led to MOF and death a few days later (pts.3). These patients received a higher number of blood transfusion (>20) before HSCT and MAC regimen based on Busulfan or Cyclophosphamide (4/4) than the patients who did not develop SOS/VOD (**Table 10**).

Accordingly, with SOS/VOD Risk Factors by EBMT, **Table 11** shows that among pre-HSCT risk factors, the patients underwent previous therapy with Inotuzumab ozogamicin (INO) (3/4) or others hepatoxic drugs (1/4) and presented pre-HCST iron overload (2/4). With regards to the US findings at SOS/VOD diagnosis **(Table 12)**, according to Lassau criteria [200] (increased diagnostic likelihood when fulfilled \geq three criteria): three patients (3/4) presented \geq 3 Grey-scale US morphologic criteria, and none presented \geq 3 US colour doppler criteria. Only portal vein diameter >12 mm was presented in all patients with SOS/VOD diagnosis.





LSM values for each time points were reported in **Figure 11**; LSM showed increased values in all patients who developed SOS/VOD (continuous red lines). The pre-HSCT (To) LSM did not differ

between patients with or without (6.9 kPa vs 4.2 kPa; p-value 0.079) SOS/VOD diagnosis. The LSM values increased in the assessment carried out before SOS/VOD clinical diagnosis, and these values were significantly different from the To and the previous assessments. In general, the LSM values showed a sudden increase some days (from 2 to 12) before the clinical SOS/VOD diagnosis (**Table 09**).



Figure 12: Variation in LSM values after SOS/VOD-specific

treatment of patients with SOS/VOD diagnosis

After starting SOS/VOD specific treatment (Defibrotide and diuretics) LSM values consensually decreased, reaching pre-transplant LS values within 2-4 weeks after SOS/VOD diagnosis; one

patient, who died 20 days after severe SOS/VOD diagnosis, did not show the LSM decrease (**Figure 12**).

Logistic regression analysis demonstrated that an LSM increase after HSCT over pre-HSCT assessment, was significantly associated with SOS/VOD diagnosis (OR: 1.837; 95%CI [1.1107- 3.0384] pvalue<0.001); furthermore, ROC analysis of LSM increase over pre-HSCT assessment resulted in an AUC of 0.997 with a sensitivity of 75% and specificity of 98.7%. For instance, an increase of \geq +10 kPa over pre-LSM-HSCT assessment have shown a sensitivity of 100% and specificity of 98.7% for SOS/VOD diagnosis.

During the study period, among patients who did not develop SOS/VOD (n=74), 62 patients had shown no or mild-to-moderate therapy-associated complications without severe involvement of the liver after HSCT (CTC grades 0-3). In 12 cases, severe liver complications (CTC 4-5) occurred: n=2 acute cholecystitis, n=1 cholangitis, n=2 DILI related to antimycotic drugs, n=1 hepatic GvHD, n=5 isolated liver biochemical alterations and n=1 died after a fulminant EBV-related hepatitis reactivation.

The median LSM after HSCT maximum values reached in group CTC 0-3 (6.1 kPa; 5kPa – 6.8kPa), were not significantly different (pvalues 0.724) compared to patients in group CTC 4-5 (6.6 kPa; 4.8kPa –8.6kPa). Median LSM after HSCT maximum values reached

140

significantly different ones (p-value<0.001) when we compared patients with CTC 4-5 to patients with SOS/VOD development (**Figure 13**).





Regardless of this, only in the case of a 67-year-old patient with Philadelphia positive acute lymphoblastic leukemia, as shown in **Figure 11**, LSM showed a sudden increase (13.5 kPa) in the absence of any clinical signs of VOD / SOS; in the following month the patient presented mildly painful hepatomegaly, and developed a tender abdomen with ascites. For SOS/VOD suspicion a trans-jugular liver biopsy was performed (HVPG=21 mmHg) which described a widespread dilatation of hepatic sinusoids, with a massive presence of atypical elements, as B Lymphoblastic Leukaemia infiltration; at the same day, LSM values was 20 kPa.

We believe that the case described above is an uncommon clinical situation in which the infiltration of liver sinusoids by leukaemia mimics the presence of sinusoidal obstruction typical of the pathogenesis of VOD / SOS/VOD after HSCT.

Characteristic	Study population (N = 78)	Without VOD/SOS (n = 74; 94.9%)	With VOD/SOS (n = 4; 5.1%)	P Value*
Male sex, n (%)	39 (50)	37 (50)	2 (50)	1
Age, yr, median (IQR)	54 (40-60)	54 (41-60)	46 (31-60)	.696
BMI, kg/m ² , median (IQR)	25 (22.6-27.5)	25.1 (23-27.5)	21.5 (21.1-23.8)	.358
Ethnicity				.106
Caucasian	73 (93.6)	70 (94.5)	3 (75)	
African/African American	3 (3.8)	3 (4.1)	0(0)	
Asiatic	2 (2.6)	1 (1.4)	1 (25)	
Diagnosis, n (%)				.133
Acute myelogenous leukemia	35 (44.9)	34 (45.9)	1 (25)	
Acute lymphoblastic leukemia	14 (17.9)	12 (16.2)	2 (50)	
Myelodysplastic syndrome	11 (14.1)	11 (14.9)	0(0)	
Hodgkin lymphoma	5 (6.4)	5 (6.8)	0(0)	
Non-Hodgkin lymphoma	4 (5.1)	4 (5.4)	0(0)	
Multiple myeloma	2 (2.6)	2 (2.7)	0(0)	
Myelofibrosis	3 (3.8)	3 (4.1)	0(0)	
Chronic myelogenous leukemia	3 (3.8)	3 (4.1)	0(0)	
Severe aplastic anemia	1 (1.3)	0(0)	1 (25)	
Blood transfusion history, n (%)				.029
≤20 transfusions	46 (58.9)	46 (62.2)	0(0)	
>20 transfusions	32 (41.1)	28 (37.8)	4(100)	
HCT-CI Sorror total score, median (IQR)	0(0-2)	0 (0-1.5)	2 (.75-3)	.247
LSM at baseline, median (IQR)	4.2 (3.8-5.3)	4.2 (3.8-5.2)	6.9 (5.7-7.8)	.079

Significant P values are in bold type.

HCT-CI indicates hematopoietic cell transplantation comorbidity index. * Wilcoxon rank-sum test/Fisher exact test.

Table 08: Baseline Characteristics of Monocentric Study Population and by SOS/VOD Diagnosis

Patient	Sex, Age, yr	Disease	Baseline LSM, kPa	Number of Risk Factors®	Conditioning Regimen	Clinical VOD/SOS Diagnosis*	Serum Bilirubin >2 mg/d	Hepatomegaly	Weight Increase >5%	Ascites on ultrasound	Decreased Mean PV Flow Velocity	Increased LSM, kPa	VOD/SOS Severity Grading*	Managemen
1	Male, 26	Aplasia	6.4	6	MAC	+7	Yes, +7	Yes, +7	Yes, +7	Yes, +7	No	10.4 at +5; 26.3 at +7	Severe	Defibrotide, diuretics
2	Female, 60	AML	3.7	7	MAC	+1	Yes, +1	Yes, -1	Yes, -1	Yes, +3	Yes, +7	14.4 at -1	Severe	Defibrotide, diuretics
3	Male, 32	ALL	7.4	6	MAC	+27†	Yes, +7	Yes, +27	Yes, +27	Yes, +27	Yes, +46	9.2 at +7; 12.6 at +15; 16.6 at +21; 22.8 at +46	Very severe (MOF)	Defibrotide, diuretics
4	Female, 60	ALL	8.8	6	MAC	+29	Yes, +29	Yes, +29	Yes, +27	No	Yes, +27	11.4 at +18; 34.3 at +26	Moderate	Diuretics

According to Mothy et al [8].
 [†] Diagnosis also made with HVPG assessment (+21 mmHg).

Table 09: Characteristics of Patients with SOS/VOD

Characteristic	Study Population (N = 78)	Without VOD/SOS (n = 74; 94.9%)	With VOD/SOS (n = 4; 5.1%)	P Value*
Conditioning regimen, n (%)				.190
Myeloablative conditioning	52 (66.7)	48 (92.3)	4(7.7)	
TBI-Cy	2(3.8)	2(4.2)	0 (0.0)	.899
TBF	47 (90.5)	45 (93.7)	2 (50)	.523
Bu- Flu	2(3.8)	1(2.1)	1 (25)	.004
Cy200	1(1.9)	0(0.0)	1 (25)	.05
Reduced-intensity conditioning	26(33.3)	26(100)	0(0)	.190
TBF	13(50)	13 (50)	0 (0.0)	.475
TCF	13(50)	13 (50)	0 (0.0)	.475
GVHD prophylaxis, n (%)	5 A			
ATLG-CNI-MTX	73 (93.6)	69 (93.2)	4(100)	.537
CNI-MTX	2(2.6)	2(2.7)	0(0)	.899
CNI-MMF-PT-Cy	3(3.8)	3(4.1)	0(0)	.852
Stem cell donor, n (%)				
Matched related donor	12(15.4)	11 (14.9)	1 (25)	.495
Unrelated donor [†]	53 (67.9)	50 (67.6)	3 (75)	.616
Haploidentical donor	3(3.8)	3(4.1)	0 (0.0)	.852
Cord blood	5(6.4)	5(6.7)	0(0.0)	.721
Stem cell source, n (%)				.676
Peripheral blood	58 (74.4)	54 (73)	4 (100)	
Bone marrow	15(19.2)	15 (20.3)	0(0.0)	
Umbilical cord blood	5(6.4)	5 (6.8)	0(0.0)	

Significant *P* values are in bold type. TBI indicates total body irradiation; Cy, cyclophosphamide; TBF, thiotepa-busulfan-fludarabine; Bu-Flu, busulfan-fludarabine; TCF, thiotepa-cyclophosphamide-flu-darabine; ATLG, anti-T lymphocyte globulin; CNI, calcineurin inhibitor; MTX, methotrexate; MMF, mofetil mycophenolate; PT-Cy, post-transplantation cyclophosphamide.

Fisher exact test.

[†] Thirty-four patients (64.1%) were 10/10 HLA-matched, and 19 (35.9%) were <10/10 HLA-matched.

Table 10: Transplantation Characteristics According to SOS/VOD Occurrence

VOD/SOS Risk Factors	Study Population (n = 78)	Without VOD/SOS (n = 74; 94.9%)	With VOD/SOS (n = 4; 5.1%)	P Value*
Transplantation-related factors				
Unrelated donor	63 (80.8)	60 (81.1)	3 (75)	.582
HLA-mismatched donor	32 (41)	31 (41.9)	1 (25)	.640
Non-T cell-depleted transplant	78 (100)	74 (100)	4(100)	1
Myeloablative conditioning regimen	49 (62.8)	47 (63.5)	2 (50)	.625
Oral or high-dose busulfan-based regimen	62 (79.5)	59 (79.7)	3 (75)	.609
High-dose TBI-based regimen	3 (3.8)	3 (4.1)	0(0)	.852
Second HSCT	7 (9)	6(8.1)	1 (25)	.319
Patient and disease-related factors				
Older age	21 (26.9)	21 (28.4)	0(0)	.569
Karnofsky Performance Status score <90%	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	-
Metabolic syndrome	10(12.8)	9(12.2)	1 (25)	.429
Female receiving norethisterone	3 (3.8)	3 (4.1)	0(0)	.852
Advanced disease (beyond CR2 or relapsed/refractory)	23 (29.5)	21 (28.4)	2 (50)	.577
Thalassemia	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	-
Genetic factors (eg, GSTM1 polymorphism, C282Y allele, MTHFR 677CC/1298CC haplotype)	1 (1.3)	1 (1.4)	0(0)	.949
Hepatic-related factors				
Transaminases 2.5 × ULN	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	-
Serum bilirubin 1.5× ULN	1 (1.3)	1 (1.4)	0(0)	.949
Active viral hepatitis	3 (3.8)	3 (4.1)	0(0)	.852
Cirrhosis	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	-
Abdominal or hepatic irradiation	1 (1.3)	1 (1.4)	0(0)	.949
Previous use of inotuzumab ozogamicin	4 (5.1)	1 (1.4)	3 (75)	<.0000
Other hepatotoxic drugs	2 (2.6)	1 (1.4)	1 (25)	.004
Iron overload	3 (3.8)	1(1.4)	2 (50)	.006

Significant *P* values are in bold type. ULN indicates upper limit of normal.

* Wilcoxon rank-sum test/Fisher exact test.

Table 11: SOS/VOD Risk Factors According to EBMT and by **SOS/VOD Diagnosis**

Criteria	Patient 1	Patient 2	Patient 3	Patient 4
Clinical VOD/SOS diagnosis	+7	+1	+27	+29
Ultrasound and color Doppler criteria	4	3	8	3
Gray-scale ultrasound morphological criteria, n	4	3	6	2
Hepatomegaly	Yes, +7	Yes, +3	Yes, +27	Yes, +26
Splenomegaly	None	None	Yes, +21	None
Gallbladder wall thickening >6 mm	Yes, +7	None	Yes, +27	None
Portal vein diameter >12 mm	Yes, +7	Yes, +7	Yes, +12	Yes, +26
Hepatic vein diameter <3 mm	None	None	None	None
Ascites	Yes, +7	Yes, +3	Yes, +27	None
Visualization of paraumbilical vein	None	None	Yes, +27	None
Ultrasound color Doppler criteria, n	0	0	2	1
Mean portal flow velocity <10 cm/s or hepatofugal flow	None	None	None	None
Flow recorded in paraumbilical vein	None	None	Yes, +27	Yes +26
Monophasic flow or flow recorded in hepatic veins	None	None	None	None
Hepatic Artery Resistive Index >.75	-	_	Yes, +27	None

Table 12: US Criteria According to Lassau et al. in patients withSOS/VOD

Interim analyses of the multicentric



In the following, we reported the interim analysis carried out on the patients' cohort of the Italian multicentre study ElastoVOD enrolled before September 2019. Among the 502 patients who underwent HSCT and enrolled in the study, 46 left and were excluded from the intermediate analyses (**Figure 14**). Most of these were adult patients (83%). During the study period, 20 patients developed SOS / VOD (4.4%). The prevalence of SOS / VOD in the paediatric and adult fields was significantly higher (p-value =0.003) and was 12% and 3% respectively.



Figure 14: Study flow-chart of the population of the Multicentrer ElastoVOD study since September 2019

The clinical and transplant characteristics of the patients enrolled were summarised in **Table 13**. In these interim analyses, in a large cohort of patients, sex, age, history of blood transfusions, BMI, type of haematological diagnosis, were associated with the SOS / VOD diagnosis. Furthermore, although not wholly statistically significant (p-value =0.081), in the group of patients manifested SOS/VOD, the baseline value of liver stiffness was higher than those that had not. That result was in line with what we observed in the adult cohort as well.

	Study population (September 2019) n = 456	Without VOD/SOS n = 436 (93.6%)	With VOD/SOS n = 20 (4.4 %)	p-value"
Gender (Male)	287 (63%)	278 (63%)	9 (45%)	0.053
Age, median (25 th -75 th)	49 (26 – 60)	51 (28 – 60)	25 (9 - 40)	0.0014
				0.003
Adults Paediatric	379 (83%) 77 (17%)	368 (84%) 68 (16%)	11 (55%) 9 (45%)	
BMI (kg/m²), median (25 th -75 th)	24.1 (20.9 – 27)	24.1 (20.6 – 26.7)	21.3 (18.4 – 22.9)	0.0127
Ethnicity				0.264
Caucasian African/African American Latin American Asiatic	421 (92.3%) 11 (2.3%) 10 (2.3%) 14 (3.1%)	404 (92.6%) 11 (2.5%) 9 (2.1%) 12 (2.8%)	17 (85%) 0 (0.0%) 1 (5%) 2 (10%)	
Diagnosis				0.027
Acute Myeloid Leukemia Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Myelodysplastic Syndrome Hodgkin Lymphoma Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma Multiple Myeloma Myelofibrosis Chronic Myeloid Leukemia Thalassemia Ewing's sarcoma Medullary aplasia Combined immunodeficiencies Sickle cell disease	36.5% 19.2% 7.7% 5.8% 3.5% 4.6% 3.1% 2.4% 1.9% 1.5% 1.2% 0.4%	40.7% 14.2% 8.3% 4.3% 7.1% 5.9% 3.2% 2.4% 1.6% 1.2% 1.6% 0.4%	31.6% 36.8% 0% 5.3% 0% 5.3% 5.3% 5.3% 5.3% 0% 0%	
Hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis Paroxysmal Nocturnal	0.4%	0.4%	0%	
Haemoglobinurias	0.4%	0.4%	0%	

Table 13. Baseline features of the ElastoVOD study population and by VOD/SOS diagnosis

median (25 th -75 th) Liver Stiffness Measurement at Baseline, median (25 th - 75 th)	0.97 (0 - 9) 4.40 (3.6 - 5.5)	0 (0 - 2) 4.2 (3.6 - 5.3)	0.5 (0 - 2.25) 4.9 (4.3 - 6.4)	0.3763 0.0808
>20 transfusions HCT-CI Sorror total score,	235 (51.5%)	218 (50%)	17 (86.7%)	
Blood Transfusion History ≤20 transfusions	221 (48.5%)	218 (50%)	3 (13.3%)	0.0304
Severe Aplastic Anaemia Others	1.9% 6.2%	1.6% 7.1%	1.7% 0%	

Values are indicated as n (%) unless otherwise defined; *Wilcoxon rank-sum test/ Fisher Exact Test. Abbreviations: BMI Body Mass Index; HCT-CI Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation – Comorbidity Index

In the 47 centres involved, the techniques of transient elastography (FibroScan®) were the most represented (87%). Among the point and 2D Shear Wave techniques, the Philips devices, SuperSonic Images and Siemens were the most used by the centres.



Figure 15: pie chart of the distribution of elastography techniques in the centres involved in the ElastoVOD Multicenter study. A) Chart of elastography techniques according to the applied physical principle; B) Chart of pSWE/2D-SWE elastography techniques according to the manufacturer When we revaluated the SOS/VOD Risk Factors by EBMT in this population cohort, **Table 11** confirmed the pre-HSCT risk factors highlighted in the monocentric adult cohort (previous therapy with Inotuzumab ozogamicin (INO) (4/20) or others hepatoxic drugs (5/20) and presented pre-HCST iron overload (7/20). Overall, the number of pre-HSCT risk factors was significantly higher in those who had developed SOS/VOD after HSCT.

Confirming our previous results in the monocentric cohorts, LSM significantly increased in all patients who developed SOS/VOD anticipating the clinical diagnosis. These suddenly increased values preceded the clinical diagnosis from +1 to more than ten days (**Figure 16**).

Furthermore, the logistic regression analysis confirmed the previous results. In fact, an increase in LSM after HSCT compared to the pre-HSCT evaluation was significantly associated with the SOS / VOD diagnosis (OR: 1.24466; 95% CI [1.1773 - 1.32201] p-value <0.001); furthermore, the increase in LSM compared to the pre-HSCT assessment determined a sensitivity of 13.8% and a specificity of 98.8%. Noteworthy, the negative and positive predictive value of the LSM increase compared to the pre-HSCT evaluation for the SOS / VOD diagnosis was 75% and 96%

respectively. The rise in LSM had correctly classified over 95.46% of

patients who developed SOS / VOD.

VOD/SOS RISK FACTORS	Study population (September 2019) n = 456	Without VOD/SOS n = 436 (93.6%)	With VOD/SOS n = 20. (4.4 %)	p-value*
Transplant-related factors				
Unrelated donor	63.5%	62%	79%	0.150
HLA-mismatched donor	44%	42%	32%	0.283
Non-T-cell-depleted transplant	79%	79	90%	0.240
Myeloablative-conditioning regimen	67%	68	74%	0.521
Oral or high-dose Busulfan-based regimen	51%	43	63%	0.274
High-dose TBI-based regimen	4%	3.2	11%	0.136
Second HSCT	9.9%	10.7	5.3%	0.490
Patient and disease-related		,		
factors				
Older age	26%	24.5	10%	0.249
Karnofsky score below 90%	8.2%	7.7	0%	0.338
Metabolic syndrome	7%	5.6	10%	0.660
Female receiving norethisterone	1%	1.4	0%	0.747
Advanced disease (beyond second CR or relapse/refractory)	38.6%	37	60%	0.158
Thalassemia	0%	0%	0%	0.794
Genetic factors (GSTM1 polymorphism, C282Y allele, MTHFR 677CC/1298CC haplotype)	5.3%	5.8	0%	0.446
Hepatic-related factors				
Transaminases x 2.5 ULN	2.2%	2.8%	0%	0.506
Serum bilirubin x 1.5 ULN	2.4%	1.6%	0%	0.480
Active viral hepatitis	7%	7.9%	0%	0.760
Cirrhosis	0%	0%	0%	0.816
Abdominal or hepatic irradiation	2.2%	2%	5.3%	0.338
Previous use of Inotuzumab ozogamicin	2.7%	0%	15.8%	<0.00001
Other hepatotoxic drugs	12.7%	14%	26.3%	0.068
Iron overload	18.2%	16%	37%	0.030
N. of risk factors (median; 25 th – 75 th percentiles)	3.5 (1.5 - 4.5)	3.5 (3 – 4.5)	4.5 (3.5 - 5.75)	0.01225

Table 14. VOD/SOS Risk Factors according to EBMT in the study population and by VOD/SOS diagnosis

Values are indicated as n (%) unless otherwise defined; TBI Total Body Irradiation; CR Complete Remission; ULN Upper Limit of Normal; *Wilcoxon rank-sum test/ Fisher Exact Test



Figure 16: Variation of LSM values in the interim analyses of ElastoVOD study.

The solid red line represents patients who developed SOS/VOD after HSCT; solid blue line, patients who did not develop SOS/VOD after HSCT.

CONCLUSION

The aim of the ElastoVOD project is to evaluate the clinical role of the liver stiffness measurement on SOS/VOD development in a prospective cohort of patients, both adults and paediatrics, undergoing HSCT.

The rationale of using LSM as an early detector of SOS/VOD is related to its pathogenesis: congestion (blood outflow block) and inflammation (loss of sinusoidal wall integrity by toxic injury) lead to sinusoidal PH. All of these conditions have already been demonstrated as determinants of LSM increase in PH[275].

Our data are derived from studies of a single centre on adult, and paediatric patients published and confirmed by the intermediate analysis of the Italian multicentre cohort ElastoVOD on over 450 patients. These results showed that LSM values increased significantly compared to previous and previous pre-HSCT measurements in patients who developed SOS / VOD, allowing for preclinical diagnosis by anticipating the standard EBMT clinical diagnosis from 1 to more than ten days (**Figures 08/11/16**).

The study population showed a mean overall SOS/VOD incidence of 8.6%, with 15% and 4.2% in the paediatric and the adult cohorts respectively. That rates are in line with the current evidence [73,276].

139

As expected, SOS/VOD occurred mostly in patients with a higher number of SOS/VOD risk factors accordingly with a new classification from EBMT[40,74]. Indeed, patients who developed SOS/VOD have significantly received a more intensive busulfan-based chemotherapy (MAC regimen), more than 20 blood transfusion pre-HSCT (leading to a liver iron overload) and hepatotoxic drugs (mainly Inotuzumab ozogamicin) (**Tables 11/14**). This last result also confirmed in the interim analyses of the multicentre study, supports previous evidence and the recent expert panel review[277,278].

Since the end of the '90s, it has been known the importance of having, besides the clinical SOS/VOD criteria, a radiological technique able to better identify and differentiate SOS/VOD from other clinical HSCT complications. Thus, our protocol schedule contemplated a gray-scale and colour-doppler US examinations when LSM increased or when SOS/VOD diagnosis was established. Indeed, we evaluated the presence of Lassau US criteria[200], confirming that the majority of patients who developed SOS/VOD showed a Lassau score of \geq 3 criteria (Table 12). Our results strengthen the suggestions of EBMT and BCSH/BSBMT guidelines[72] stating that US examination could have a pivotal role as first bedside approach in order to assess differential diagnosis between several abdominal post-HSCT complications and to confirm the SOS/VOD diagnosis in uncertain
cases. However, the positivity of US signs is consistent with the clinical occurrence of SOS/VOD criteria, often precluding its use for diagnosis anticipation.

The main findings of this studies are that, for the first time with a prospective design, both in adult and patients undergoing HSCT, the increase of LSM after HSCT, assessed by several elastography techniques (Figures 08/11/16), has been demonstrated to be an accurate predictor of SOS/VOD development. Noteworthy, an LSM increase after HSCT over the pre-HSCT assessment precedes the clinical SOS/VOD diagnosis from 1 to over ten days. These increases in LSM values compared with the patient's previous measures were significantly associated with the SOS/VOD diagnosis. Our results are consistent with the recent study by Reddivalla et al.[223], using a different US elastography method (ARFI), again in a small pediatric population. Besides, in patients who developed SOS/VOD, both in adults (Figure 12), and paediatric patients (Figure 09), and specially treated, LSM values reduced within 2-4 weeks after diagnosis, reaching pre-transplant values. One could argue that, if further confirmed, this finding could drive the treatment duration, an issue which has not yet been answered by means of previous clinical trials. Furthermore, we could speculate that some patients who developed drug-treated SOS / VOD do not reverse LSM values in the

normal range. That population may be at risk of developing long-term portal hypertension-related complications (esophageal varices, hepatic decompensation, etc.) and therefore deserve extended followup analogous to ACLD patients[279].

Finally, we demonstrated in the adult cohort that LSM was able to discriminate between SOS/VOD and other post-HSCT complications, enabling a definitive differential diagnosis. We here showed that the median LSM values of adults patients with SOS/VOD were significantly higher than those of patients with other therapyassociated liver complications (acute cholecystitis, cholangitis, DILI related to antimycotic drugs, hepatic GvHD, isolated liver biochemical alterations and fulminant EBV-related hepatitis reactivation) regardless of the CTC degree (Figure 13). This result is apparently in contrast with Karlas and colleagues[280] who demonstrated that in 5 out 59 transplanted patients who developed severe hepatic involvement after HSCT (CTC grade 4-5), LSM values by TE were significantly higher (6.2±1.5 kPa vs 4.7±1.7 kPa) in comparison to those who did not. One possible explanation to solve this discrepancy could rely on the fact that SOS/VOD was not separately analysed, but it was included in the severe complication group, without any specifications. However, the predictive role and meaning of pre-HSCT LSM values in liver complications is still

142

unclear. Even if, the initial observation by Auberger et al.[218] who showed that pre-HSCT LSM cut-off of 8 kPa, measured by TE, was able to identify patients developing liver toxicity (defined as bilirubin >2mg/dL) after HSCT; our data and results by Reddivalla et al.[223] did not support the above findings. We did not observe significant differences in pre-HSCT LSM values between patients who developed SOS / VOD and those who did not; although a slight tendency in both the adult cohort and the intermediate analyses of the ElastoVOD multicenter study were observed.

The analyses of the present dissertation have the following limitations: i) a relatively low number of patients with SOS/VOD, even though in line with the incidence of this disease in adults according to the current literature and will be increased by the end of the multicenter Italian study; ii) the LSM assessments were arbitrarily scheduled in three consecutive visits (+9/10, +15/17 and +22/24). Evidence for a standard LSM assessment schedule are not yet available, and our schedule was arbitrarily applied due to the experimental phase of LSM role in this setting; however a daily LSM assessment, hardly practicable in the real clinical setting, could identify the real diagnostic advance of LSM by TE; iii) this study included LSM assessed mainly (>80%) by TE; consequently it is difficult to compare values obtained with other US-based

elastography techniques at this stage, as recently demonstrated[281]; on the other side the interim analyses of the multicenter study confirmed the dynamics of LSM increases in SOS/VOD patients despite the elastography techniques choice. Nevertheless, even if a dedicated device is needed, TE is still considered the best validated and most available elastography technique, and most centres use TE as the standard technique to assess LSM even in the consolidated hepatological indications[282,283]; iv) we excluded patients with pathological (BMI >40 kg/m2) obesity due to a technical limitation of "M" probe of TE device and are conditions which could impair the performance of LSM; for the multicentric study aiming to assess the diagnostic accuracy of LSM for VOD, an intention to diagnose approach (ITD) would be more informative. This approach, also known as the worst-case scenario [283,284], allowing to take into account the feasibility of the index test, will be considered in the final analyses of the ElastoVOD study.

In conclusion, the strength of the ElastoVOD prospective project, resulted of this PhD dissertation, on quite a large number of patients resembles a real-life HSCT practice and suggests that LSM by all the elastography techniques available could be considered a promising method to perform an early, pre-clinical diagnosis and predict SOS/VOD after HSCT. Besides, it could be further used to assess treatment response in adult patients undergoing HSCT and developing SOS/VOD. Moreover, it is non-invasive, bedside method, very well tolerated by patients, reproducible. Also, it provides a standardised quantitative measurement, avoiding radiations (USbased), intravenous contrast agent and bleeding or infections risks. LSM seems to be accurate to differentiate between SOS/VOD and other liver-related HSCT complications. When the multicenter prospective ElastoVOD study will be terminated, the role of LSM, assessed by different US elastography techniques, could be confirmed in SOS/VOD pre-clinical diagnosis.

REFERENCES

- [1] Hess A. Fatal obliterating endophlebitis of the hepatic veins. Am J Med Sci 1905;130:986–1001.
- [2] Stuart KL, Bras G. Veno-occlusive disease of the liver. QJM 1957;26:291– 315. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.qjmed.a066784.
- [3] Fan CQ, Crawford JM. Sinusoidal obstruction syndrome (hepatic venoocclusive disease). J Clin Exp Hepatol 2014;4:332–46. doi:10.1016/j.jceh.2014.10.002.
- [4] Hahn PF, Jackson MA, Goldie H. Liver cirrhosis with ascites, induced in dogs by chronic massive hepatic irradiation with radioactive colloidal gold. Science (80-) 1951;114:303-5. doi:10.1126/science.114.2960.303.
- [5] Stirling GA, Bras G, Urquhart AE. The early lesions in veno-occlusive disease of the liver. Arch Dis Child 1962;37:535–8.
 doi:10.1136/adc.37.195.535.
- [6] Bras G, McLean E. TOXIC FACTORS IN VENO-OCCLUSIVE DISEASE.
 Ann N Y Acad Sci 1963;111:392–8. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1963.tb36979.x.
- [7] OGATA K, HIZAWA K, YOSHIDA M, KITAMURO T, AKAGI G, KAGAWA
 K, et al. HEPATIC INJURY FOLLOWING IRRADIATION--A
 MORPHOLOGIC STUDY--. Tokushima J Exp Med 1963;43:240–51.
- [8] Reed Jr. GB, Cox Jr. AJ. The human liver after radiation injury. A form of veno-occlusive disease. Am J Pathol 1966;48:597–611.
- [9] GIBSON JB. Chiari's disease and the Budd-Chiari syndrome. J Pathol Bacteriol 1960;79:381–401. doi:10.1002/path.1700790220.
- [10] Shillam DS. CONGESTIVE SPLENOMEGALY (BANTI'S SYNDROME) DUE TO PORTAL STENOSIS. Calif Med 1947;67:379–81.
- [11] Ghanem J, Hershko C. Veno-occlusive disease and primary hepatic vein thrombosis in Israeli Arabs. Isr J Med Sci 1981;17:339–47.
- [12] Tandon BN, Tandon HD, Tandon RK, Narndranathan M, Joshi YK. AN
 EPIDEMIC OF VENO-OCCLUSIVE DISEASE OF LIVER IN CENTRAL
 INDIA. Lancet 1976;308:271–2. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(76)90727-3.
- [13] SELZER G, PARKER RG, SAPEIKA N. An experimental study of senecio poisoning in rats. Br J Exp Pathol 1951;32:14–20.
- [14] Edgar JA, Molyneux RJ, Colegate SM. Pyrrolizidine alkaloids: Potential

role in the etiology of cancers, pulmonary hypertension, congenital anomalies, and liver disease. Chem Res Toxicol 2015;28:4–20. doi:10.1021/tx500403t.

- [15] Tandon RK, Tandon BN, Tandon HD, Bhatia ML, Bhargava S, Lal P, et al. Study of an epidemic of venoocclusive disease in India. Gut 1976;17:849– 55. doi:10.1136/gut.17.11.849.
- [16] Lin G, Wang JY, Li N, Li M, Gao H, Ji Y, et al. Hepatic sinusoidal obstruction syndrome associated with consumption of Gynura segetum. J Hepatol 2011;54:666–73. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2010.07.031.
- [17] Edgar JA, Roeder E, Molyneux RJ. Honey from plants containing pyrrolizidine alkaloids: A potential threat to health. J Agric Food Chem 2002;50:2719–30. doi:10.1021/jf0114482.
- [18] Robinson O, Want E, Coen M, Kennedy R, Van Den Bosch C, Gebrehawaria Y, et al. Hirmi Valley liver disease: A disease associated with exposure to pyrrolizidine alkaloids and DDT. J Hepatol 2014;60:96– 102. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2013.07.039.
- [19] DeLeve LD, McCuskey RS, Wang X, Hu L, McCuskey MK, Epstein RB, et al. Characterization of a reproducible rat model of hepatic veno-occlusive disease. Hepatology 1999;29:1779–91. doi:10.1002/hep.510290615.
- [20] Wang X, Kanel GC, DeLeve LD. Support of sinusoidal endothelial cell glutathione prevents hepatic veno-occlusive disease in the rat. Hepatology 2000;31:428–34. doi:10.1002/hep.510310224.
- [21] Deleve LD, Wang X, Tsai J, Kanel G, Strasberg S, Tokes ZA. Sinusoidal obstruction syndrome (veno-occlusive disease) in the rat is prevented by matrix metalloproteinase inhibition. Gastroenterology 2003;125:882–90. doi:10.1016/S0016-5085(03)01056-4.
- [22] DeLeve LD, Wang X, Kanel GC, Ito Y, Bethea NW, McCuskey MK, et al. Decreased hepatic nitric oxide production contributes to the development of rat sinusoidal obstruction syndrome. Hepatology 2003;38:900–8. doi:10.1053/jhep.2003.50383.
- [23] Harb R, Xie G, Lutzko C, Guo Y, Wang X, Hill CK, et al. Bone marrow progenitor cells repair rat hepatic sinusoidal endothelial cells after liver injury. Gastroenterology 2009;137:704–12. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2009.05.009.

- [24] Thomas ED, Epstein RB. Bone Marrow Transplantation in Acute Leukemia. Cancer Res 1965;25:1521–4.
- [25] Jacobs P, Miller JL, Uys CJ, Dietrich BE. Fatal veno-occlusive disease of the liver after chemotherapy, whole-body irradiation and bone marrow transplantation for refractory acute leukaemia. South African Med J 1979;55:5–10.
- [26] Shulman HM, McDonald GB, Matthews D, Doney KC, Kopecky KJ, Gauvreau JM, et al. An analysis of hepatic venocclusive disease and centrilobular hepatic degeneration following bone marrow transplantation. Gastroenterology 1980;79:1178–91.
- [27] Woods WG, Dehner LP, Nesbit ME, Krivit W, Coccia PF, Ramsay NK, et al. Fatal veno-occlusive disease of the liver following high dose chemotherapy, irradiation and bone marrow transplantation. Am J Med 1980;68:285–90.
- [28] Ayash LJ, Hunt M, Antman K, Nadler L, Wheeler C, Takvorian T, et al. Hepatic venoocclusive disease in autologous bone marrow transplantation of solid tumors and lymphomas. J Clin Oncol 1990;8:1699–706. doi:10.1200/JCO.1990.8.10.1699.
- [29] Shibayama Y, Hashimoto K, Nakata K. Focal veno-occlusive lesions following metastasis of cancer in the liver with special reference to obstruction of lymphatics in hepatic veins. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol 1991;418:169–74. doi:10.1007/BF01600293.
- [30] McDonald GB, Sharma P, Matthews DE, Shulman HM, Thomas ED.
 Venocclusive disease of the liver after bone marrow transplantation: diagnosis, incidence, and predisposing factors. Hepatology 1984;4:116– 22.
- [31] Jones RJ, Lee KS, Beschorner WE, Vogel VG, Grochow LB, Braine HG, et al. Venoocclusive disease of the liver following bone marrow transplantation. Transplantation 1987;44:778–83.
- [32] Dulley FL, Kanfer EJ, Appelbaum FR, Amos D, Hill RS, Buckner CD, et al. Venocclusive disease of the liver after chemoradiotherapy and autologous bone marrow transplantation. Transplantation 1987;43:870–3. doi:10.1097/00007890-198706000-00020.
- [33] Brugieres L, Hartmann O, Benhamou E, Zafrani ES, Caillaud JM, Patte C,

et al. Veno-occlusive disease of the liver following high-dose chemotherapy and autologous bone marrow transplantation in children with solid tumors: incidence, clinical course and outcome. Bone Marrow Transplant 1988;3:53–8.

- [34] DeLeve LD, Shulman HM, McDonald GB. Toxic injury to hepatic sinusoids: Sinusoidal obstruction syndrome (veno-occlusive disease).
 Semin Liver Dis 2002;22:27–41.
- [35] Garcia-Pagàn J et. al. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Vascular diseases of the liver. J Hepatol 2016;64:179–202. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2015.07.040.
- [36] Shulman HM, Fisher LB, Schoch HG, Henne KW, McDonald GB. Venoocclusive disease of the liver after marrow transplantation: histological correlates of clinical signs and symptoms. Hepatology 1994;19:1171–81.
- [37] Kumar S, DeLeve LD, Kamath PS, Tefferi A. Hepatic veno-occlusive disease (sinusoidal obstruction syndrome) after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Mayo Clin Proc 2003;78:589–98. doi:10.4065/78.5.589.
- [38] Carreras E, Diaz-Beya M, Rosinol L, Martinez C, Fernandez-Aviles F, Rovira M. The incidence of veno-occlusive disease following allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation has diminished and the outcome improved over the last decade. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2011;17:1713–20. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2011.06.006.
- [39] Dalle J-H, Giralt SA. Hepatic Veno-Occlusive Disease after Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation: Risk Factors and Stratification, Prophylaxis, and Treatment. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2015;22:400–9. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2015.09.024.
- [40] Mohty M, Malard F, Abecassis M, Aerts E, Alaskar AS, Aljurf M, et al. Revised diagnosis and severity criteria for sinusoidal obstruction syndrome/veno-occlusive disease in adult patients: a new classification from the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 2016. doi:10.1038/bmt.2016.130.
- [41] Stephens LC, Peters LJ, Ang KK. Tolerance of rhesus monkey liver to ionizing radiation. Radiat Oncol Investig 1993;1:279–84. doi:10.1002/roi.2970010505.
- [42] Allen JR, Carstens LA, Katagiri GJ. Hepatic veins of monkeys with venoocclusive disease. Sequential ultrastructural changes. Arch Pathol

1969;87:279-89.

- [43] Shulman HM, Luk K, Deeg HJ, Shuman WB, Storb R. Induction of hepatic veno-occlusive disease in dogs. Am J Pathol 1987;126:114–25.
- [44] DeLeve LD, Ito Y, Bethea NW, McCuskey MK, Wang X, McCuskey RS.
 Embolization by sinusoidal lining cells obstructs the microcirculation in rat sinusoidal obstruction syndrome. Am J Physiol - Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2003;284:G1045–52.
- [45] Helmy A. Review article: updates in the pathogenesis and therapy of hepatic sinusoidal obstruction syndrome. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2006;23:11–25. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2036.2006.02742.x.
- [46] Srivastava A, Poonkuzhali B, Shaji R V, George B, Mathews V, Chandy M, et al. Glutathione S-transferase M1 polymorphism: A risk factor for hepatic venoocclusive disease in bone marrow transplantation. Blood 2004;104:1574–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-11-3778.
- [47] Vreuls CPH, Olde Damink SWM, Koek GH, Winstanley A, Wisse E, Cloots RHE, et al. Glutathione S-transferase M1-null genotype as risk factor for SOS in oxaliplatin-treated patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer 2013;108:676–80. doi:10.1038/bjc.2012.590.
- [48] DeLeve LD, Wang X. Decrease in hepatic nitric oxide production contributes to hepatic veno-occlusive disease (HVOD). Hepatology 1999;30.
- [49] Ueno T, Bioulac-Sage P, Balabaud C, Rosenbaum J. Innervation of the sinusoidal wall: Regulation of the sinusoidal diameter. Anat Rec - Part A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol 2004;280:868–73. doi:10.1002/ar.a.20092.
- [50] Iguchi A, Kobayashi R, Yoshida M, Kobayashi K, Matsuo K, Kitajima I, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is one of the cytokines causative and predictive of hepatic veno-occlusive disease (VOD) in stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 2001;27:1173–80. doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1703061.
- [51] Nakamura K, Hatano E, Narita M, Miyagawa-Hayashino A, Koyama Y, Nagata H, et al. Sorafenib attenuates monocrotaline-induced sinusoidal obstruction syndrome in rats through suppression of JNK and MMP-9. J Hepatol 2012;57:1037–43. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2012.07.004.
- [52] Mejias M, Garci-Pras E, Tiani C, Miquel R, Bosch J, Fernandez M.

Beneficial effects of sorafenib on splanchnic, intrahepatic, and portocollateral circulations in portal hypertensive and cirrhotic rats. Hepatology 2009;49:1245–56. doi:10.1002/hep.22758.

- [53] Wang Y, Gao J, Zhang D, Zhang J, Ma J, Jiang H. New insights into the antifibrotic effects of sorafenib on hepatic stellate cells and liver fibrosis. J Hepatol 2010;53:132–44. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2010.02.027.
- [54] Yannam GR, Han B, Setoyama K, Yamamoto T, Ito R, Brooks JM, et al. A nonhuman primate model of human radiation-induced venocclusive liver disease and hepatocyte injury. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2014;88:404– 11. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2013.10.037.
- [55] Schefter TE, Rusthoven KE, Kavanagh BD, Cardenes H, Stieber VW, Burri SH, et al. Multi-institutional phase I/II trial of stereotactic body radiation therapy for liver metastases. J Clin Oncol 2009;27:1572–8. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.19.6329.
- [56] Robinson SM, Mann J, Vasilaki A, Mathers J, Burt AD, Oakley F, et al.
 Pathogenesis of FOLFOX induced sinusoidal obstruction syndrome in a murine chemotherapy model. J Hepatol 2013;59:318–26. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2013.04.014.
- [57] Robinson SM, Mann DA, Manas DM, Oakley F, Mann J, White SA. The potential contribution of tumour-related factors to the development of FOLFOX-induced sinusoidal obstruction syndrome. Br J Cancer 2013;109:2396–403. doi:10.1038/bjc.2013.604.
- [58] Zeng L, An L, Fang T, Pan B, Sun H, Chen C, et al. A Murine Model of Hepatic Veno-occlusive Disease Induced by Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. Cell Biochem Biophys 2013;67:939–48. doi:10.1007/s12013-013-9587-7.
- [59] Rubbia-Brandt L, Tauzin S, Brezault C, Delucinge-Vivier C, Descombes P, Dousset B, et al. Gene expression profiling provides insights into pathways of oxaliplatin-related sinusoidal obstruction syndrome in humans. Mol Cancer Ther 2011;10:687–96. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-10-1072.
- [60] Narita M, Oussoultzoglou E, Chenard M-P, Fuchshuber P, Rather M, Rosso E, et al. Liver injury due to chemotherapy-induced sinusoidal obstruction syndrome is associated with sinusoidal capillarization. Ann

Surg Oncol 2012;19:2230-7. doi:10.1245/s10434-011-2112-6.

- [61] Bearman SI. Avoiding hepatic veno-occlusive disease: What do we know and where are we going? Bone Marrow Transplant 2001;27:1113–20. doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1703014.
- [62] McDonald GB, Shulman HM, Wolford JL, Spencer GD. Liver disease after human marrow transplantation. Semin Liver Dis 1987;7:210–29. doi:10.1055/s-2008-1040578.
- [63] Toh HC, McAfee SL, Sackstein R, Cox BF, Colby C, Spitzer TR. Late onset veno-occlusive disease following high-dose chemotherapy and stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 1999;24:891–5. doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1701994.
- [64] Kalayoglu-Besisik S, Yenerel MN, Caliskan Y, Ozturk S, Besisik F, Sargin D. Time-related changes in the incidence, severity, and clinical outcome of hepatic veno-occlusive disease in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation patients during the past 10 years. Transplant Proc 2005;37:2285–9. doi:10.1016/j.transproceed.2005.03.025.
- [65] Kim H, Lee K-H, Sohn SK, Jung CW, Joo YD, Kim SH, et al. Hepatic sinusoidal obstruction syndrome after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in adult patients with idiopathic aplastic anemia. Leuk Res 2013;37:1241–7. doi:10.1016/j.leukres.2013.06.024.
- [66] Crawford J, Ferrell L. The liver in transplantation. Liver Syst Dis 1993:337–9636.
- [67] DeLeve LD, Valla D-C, Garcia-Tsao G. Vascular disorders of the liver. Hepatology 2009;49:1729–64. doi:10.1002/hep.22772.
- [68] Coppell JA, Richardson PG, Soiffer R, Martin PL, Kernan NA, Chen A, et al. Hepatic veno-occlusive disease following stem cell transplantation: incidence, clinical course, and outcome. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2010;16:157–68. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2009.08.024.
- [69] Carreras E, Bertz H, Arcese W, Vernant J-P, Tomás J-F, Hagglund H, et al. Incidence and outcome of hepatic veno-occlusive disease after blood or marrow transplantation: A prospective cohort study of the European group for blood and marrow transplantation. Blood 1998;92:3599–604.
- [70] Richardson PG, Ho VT, Cutler C, Glotzbecker B, Antin JH, Soiffer R. Hepatic Veno-Occlusive Disease after Hematopoietic Stem Cell

Transplantation: Novel Insights to Pathogenesis, Current Status of Treatment, and Future Directions. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2013;19:S88–90. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2012.10.023.

- [71] McDonald GB, Sharma P, Matthews DE, Shulman HM, Thomas ED. The clinical course of 53 patients with venocclusive disease of the liver after marrow transplantation. Transplantation 1985;39:603–8.
- [72] Dignan FL, Wynn RF, Hadzic N, Karani J, Quaglia A, Pagliuca A, et al. BCSH/BSBMT guideline: diagnosis and management of veno-occlusive disease (sinusoidal obstruction syndrome) following haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Br J Haematol 2013;163:444–57. doi:10.1111/bjh.12558.
- [73] Mohty M, Malard F, Abecassis M, Aerts E, Alaskar AS, Aljurf M, et al. Sinusoidal obstruction syndrome/veno-occlusive disease: current situation and perspectives-a position statement from the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT). Bone Marrow Transplant 2015;50:781–9. doi:10.1038/bmt.2015.52.
- [74] Corbacioglu S, Carreras E, Ansari M, Balduzzi A, Cesaro S, Dalle JH, et al. Diagnosis and severity criteria for sinusoidal obstruction syndrome/venoocclusive disease in pediatric patients: A new classification from the European society for blood and marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 2018;53:138–45. doi:10.1038/bmt.2017.161.
- [75] Chao N. How I treat sinusoidal obstruction syndrome. Blood 2014;123:4023-6. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-03-551630.
- [76] Blostein MD, Paltiel OB, Thibault A, Rybka WB. A comparison of clinical criteria for the diagnosis of veno-occlusive disease of the liver after bone marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 1992;10:439–43.
- [77] Carreras E, Granena A, Navasa M, Bruguera M, Marco V, Sierra J, et al. On the reliability of clinical criteria for the diagnosis of hepatic venoocclusive disease. Ann Hematol 1993;66:77–80.
- [78] Shulman HM, Gooley T, Dudley MD, Kofler T, Feldman R, Dwyer D, et al. Utility of transvenous liver biopsies and wedged hepatic venous pressure measurements in sixty marrow transplant recipients. Transplantation 1995;59:1015–22.
- [79] Carreras E, Granena A, Navasa M, Bruguera M, Marco V, Sierra J, et al.

Transjugular liver biopsy in BMT. Bone Marrow Transplant 1993;11:21-6.

- [80] Azar N, Valla D, Abdel-Samad I, Hoang C, Fretz C, Sutton L, et al. Liver dysfunction in allogeneic bone marrow transplantation recipients. Transplantation 1996;62:56–61.
- [81] Deleve LD, Wang X, Kuhlenkamp JF, Kaplowitz N. Toxicity of azathioprine and monocrotaline in murine sinusoidal endothelial cells and hepatocytes: The role of glutathione and relevance to hepatic venoocclusive disease. Hepatology 1996;23:589–99. doi:10.1002/hep.510230326.
- [82] Zhang L, Wang Y, Huang H. Defibrotide for the prevention of hepatic veno-occlusive disease after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: A systematic review. Clin Transplant 2012;26:511–9. doi:10.1111/j.1399-0012.2012.01604.x.
- [83] Valla D-C. Budd-Chiari syndrome and veno-occlusive disease/sinusoidal obstruction syndrome. Gut 2008;57:1469–78. doi:10.1136/gut.2007.133637.
- [84] Cutler C, Stevenson K, Kim HT, Richardson P, Ho VT, Linden E, et al. Sirolimus is associated with veno-occlusive disease of the liver after myeloablative allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Blood 2008;112:4425– 31. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-07-169342.
- [85] Armand P, Kim HT, Cutler CS, Ho VT, Koreth J, Alyea EP, et al. Prognostic impact of elevated pretransplantation serum ferritin in patients undergoing myeloablative stem cell transplantation. Blood 2007;109:4586–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-10-054924.
- [86] Cutler C, Kim HT, Ayanian S, Bradwin G, Revta C, Aldridge J, et al.
 Prediction of Veno-Occlusive Disease Using Biomarkers of Endothelial
 Injury. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2010;16:1180–5.
 doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2010.02.016.
- [87] Friedman SL. Focus. J Hepatol 2012;57:935–6. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2012.08.015.
- [88] Leporrier J, Maurel J, Chiche L, Bara S, Segol P, Launoy G. A populationbased study of the incidence, management and prognosis of hepatic metastases from colorectal cancer. Br J Surg 2006;93:465–74. doi:10.1002/bjs.5278.

- [89] Lochan R, White SA, Manas DM. Liver resection for colorectal liver metastasis. Surg Oncol 2007;16:33–45. doi:10.1016/j.suronc.2007.04.010.
- [90] Imai K, Emi Y, Iyama K-I, Beppu T, Ogata Y, Kakeji Y, et al. Splenic volume may be a useful indicator of the protective effect of bevacizumab against oxaliplatin-induced hepatic sinusoidal obstruction syndrome. Eur J Surg Oncol 2014;40:559–66. doi:10.1016/j.ejso.2013.12.009.
- [91] Choti MA, Sitzmann J V, Tiburi MF, Sumetchotimetha W, Rangsin R, Schulick RD, et al. Trends in long-term survival following liver resection for hepatic colorectal metastases. Ann Surg 2002;235:759–66. doi:10.1097/00000658-200206000-00002.
- [92] Khatri VP, Petrelli NJ, Belghiti J. Extending the frontiers of surgical therapy for hepatic colorectal metastases: Is there a limit? J Clin Oncol 2005;23:8490–9. doi:10.1200/JCO.2004.00.6155.
- [93] Adam R, Delvart V, Pascal G, Valeanu A, Castaing D, Azoulay D, et al. Rescue surgery for unresectable colorectal liver metastases downstaged by chemotherapy: A model to predict long-term survival. Ann Surg 2004;240:644–58. doi:10.1097/01.sla.0000141198.92114.f6.
- [94] Maughan TS, Adams RA, Smith CG, Meade AM, Seymour MT, Wilson RH, et al. Addition of cetuximab to oxaliplatin-based first-line combination chemotherapy for treatment of advanced colorectal cancer: Results of the randomised phase 3 MRC COIN trial. Lancet 2011;377:2103–14. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60613-2.
- [95] Jagt CT, Zuckermann M, Kate FT, Taminiau JAJM, Dijkgraaf MGW, Heij H, et al. Veno-occlusive disease as a complication of preoperative chemotherapy for wilms tumor: A clinico-pathological analysis. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2009;53:1211–5. doi:10.1002/pbc.22202.
- [96] Cesaro S, Spiller M, Sartori MT, Alaggio R, Peruzzo M, Saggiorato G, et al. Veno-occlusive disease in pediatric patients affected by Wilms tumor. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2011;57:258–61. doi:10.1002/pbc.22841.
- [97] Vigano L, Capussotti L, De Rosa G, De Saussure WO, Mentha G, Rubbia-Brandt L. Liver resection for colorectal metastases after chemotherapy: impact of chemotherapy-related liver injuries, pathological tumor response, and micrometastases on long-term survival. Ann Surg

2013;258:731-2. doi:10.1097/SLA.ob013e3182a6183e.

- [98] Nguyen-Khac E, Lobry C, Chatelain D, Fuks D, Joly JP, Brevet M. A reappraisal of chemotherapy-induced liver injury in colorectal liver metastases before the era of antiangiogenics. Int J Hepatol 2013;2013.
- [99] Rubbia-Brandt L, Audard V, Sartoretti P, Roth AD, Brezault C, Le Charpentier M, et al. Severe hepatic sinusoidal obstruction associated with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol 2004;15:460–6.
- [100] Rubbia-Brandt L, Lauwers GY, Wang H, Majno PE, Tanabe K, Zhu AX, et al. Sinusoidal obstruction syndrome and nodular regenerative hyperplasia are frequent oxaliplatin-associated liver lesions and partially prevented by bevacizumab in patients with hepatic colorectal metastasis. Histopathology 2010;56:430–9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2559.2010.03511.x.
- [101] Gomez-Ramirez J, Martin-Perez E, Amat CG, Sanz IG, Bermejo E, Rodriguez A, et al. [Influence of pre-surgical chemotherapy on liver parenchyma and post-surgical outcome of patients subjected to hepatectomy due to colorectal carcinoma metastases]. Cir Esp 2010;88:404–12. doi:10.1016/j.ciresp.2010.09.005.
- [102] Nakano H, Oussoultzoglou E, Rosso E, Casnedi S, Chenard-Neu M-P, Dufour P, et al. Sinusoidal injury increases morbidity after major hepatectomy in patients with colorectal liver metastases receiving preoperative chemotherapy. Ann Surg 2008;247:118–24. doi:10.1097/SLA.ob013e31815774de.
- [103] Soubrane O, Brouquet A, Zalinski S, Terris B, Brezault C, Mallet V, et al. Predicting high grade lesions of sinusoidal obstruction syndrome related to oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy for colorectal liver metastases: correlation with post-hepatectomy outcome. Ann Surg 2010;251:454–60. doi:10.1097/SLA.ob013e3181c79403.
- [104] Hubert C, Sempoux C, Humblet Y, van den Eynde M, Zech F, Leclercq I, et al. Sinusoidal obstruction syndrome (SOS) related to chemotherapy for colorectal liver metastases: factors predictive of severe SOS lesions and protective effect of bevacizumab. HPB (Oxford) 2013;15:858–64. doi:10.1111/hpb.12047.
- [105] Robinson SM, White SA. Hepatic sinusoidal obstruction syndrome

reduces the effect of oxaliplatin in colorectal liver metastases. Histopathology 2012;61:1247–8. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2559.2012.04358.x.

- [106] Van Der Pool AEM, Marsman HA, Verheij J, Ten Kate FJ, Eggermont AMM, Ijzermans JNM, et al. Effect of bevacizumab added preoperatively to oxaliplatin on liver injury and complications after resection of colorectal liver metastases. J Surg Oncol 2012;106:892–7. doi:10.1002/jso.23142.
- [107] Agostini J, Benoist S, Seman M, Julié C, Imbeaud S, Letourneur F, et al. Identification of molecular pathways involved in oxaliplatin-associated sinusoidal dilatation. J Hepatol 2012;56:869–76. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2011.10.023.
- [108] Marzano C, Cazals-Hatem D, Rautou P-E, Valla D-C. The significance of nonobstructive sinusoidal dilatation of the liver: Impaired portal perfusion or inflammatory reaction syndrome. Hepatology 2015;62:956– 63. doi:10.1002/hep.27747.
- [109] Arotçarena R, Calès V, Berthelémy P, Parent Y, Malet M, Etcharry F, et al. Severe sinusoidal lesions: A serious and overlooked complication of oxaliplatin-containing chemotherapy? Gastroenterol Clin Biol 2006;30:1313–6. doi:10.1016/S0399-8320(06)73542-4.
- [110] van Iersel LBJ, de Leede EM, Vahrmeijer AL, Tijl FGJ, den Hartigh J, Kuppen PJK, et al. Isolated hepatic perfusion with oxaliplatin combined with 100 mg melphalan in patients with metastases confined to the liver: A phase I study. Eur J Surg Oncol 2014;40:1557–63. doi:10.1016/j.ejso.2014.06.010.
- [111] Tamandl D, Klinger M, Eipeldauer S, Herberger B, Kaczirek K, Gruenberger B, et al. Sinusoidal obstruction syndrome impairs long-term outcome of colorectal liver metastases treated with resection after neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol 2011;18:421–30. doi:10.1245/s10434-010-1317-4.
- [112] Morris-Stiff G, Tan Y-M, Vauthey JN. Hepatic complications following preoperative chemotherapy with oxaliplatin or irinotecan for hepatic colorectal metastases. Eur J Surg Oncol 2008;34:609–14. doi:10.1016/j.ejso.2007.07.007.
- [113] Lehmann K, Rickenbacher A, Weber A, Pestalozzi BC, Clavien P-A.

Chemotherapy before liver resection of colorectal metastases: friend or foe? Ann Surg 2012;255:237–47. doi:10.1097/SLA.ob013e3182356236.

- [114] Viganò L, Capussotti L, De Rosa G, De Saussure WO, Mentha G, Rubbia-Brandt L. Liver resection for colorectal metastases after chemotherapy: Impact of chemotherapy-related liver injuries, pathological tumor response, and micrometastases on long-term survival. Ann Surg 2013;258:731–42. doi:10.1097/SLA.0b013e3182a6183e.
- [115] Vreuls CPH, Van Den Broek MA, Winstanley A, Koek GH, Wisse E, Dejong CH, et al. Hepatic sinusoidal obstruction syndrome (SOS) reduces the effect of oxaliplatin in colorectal liver metastases. Histopathology 2012;61:314–8. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2559.2012.04208.x.
- [116] Wai C-T, Greenson JK, Fontana RJ, Kalbfleisch JD, Marrero JA, Conjeevaram HS, et al. A simple noninvasive index can predict both significant fibrosis and cirrhosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 2003;38:518–26. doi:10.1053/jhep.2003.50346.
- [117] Van Den Broek MAJ, Vreuls CPH, Winstanley A, Jansen RLH, Van Bijnen AA, Dello SAWG, et al. Hyaluronic acid as a marker of hepatic sinusoidal obstruction syndrome secondary to oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy in patients with colorectal liver metastases. Ann Surg Oncol 2013;20:1462– 9. doi:10.1245/s10434-013-2915-8.
- [118] Han NY, Park BJ, Sung DJ, Kim MJ, Cho SB, Lee CH, et al. Chemotherapy-induced focal hepatopathy in patients with gastrointestinal malignancy: gadoxetic acid--enhanced and diffusionweighted MR imaging with clinical-pathologic correlation. Radiology 2014;271:416–25. doi:10.1148/radiol.13131810.
- [119] Sebagh M, Azoulay D, Roche B, Hoti E, Karam V, Teicher E, et al. Significance of isolated hepatic veno-occlusive disease/sinusoidal obstruction syndrome after liver transplantation. Liver Transplant Off Publ Am Assoc Study Liver Dis Int Liver Transplant Soc 2011;17:798– 808. doi:10.1002/lt.22282.
- [120] Takamura H, Nakanuma S, Hayashi H, Tajima H, Kakinoki K, Kitahara M, et al. Severe veno-occlusive disease/sinusoidal obstruction syndrome after deceased-donor and living-donor liver transplantation. Transplant Proc 2014;46:3523–35. doi:10.1016/j.transproceed.2014.09.110.

- [121] Giles FJ, Kantarjian HM, Kornblau SM, Thomas DA, Garcia-Manero G, Waddelow TA, et al. Mylotarg (gemtuzumab ozogamicin) therapy is associated with hepatic venoocclusive disease in patients who have not received stem cell transplantation. Cancer 2001;92:406–13.
- [122] McDonald GB, Freston JW, Boyer JL, DeLeve LD. Liver Complications Following Treatment of Hematologic Malignancy With Anti-CD22-Calicheamicin (Inotuzumab Ozogamicin). Hepatology 2019;69:831–44. doi:10.1002/hep.30222.
- [123] Tallman MS, McDonald GB, DeLeve LD, Baer MR, Cook MN, Graepel GJ, et al. Incidence of sinusoidal obstruction syndrome following Mylotarg (gemtuzumab ozogamicin): a prospective observational study of 482 patients in routine clinical practice. Int J Hematol 2013;97:456–64. doi:10.1007/s12185-013-1275-2.
- [124] Fiel MI, Schiano TD, Klion FM, Emre S, Hytiroglou P, Ishak KG, et al. Recurring fibro-obliterative venopathy in liver allografts. Am J Surg Pathol 1999;23:734–7. doi:10.1097/00000478-199906000-00015.
- [125] Hübscher SG. Central perivenulitis: A common and potentially important finding in late posttransplant liver biopsies. Liver Transplant 2008;14:596–600. doi:10.1002/lt.21451.
- [126] Izaki T, Inomata Y, Asonuma K, Okajima H, Ohshiro H, Ueno M, et al. Early graft failure due to a veno-occlusive disease after a pediatric living donor liver transplantation. Pediatr Transplant 2004;8:301–4. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3046.2004.00171.x.
- [127] Abdualmjid RJ, Sergi C. Hepatotoxic botanicals An evidence-based systematic review. J Pharm Pharm Sci 2013;16:376–404.
- [128] Laliberté L, Villeneuve J-P. Hepatitis after the use of germander, a herbal remedy. CMAJ 1996;154:1689–92.
- [129] Harnack LJ, Rydell SA, Stang J. Prevalence of use of herbal products by adults in the Minneapolis/St Paul, Minn, metropolitan area. Mayo Clin Proc 2001;76:688–94. doi:10.4065/76.7.688.
- [130] Stegelmeier BL, Edgar JA, Colegate SM, Gardner DR, Schoch TK, Coulombe RA, et al. Pyrrolizidine alkaloid plants, metabolism and toxicity. J Nat Toxins 1999;8:95–116.
- [131] Stickel F, Seitz HK. The efficacy and safety of comfrey. Public Health Nutr

2000;3:501-8. doi:10.1017/S136898000000586.

- [132] Rode D. Comfrey toxicity revisited. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2002;23:497–9. doi:10.1016/S0165-6147(02)02106-5.
- [133] YEONG ML, SWINBURN B, KENNEDY M, NICHOLSON G. Hepatic veno-occlusive disease associated with comfrey ingestion. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1990;5:211–4. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1746.1990.tb01827.x.
- [134] Sergi C, Beedgen B, Linderkamp O, Hofmann WJ. Fatal course of venoocclusive disease of the liver (endophlebitis hepatica obliterans in a preterm infant). Pathol Res Pract 1999;195:847–51. doi:10.1016/S0344-0338(99)80108-3.
- [135] Huxtable RJ. The myth of beneficent nature: The risks of herbal preparations. Ann Intern Med 1992;117:165–6. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-117-2-165.
- [136] Kaplowitz N. Idiosyncratic drug hepatotoxicity. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2005;4:489–99. doi:10.1038/nrd1750.
- [137] Abebe W. Herbal medication: Potential for adverse interactions with analgesic drugs. J Clin Pharm Ther 2002;27:391–401. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2710.2002.00444.x.
- [138] Bach N, Thung SN, Schaffner F. Comfrey herb tea-induced hepatic venoocclusive disease. Am J Med 1989;87:97–9. doi:10.1016/S0002-9343(89)80492-9.
- [139] Weston CFM, Cooper BT, Davies JD, Levine DF. Veno-occlusive disease of the liver secondary to ingestion of comfrey. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1987;295:183. doi:10.1136/bmj.295.6591.183.
- [140] Sperl W, Stuppner H, Gassner I, Judmaier W, Dietze O, Vogel W.
 Reversible hepatic veno-occlusive disease in an infant after consumption of pyrrolizidine-containing herbal tea. Eur J Pediatr 1995;154:112–6. doi:10.1007/BF01991912.
- [141] Schoepfer AM, Engel A, Fattinger K, Marbet UA, Criblez D, Reichen J, et al. Herbal does not mean innocuous: ten cases of severe hepatotoxicity associated with dietary supplements from Herbalife products. J Hepatol 2007;47:521–6. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2007.06.014.
- [142] Gao H, Li N, Wang JY, Zhang SC, Lin G. Definitive diagnosis of hepatic sinusoidal obstruction syndrome induced by pyrrolizidine alkaloids. J Dig

Dis 2012;13:33–9. doi:10.1111/j.1751-2980.2011.00552.x.

- [143] Mellis C, Bale PM. Familial hepatic venoocclusive disease with probable immune deficiency. J Pediatr 1976;88:236–42. doi:10.1016/S0022-3476(76)80988-2.
- [144] Roscioli T, Cliffe ST, Bloch DB, Bell CG, Mullan G, Taylor PJ, et al. Mutations in the gene encoding the PML nuclear body protein Sp110 are associated with immunodeficiency and hepatic veno-occlusive disease. Nat Genet 2006;38:620–2. doi:10.1038/ng1780.
- [145] Cliffe ST, Bloch DB, Suryani S, Kamsteeg E-J, Avery DT, Palendira U, et al. Clinical, molecular, and cellular immunologic findings in patients with SP110-associated veno-occlusive disease with immunodeficiency syndrome. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2012;130:735-742.e6. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2012.02.054.
- [146] Wang T, Ong P, Roscioli T, Cliffe ST, Church JA. Hepatic veno-occlusive disease with immunodeficiency (VODI): First reported case in the U.S. and identification of a unique mutation in Sp110. Clin Immunol 2012;145:102–7. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2012.07.016.
- [147] Cliffe ST, Wong M, Taylor PJ, Ruga E, Wilcken B, Lindeman R, et al. The first prenatal diagnosis for veno-occlusive disease and immunodeficiency syndrome, an autosomal recessive condition associated with mutations in SP110. Prenat Diagn 2007;27:674–6. doi:10.1002/pd.1759.
- [148] Weichenhan D, Kunze B, Winking H, Van Geel M, Osoegawa K, De Jong PJ, et al. Source and component genes of a 6-200 Mb gene cluster in the house mouse. Mamm Genome 2001;12:590–4. doi:10.1007/s00335-001-3015-9.
- [149] DeLeve LD, Valla D-C, Garcia-Tsao G, American Association for the Study Liver Diseases. Vascular disorders of the liver. Hepatology 2009;49:1729– 64. doi:10.1002/hep.22772.
- [150] Richardson PG, Soiffer RJ, Antin JH, Uno H, Jin Z, Kurtzberg J, et al. Defibrotide for the treatment of severe hepatic veno-occlusive disease and multiorgan failure after stem cell transplantation: a multicenter, randomized, dose-finding trial. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2010;16:1005–17. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2010.02.009.
- [151] Richardson PG, Elias AD, Krishnan A, Wheeler C, Nath R, Hoppensteadt

D, et al. Treatment of severe veno-occlusive disease with defibrotide: compassionate use results in response without significant toxicity in a high-risk population. Blood 1998;92:737–44.

- [152] Chopra R, Eaton JD, Grassi A, Potter M, Shaw B, Salat C, et al.
 Defibrotide for the treatment of hepatic veno-occlusive disease: Results of the European compassionate-use study. Br J Haematol 2000;111:1122–9. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2141.2000.02475.x.
- [153] Richardson PG, Smith AR, Grupp SA. Defibrotide in the treatment of hepatic veno-occlusive disease in stem cell transplant and non-SCT patients. early intervention improves outcome-Updated results of a teatment IND expanded access protocol [abstract]. Blood 2011;118.
- [154] Coppell JA, Richardson PG, Soiffer R, Martin PL, Kernan NA, Chen A, et al. Hepatic veno-occlusive disease following stem cell transplantation: incidence, clinical course, and outcome. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2010;16:157–68. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2009.08.024.
- [155] Yoon J-H, Min W-S, Kim H-J, Kim J-H, Shin S-H, Yahng S-A, et al. Experiences of t-PA use in moderate-to-severe hepatic veno-occlusive disease after hematopoietic SCT: Is it still reasonable to use t-PA? Bone Marrow Transplant 2013;48:1562–8. doi:10.1038/bmt.2013.101.
- [156] De Leonardis F, Koronica R, Bruno SD, Santoro N. Non-activated protein C rescue treatment in Wilms tumour associated hepatic sinusoidal obstructive syndrome. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2014;61:940–1. doi:10.1002/pbc.24859.
- [157] Myers KC, Lawrence J, Marsh RA, Davies SM, Jodele S. High-dose methylprednisolone for veno-occlusive disease of the liver in pediatric hematopoietic stem cell transplantation recipients. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2013;19:500–3. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2012.11.011.
- [158] Azoulay D, Castaing D, Lemoine A, Hargreaves GM, Bismuth H.
 Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt (TIPS) for severe venoocclusive disease of the liver following bone marrow transplantation.
 Bone Marrow Transplant 2000;25:987–92. doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1702386.
- [159] Rajvanshi P, McDonald GB. Expanding the use of transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunts for veno-occlusive disease. Liver Transplant 2001;7:154–7. doi:10.1053/jlts.2001.0070154.

- [160] Zenz T, Rossle M, Bertz H, Siegerstetter V, Ochs A, Finke J. Severe venoocclusive disease after allogeneic bone marrow or peripheral stem cell transplantation--role of transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt (TIPS). Liver 2001;21:31–6.
- [161] Nimer SD, Milewicz AL, Champlin RE, Busuttil RW. Successful treatment of hepatic venoocclusive disease in a bone marrow transplant patient with orthotopic liver transplantation. Transplantation 1990;49:819–21.
- [162] Rapoport AP, Doyle HR, Starzl T, Rowe JM, Doeblin T, DiPersio JF. Orthotopic liver transplantation for life-threatening veno-occlusive disease of the liver after allogeneic bone marrow transplant. Bone Marrow Transplant 1991;8:421–4.
- [163] Kim I-D, Egawa H, Marui Y, Kaihara S, Haga H, Lin Y-W, et al. A successful liver transplantation for refractory hepatic veno-occlusive disease originating from cord blood transplantation. Am J Transplant 2002;2:796–800. doi:10.1034/j.1600-6143.2002.20815.x.
- [164] Johnson DB, Savani BN. How can we reduce hepatic veno-occlusive disease-related deaths after allogeneic stem cell transplantation? Exp Hematol 2012;40:513–7. doi:10.1016/j.exphem.2012.04.004.
- [165] McDonald GB, Hinds MS, Fisher LD, Schoch HG, Wolford JL, Banaji M, et al. Veno-occlusive disease of the liver and multiorgan failure after bone marrow transplantation: a cohort study of 355 patients. Ann Intern Med 1993;118:255–67.
- [166] McDonald GB, Slattery JT, Bouvier ME, Ren S, Batchelder AL, Kalhorn TF, et al. Cyclophosphamide metabolism, liver toxicity, and mortality following hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Blood 2003;101:2043– 8. doi:10.1182/blood-2002-06-1860.
- [167] Clift RA, Buckner CD, Appelbaum FR, Bearman SI, Petersen FB, Fisher LD, et al. Allogeneic marrow transplantation in patients with acute myeloid leukemia in first remission: A randomized trial of two irradiation regimens. Blood 1990;76:1867–71.
- [168] Lee J-H, Choi S-J, Lee J-H, Kim S-E, Park C-J, Chi H-S, et al. Decreased incidence of hepatic veno-occlusive disease and fewer hemostatic derangements associated with intravenous busulfan vs oral busulfan in adults conditioned with busulfan + cyclophosphamide for allogeneic bone

marrow transplantation. Ann Hematol 2005;84:321–30. doi:10.1007/s00277-004-0982-4.

- [169] Tay J, Tinmouth A, Fergusson D, Huebsch L, Allan DS. Systematic Review of Controlled Clinical Trials on the Use of Ursodeoxycholic Acid for the Prevention of Hepatic Veno-occlusive Disease in Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2007;13:206–17. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2006.09.012.
- [170] Essell JH, Schroeder MT, Harman GS, Halvorson R, Lew V, Callander N, et al. Ursodiol prophylaxis against hepatic complications of allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. A randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. Ann Intern Med 1998;128:975–81.
- [171] Park SH, Lee MH, Lee H, Kim HS, Kim K, Kim WS, et al. A randomized trial of heparin plus ursodiol vs heparin alone to prevent hepatic venoocclusive disease after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 2002;29:137–43. doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1703342.
- [172] Ruutu T, Eriksson B, Remes K, Juvonen E, Volin L, Remberger M, et al. Ursodeoxycholic acid for the prevention of hepatic complications in allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Blood 2002;100:1977–83. doi:10.1182/blood-2001-12-0159.
- [173] Yoshikawa M, Tsujii T, Matsumura K, Yamao J, Matsumura Y, Kubo R, et al. Immunomodulatory effects of ursodeoxycholic acid on immune responses. Hepatology 1992;16:358–64. doi:10.1002/hep.1840160213.
- [174] Attal M, Huguet F, Rubie H, Huynh A, Charlet J-P, Payen J-L, et al. Prevention of hepatic veno-occlusive disease after bone marrow transplantation by continuous infusion of low-dose heparin: A prospective, randomized trial. Blood 1992;79:2834–40.
- [175] Or R, Nagler A, Shpilberg O, Elad S, Naparstek E, Kapelushnik J, et al. Low molecular weight heparin for the prevention of veno-occlusive disease of the liver in bone marrow transplantation patients. Transplantation 1996;61:1067–71. doi:10.1097/00007890-199604150-00014.
- [176] Marsa-Vila L, Gorin NC, Laporte JP, Labopin M, Dupuy-Montbrun MC, Fouillard L, et al. Prophylactic heparin does not prevent liver venoocclusive disease following autologous bone marrow transplantation. Eur

J Haematol 1991;47:346-54.

- [177] Fisher DC, Vredenburgh JJ, Petros WP, Hussein A, Berry DA, Elkordy M, et al. Reduced mortality following bone marrow transplantation for breast cancer with the addition of peripheral blood progenitor cells is due to a marked reduction in veno-occlusive disease of the liver. Bone Marrow Transplant 1998;21:117–22. doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1701068.
- [178] Brown SA, Goringe A, Fegan C, Davies S V, Giddings J, Whittaker JA, et al. Parenteral glutamine protects hepatic function during bone marrow transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 1998;22:281–4. doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1701321.
- [179] Gökce M, Kuskonmaz B, Cetin M, Cetinkaya DU, Tuncer M. Coexisting or underlying risk factors of hepatic veno-occlusive disease in pediatric hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients receiving prophylaxis. Exp Clin Transplant 2013;11:440–6. doi:10.6002/ect.2012.0265.
- [180] Ribero D, Wang H, Donadon M, Zorzi D, Thomas MB, Eng C, et al. Bevacizumab improves pathologic response and protects against hepatic injury in patients treated with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy for colorectal liver metastases. Cancer 2007;110:2761–7. doi:10.1002/cncr.23099.
- [181] Hurwitz H, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny W, Cartwright T, Hainsworth J, Heim W, et al. Bevacizumab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med 2004;350:2335–42. doi:10.1056/NEJM0a032691.
- [182] Khanna R, Sarin SK. Non-cirrhotic portal hypertension diagnosis and management. J Hepatol 2014;60:421–41. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2013.08.013.
- [183] Bosch J, Abraldes JG, Berzigotti A, García-Pagan JC. The clinical use of HVPG measurements in chronic liver disease. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009;6:573–82. doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2009.149.
- [184] de Franchis R, Baveno VI Faculty. Expanding consensus in portal hypertension: Report of the Baveno VI Consensus Workshop: Stratifying risk and individualizing care for portal hypertension. J Hepatol 2015;63:743–52. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2015.05.022.
- [185] Kis B, Pamarthi V, Fan C-M, Rabkin D, Baum RA. Safety and utility of transjugular liver biopsy in hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients.

J Vasc Interv Radiol 2013;24:85-9. doi:10.1016/j.jvir.2012.09.011.

- [186] Bravo AA, Sheth SG, Chopra S. Liver biopsy. N Engl J Med 2001;344:495–500. doi:10.1056/NEJM200102153440706.
- [187] Cholongitas E, Quaglia A, Samonakis D, Senzolo M, Triantos C, Patch D, et al. Transjugular liver biopsy: how good is it for accurate histological interpretation? Gut 2006;55:1789–94. doi:10.1136/gut.2005.090415.
- [188] Fried MW, Connaghan DG, Sharma S, Martin LG, Devine S, Holland K, et al. Transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt for the management of severe venoocclusive disease following bone marrow transplantation. Hepatology 1996;24:588–91. doi:10.1002/hep.510240321.
- [189] Pelegrina A, Martí J, Miquel R, Ferrer J, Hernández-Gea V, Diaz A, et al. Changes of liver hemodynamic and elastography parameters in patients with colorectal liver metastases receiving preoperative chemotherapy: "a note of caution". World J Surg Oncol 2017;15:224. doi:10.1186/s12957-017-1290-5.
- [190] Matsuishi E, Anzai K, Dohmen K, Taniguchi S, Gondo H, Kudo J, et al. Sonographic diagnosis of venocclusive disease of the liver and danazol therapy for autoimmune thrombocytopenia in an autologous marrow transplant patient. Jpn J Clin Oncol 1990;20:188–92.
- [191] Dietrich CF, Trenker C, Fontanilla T, Görg C, Hausmann A, Klein S, et al. New Ultrasound Techniques Challenge the Diagnosis of Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome. Ultrasound Med Biol 2018. doi:10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2018.06.002.
- [192] Ravaioli F, Colecchia A, Alemanni LV, Vestito A, Dajti E, Marasco G, et al. Role of imaging techniques in liver veno-occlusive disease diagnosis: recent advances and literature review. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2019;13:463–84. doi:10.1080/17474124.2019.1588111.
- [193] Schiavetti A, Matrunola M, Varrasso G, Padula A, Castello MA. Ultrasound in the management of hepatic veno-occlusive disease in three children treated with dactinomycin and vincristine. Pediatr Hematol Oncol 1996;13:521–9.
- [194] Nicolau C, Bru C, Carreras E, Bosch J, Bianchi L, Gilabert R, et al. Sonographic diagnosis and hemodynamic correlation in veno-occlusive disease of the liver. J Ultrasound Med 1993;12:437–40.

- [195] Brown BP, Abu-Yousef M, Farner R, LaBrecque D, Gingrich R. Doppler sonography: a noninvasive method for evaluation of hepatic venocclusive disease. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1990;154:721–4. doi:10.2214/ajr.154.4.2107664.
- [196] Sonneveld P, Laméris JS, Cornelissen J, Ogilvie A, Löwenberg B. Colorflow imaging sonography of portal and hepatic vein flow to monitor fibrinolytic therapy with r-TPA for veno-occlusive disease following myeloablative treatment. Bone Marrow Transplant 1998;21:731–4. doi:10.1038/sj.bmt.1701155.
- [197] Hommeyer S, Teefey S, Jacobson A et al. Venocclusive disease of the liver: prospective study of US evaluation. Radiology 1992:683–686.
- [198] Herbetko J, Grigg AP, Buckley AR, Phillips GL. Venoocclusive liver disease after bone marrow transplantation: findings at duplex sonography. Am J Roentgenol 1992;158:1001–5. doi:10.2214/ajr.158.5.1566656.
- [199] Teefey S, Brink J, Borson, RA et al. Diagnosis of venoocclusive disease of the liver after bone marrow transplantation: value of duplex sonography. Am J Roentgenol 1995:1397–1401.
- [200] Lassau N, Leclère J, Auperin A, Bourhis JH, Hartmann O, Valteau-Couanet D, et al. Hepatic veno-occlusive disease after myeloablative treatment and bone marrow transplantation: value of gray-scale and Doppler US in 100 patients. Radiology 1997;204:545–52. doi:10.1148/radiology.204.2.9240551.
- [201] Berzigotti A, Piscaglia F. Ultrasound in portal hypertension--part 2--and EFSUMB recommendations for the performance and reporting of ultrasound examinations in portal hypertension. Ultraschall Med 2012;33:1–8. doi:10.1055/s-0031-1299145.
- [202] Lassau N, Auperin A, Leclere J, Bennaceur A, Valteau-Couanet D, Hartmann O. Prognostic value of doppler-ultrasonography in hepatic veno-occlusive disease. Transplantation 2002;74:60–6.
- [203] McCarville MB, Hoffer FA, Howard SC, Goloubeva O, Kauffman WM. Hepatic veno-occlusive disease in children undergoing bone-marrow transplantation: usefulness of sonographic findings. Pediatr Radiol 2001;31:102–5. doi:10.1007/s002470000373.

- [204] Kaya N, Erbey F, Atay D, Akcay A, Bozkurt C, Ozturk G. The Diagnostic Value of Hepatic Arterial Velocity in Venoocclusive Disease After Pediatric Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2017. doi:10.1097/MPH.000000000000999.
- [205] Park JE, Choi YH, Cheon J-E, Kim WS, Kim I-O, Ryu YJ, et al. Gallbladder wall oedema and ascites are independent predictors of progression to hepatic veno-occlusive disease for children with hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Eur Radiol 2018;28:2291–8. doi:10.1007/s00330-017-5137-9.
- [206] Fontanilla T, Hernando CG, Claros JCV, Bautista G, Minaya J, Del Carmen Vega M, et al. Acoustic radiation force impulse elastography and contrast-enhanced sonography of sinusoidal obstructive syndrome (Venoocclusive Disease): preliminary results. J Ultrasound Med 2011;30:1593– 8.
- [207] Nishida M, Kahata K, Hayase E, Shigematsu A, Sato M, Kudo Y, et al. Novel Ultrasonographic Scoring System of Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome after Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2018. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2018.05.025.
- [208] Dietrich CF, Bamber J, Berzigotti A, Bota S, Cantisani V, Castera L, et al. EFSUMB Guidelines and Recommendations on the Clinical Use of Liver Ultrasound Elastography, Update 2017 (Long Version). Ultraschall Der Medizin 2017;38:e16–47. doi:10.1055/s-0043-103952.
- [209] Sandrin L, Fourquet B, Hasquenoph J-M, Yon S, Fournier C, Mal F, et al. Transient elastography: a new noninvasive method for assessment of hepatic fibrosis. Ultrasound Med Biol 2003;29:1705–13.
- [210] Coco B, Oliveri F, Maina AM, Ciccorossi P, Sacco R, Colombatto P, et al. Transient elastography: a new surrogate marker of liver fibrosis influenced by major changes of transaminases. J Viral Hepat 2007;14:360–9. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2893.2006.00811.x.
- [211] Millonig G, Friedrich S, Adolf S, Fonouni H, Golriz M, Mehrabi A, et al. Liver stiffness is directly influenced by central venous pressure. J Hepatol 2010;52:206–10. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2009.11.018.
- [212] Millonig G, Reimann FM, Friedrich S, Fonouni H, Mehrabi A, Büchler MW, et al. Extrahepatic cholestasis increases liver stiffness (FibroScan)

irrespective of fibrosis. Hepatology 2008;48:1718–23. doi:10.1002/hep.22577.

- [213] Vizzutti F, Arena U, Romanelli RG, Rega L, Foschi M, Colagrande S, et al. Liver stiffness measurement predicts severe portal hypertension in patients with HCV-related cirrhosis. Hepatology 2007;45:1290–7. doi:10.1002/hep.21665.
- [214] Ravaioli F, Montagnani M, Lisotti A, Festi D, Mazzella G, Azzaroli F. Noninvasive Assessment of Portal Hypertension in Advanced Chronic Liver Disease: An Update. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2018;2018:1–11. doi:10.1155/2018/4202091.
- [215] Colecchia A, Montrone L, Scaioli E, Bacchi-Reggiani ML, Colli A, Casazza G, et al. Measurement of spleen stiffness to evaluate portal hypertension and the presence of esophageal varices in patients with HCV-related cirrhosis. Gastroenterology 2012;143:646–54. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.05.035.
- [216] Berzigotti A. Non-invasive evaluation of portal hypertension using ultrasound elastography. J Hepatol 2017;67:399–411. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2017.02.003.
- [217] Colecchia A, Ravaioli F, Marasco G, Colli A, Dajti E, Di Biase AR, et al. A combined model based on spleen stiffness measurement and Baveno VI criteria to rule out high-risk varices in advanced chronic liver disease. J Hepatol 2018. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2018.04.023.
- [218] Auberger J, Graziadei I, Clausen J, Vogel W, Nachbaur D. Non-invasive transient elastography for the prediction of liver toxicity following hematopoietic SCT. Bone Marrow Transplant 2013;48:159–60. doi:10.1038/bmt.2012.113.
- [219] Karlas T, Weber J, Nehring C, Kronenberger R, Tenckhoff H, Mössner J, et al. Value of liver elastography and abdominal ultrasound for detection of complications of allogeneic hemopoietic SCT. Bone Marrow Transplant 2014;49:806–11. doi:10.1038/bmt.2014.61.
- [220] Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (CTCAE) | Protocol Development | CTEP n.d.
- [221] Park SH, Lee SS, Sung J-Y, Na K, Kim HJ, Kim SY, et al. Noninvasive assessment of hepatic sinusoidal obstructive syndrome using acoustic

radiation force impulse elastography imaging: A proof-of-concept study in rat models. Eur Radiol 2017. doi:10.1007/s00330-017-5179-z.

- [222] Colecchia A, Marasco G, Ravaioli F, Kleinschmidt K, Masetti R, Prete A, et al. Usefulness of liver stiffness measurement in predicting hepatic venoocclusive disease development in patients who undergo HSCT. Bone Marrow Transplant 2017;52:494–7. doi:10.1038/bmt.2016.320.
- [223] Reddivalla N, Robinson AL, Reid KJ, Radhi MA, Dalal J, Opfer EK, et al. Using liver elastography to diagnose sinusoidal obstruction syndrome in pediatric patients undergoing hematopoetic stem cell transplant. Bone Marrow Transplant 2018:1–8. doi:10.1038/s41409-017-0064-6.
- [224] Colecchia A, Ravaioli F, Sessa M, Alemanni VL, Dajti E, Marasco G, et al. Liver Stiffness Measurement Allows Early Diagnosis of Veno-Occlusive Disease/Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome in Adult Patients Who Undergo Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation: Results from a Monocentric Prospective Study. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2019;25:995–1003. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2019.01.019.
- [225] Mahgerefteh SY, Sosna J, Bogot N, Shapira MY, Pappo O, Bloom AI. Radiologic imaging and intervention for gastrointestinal and hepatic complications of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Radiology 2011;258:660–71. doi:10.1148/radiol.10100025.
- [226] Erturk SM, Mortel? KJ, Binkert CA, Glickman JN, Oliva M-R, Ros PR, et al. CT Features of Hepatic Venoocclusive Disease and Hepatic Graft-Versus-Host Disease in Patients After Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation. Am J Roentgenol 2006;186:1497–501. doi:10.2214/AJR.05.0539.
- [227] Wu X-W, Wang W-Q, Liu B, Xu J-M, Yu Y-Q, Zhang S, et al. Hepatic veno-occlusive disease after taking Gynura Rhizome: The value of multidetector computed tomography in diagnosing the disease and evaluating the clinical therapeutic effect. Hepatol Res 2012;42:304–9. doi:10.1111/j.1872-034X.2011.00918.x.
- [228] Shao H, Chen HZ, Zhu JS, Ruan B, Zhang ZQ, Lin X, et al. Computed tomography findings of hepatic veno-occlusive disease caused by Sedum aizoon with histopathological correlation. Brazilian J Med Biol Res = Rev Bras Pesqui Medicas e Biol 2015;48:1145–50. doi:10.1590/1414-

431X20154563.

- [229] Kan X, Ye J, Rong X, Lu Z, Li X, Wang Y, et al. Diagnostic performance of Contrast-enhanced CT in Pyrrolizidine Alkaloids-induced Hepatic Sinusoidal Obstructive Syndrome. Sci Rep 2016;6:37998. doi:10.1038/srep37998.
- [230] Yang S, Wu J, Lei S. CT Features of Hepatic Veno-occlusive Disease: A Meta-analysis. Acad Radiol 2018;25:328–37. doi:10.1016/J.ACRA.2017.10.012.
- [231] Leonard GD, Brenner B, Kemeny NE. Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy Before Liver Resection for Patients With Unresectable Liver Metastases From Colorectal Carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:2038–48. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.00.349.
- [232] Rubbia-Brandt L, Mentha G, Terris B. Sinusoidal obstruction syndrome is a major feature of hepatic lesions associated with oxaliplatin neoadjuvant chemotherapy for liver colorectal metastases. J Am Coll Surg 2006;202:199–200. doi:10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2005.09.010.
- [233] Bethke A, Kühne K, Platzek I, Stroszczynski C. Neoadjuvant treatment of colorectal liver metastases is associated with altered contrast enhancement on computed tomography. Cancer Imaging 2011;11:91–9. doi:10.1102/1470-7330.2011.0015.
- [234] Han NY, Park BJ, Kim MJ, Sung DJ, Cho SB. Hepatic Parenchymal Heterogeneity on Contrast-enhanced CT Scans Following Oxaliplatinbased Chemotherapy: Natural History and Association with Clinical Evidence of Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome. Radiology 2015;276:766– 74. doi:10.1148/radiol.2015141749.
- [235] Cayet S, Pasco J, Dujardin F, Besson M, Orain I, De Muret A, et al. Diagnostic performance of contrast-enhanced CT-scan in sinusoidal obstruction syndrome induced by chemotherapy of colorectal liver metastases: Radio-pathological correlation. Eur J Radiol 2017;94:180– 90. doi:10.1016/j.ejrad.2017.06.025.
- [236] Uchino K, Fujisawa M, Watanabe T, Endo Y, Nobuhisa T, Matsumoto Y, et al. Oxaliplatin-induced liver injury mimicking metastatic tumor on images: A case report. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2013. doi:10.1093/jjco/hyt113.
- [237] Kawai T, Yamazaki S, Iwama A, Higaki T, Sugitani M, Takayama T. Focal

Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome Caused by Oxaliplatin-Induced Chemotherapy: A Case Report. Hepat Mon 2016;16:e37572. doi:10.5812/hepatmon.37572.

- [238] Arakawa Y, Shimada M, Utsunomya T, Imura S, Morine Y, Ikemoto T, et al. Oxaliplatin-related sinusoidal obstruction syndrome mimicking metastatic liver tumors. Hepatol Res 2013. doi:10.1111/j.1872-034X.2012.01114.x.
- [239] You S-H, Park BJ, Kim YH. Hepatic Lesions that Mimic Metastasis on Radiological Imaging during Chemotherapy for Gastrointestinal Malignancy: Recent Updates. Korean J Radiol 2017;18:413–26. doi:10.3348/kjr.2017.18.3.413.
- [240] van den Bosch MAAJ, van Hoe L. MR imaging findings in two patients with hepatic veno-occlusive disease following bone marrow transplantation. Eur Radiol 2000;10:1290–3. doi:10.1007/s003300000330.
- [241] Mortele KJ, Van Vlierberghe H, Wiesner W, Ros PR. Hepatic venoocclusive disease: MRI findings. Abdom Imaging 2002;27:523–6. doi:10.1007/s00261-001-0097-5.
- [242] Dumont C, Lambert M, Van Beers BE. MR imaging findings in a patient with hepatic veno-occlusive disease. Acta Gastroenterol Belg 2004;67:236–8.
- [243] Zhou H, Wang Y-XJ, Lou H, Xu X, Zhang M. Hepatic sinusoidal obstruction syndrome caused by herbal medicine: CT and MRI features. Korean J Radiol 2014;15:218–25. doi:10.3348/kjr.2014.15.2.218.
- [244] Li X, Yang X, Xu D, Li Q, Kong X, Lu Z, et al. Magnetic Resonance Imaging Findings in Patients With Pyrrolizidine Alkaloid-Induced Hepatic Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017;15:955–7. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2017.01.009.
- [245] Ward J, Guthrie JA, Sheridan MB, Boyes S, Smith JT, Wilson D, et al. Sinusoidal obstructive syndrome diagnosed with superparamagnetic iron oxide-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging in patients with chemotherapy-treated colorectal liver metastases. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:4304–10. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.16.1893.
- [246] Shin N-Y, Kim M-J, Lim JS, Park M-S, Chung Y-E, Choi J-Y, et al.

Accuracy of gadoxetic acid-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging for the diagnosis of sinusoidal obstruction syndrome in patients with chemotherapy-treated colorectal liver metastases. Eur Radiol 2012;22:864–71. doi:10.1007/s00330-011-2333-x.

- [247] Marasco G, Scaioli E, Renzulli M, Colecchia A, Golfieri R, Festi D, et al. MRI Patterns in a Case of 6-Thioguanine-Related Hepatic Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome. Am J Gastroenterol 2016;111:767–767. doi:10.1038/ajg.2016.210.
- [248] Hanelin LG, Uszler JM, Sommer DG. Liver scan "hot spot" in hepatic veno-occlusive disease. Radiology 1975;117:637–8. doi:10.1148/117.3.637.
- [249] Okamura H, Hayashi Y, Nakamae H, Shiomi S, Nishimoto M, Koh H, et al. Use of per rectal portal scintigraphy to detect portal hypertension in sinusoidal obstructive syndrome following unrelated cord blood transplantation. Acta Haematol 2013;130:83–6. doi:10.1159/000346438.
- [250] Gauthe M, Bozec L, Bedossa P. Diagnosis of sinusoidal obstruction syndrome by positron emission tomography/computed tomography: report of two cases treated by defibrotide. Hepatology 2014;60:1789–91. doi:10.1002/hep.27132.
- [251] Kim H, Baek S-E, Moon J, Roh YH, Lee N, Cho A. Increased hepatic FDG uptake on PET/CT in hepatic sinusoidal obstructive syndrome. Oncotarget 2016;7:69024–31. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.11816.
- [252] Mohty M, Malard F, Abecassis M, Aerts E, Alaskar AS, Aljurf M, et al. Sinusoidal obstruction syndrome/veno-occlusive disease: current situation and perspectives-a position statement from the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT). Bone Marrow Transplant 2015;50:781–9. doi:10.1038/bmt.2015.52.
- [253] Schouten JNL, Garcia-Pagan JC, Valla DC, Janssen HLA. Idiopathic noncirrhotic portal hypertension. Hepatology 2011;54:1071–81. doi:10.1002/hep.24422.
- [254] Strouse C, Zhang Y, Zhang M-J, DiGilio A, Pasquini M, Horowitz MM, et al. Risk Score for the Development of Veno-Occlusive Disease after Allogeneic Hematopoietic Cell Transplant. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2018;0. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2018.06.013.
- [255] DeLeve LD, Shulman HM, McDonald GB. Toxic Injury to Hepatic

Sinusoids: Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome (Veno-Occlusive Disease). Semin Liver Dis 2002;22:027–42. doi:10.1055/s-2002-23204.

- [256] European Association for the Study of the Liver. Electronic address: easloffice@easloffice.eu. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Vascular diseases of the liver. J Hepatol 2016;64:179–202. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2015.07.040.
- [257] Richardson PG, Riches ML, Kernan NA, Brochstein JA, Mineishi S, Termuhlen AM, et al. Phase 3 trial of defibrotide for the treatment of severe veno-occlusive disease and multi-organ failure. Blood 2016;127:1656–65. doi:10.1182/blood-2015-10-676924.
- [258] Corbacioglu S, Richardson PG. Defibrotide for children and adults with hepatic veno-occlusive disease post hematopoietic cell transplantation. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017;11:885–98. doi:10.1080/17474124.2017.1370372.
- [259] Kernan NA, Grupp S, Smith AR, Arai S, Triplett B, Antin JH, et al. Final results from a defibrotide treatment-IND study for patients with hepatic veno-occlusive disease/sinusoidal obstruction syndrome. Br J Haematol 2018;181:816–27. doi:10.1111/bjh.15267.
- [260] Volin L, Niittyvuopio R, Heiskanen J, Lindstrom V, Nihtinen A, Sahlstedt L, et al. Diagnosis of veno-occlusive disease/sinusoidal obstruction syndrome of the liver: problems of interpretation. Bone Marrow Transplant 2016;51:1633–5. doi:10.1038/bmt.2016.237.
- [261] Vizzutti F, Arena U, Romanelli RG, Rega L, Foschi M, Colagrande S, et al. Liver stiffness measurement predicts severe portal hypertension in patients with HCV-related cirrhosis. Hepatology 2007;45:1290–7. doi:10.1002/hep.21665.
- [262] Berzigotti A. Non-invasive evaluation of portal hypertension using ultrasound elastography. J Hepatol 2017;67:399–411. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2017.02.003.
- [263] X. M. Spleen stiffness is superior to liver stiffness for predicting esophageal varices in chronic liver disease: A meta-analysis. Hepatology 2016;63:846A – 847.
- [264] Singh S, Eaton JE, Murad MH, Tanaka H, Iijima H, Talwalkar JA. Accuracy of Spleen Stiffness Measurement in Detection of Esophageal

Varices in Patients With Chronic Liver Disease: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014;12:935-945.e4. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2013.09.013.

- [265] Zama D, Bossù G, Ravaioli F, Masetti R, Prete A, Festi D, et al. Longitudinal evaluation of liver stiffness in three pediatric patients with veno-occlusive disease. Pediatr Transplant 2019;23:e13456. doi:10.1111/petr.13456.
- [266] Przepiorka D, Weisdorf D, Martin P, Klingemann HG, Beatty P, Hows J, et al. 1994 Consensus Conference on Acute GVHD Grading. Bone Marrow Transplant 1995;15:825–8.
- [267] Fontana RJ, Seeff LB, Andrade RJ, Björnsson E, Day CP, Serrano J, et al. Standardization of nomenclature and causality assessment in druginduced liver injury: Summary of a clinical research workshop. Hepatology 2010;52:730–42. doi:10.1002/hep.23696.
- [268] Kullak-Ublick GA, Andrade RJ, Merz M, End P, Benesic A, Gerbes AL, et al. Drug-induced liver injury: recent advances in diagnosis and risk assessment. Gut 2017;66:1154–64. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2016-313369.
- [269] McDonald GB. Hepatobiliary Complications of Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation, 40 Years On. Hepatology 2010;51:1450–60. doi:10.1002/hep.23533.
- [270] Patridge EF, Bardyn TP. Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap). J Med Libr Assoc 2018;106:142. doi:10.5195/JMLA.2018.319.
- [271] Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)—A metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009;42:377–81. doi:10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010.
- [272] Fleiss JL, Levin B, Paik MC. Statistical Methods for Rates and Proportions. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 2003. doi:10.1002/0471445428.
- [273] Newcombe RG. Two-sided confidence intervals for the single proportion: comparison of seven methods. Stat Med 1998;17:857–72. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0258(19980430)17:8<857::AID-SIM777>3.0.CO;2-E.

- [274] DeLong ER, DeLong DM, Clarke-Pearson DL. Comparing the areas under two or more correlated receiver operating characteristic curves: a nonparametric approach. Biometrics 1988;44:837–45.
- [275] Ravaioli F, Montagnani M, Lisotti A, Festi D, Mazzella G, Azzaroli F.
 Noninvasive Assessment of Portal Hypertension in Advanced Chronic Liver Disease: An Update. Gastroenterol Res Pract 2018;2018:1–11. doi:10.1155/2018/4202091.
- [276] Carreras E, Bertz H, Arcese W, Vernant JP, Tomás JF, Hagglund H, et al. Incidence and outcome of hepatic veno-occlusive disease after blood or marrow transplantation: a prospective cohort study of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation Chronic Leukemia Work. Blood 1998;92:3599–604.
- [277] Roeker LE, Kim HT, Glotzbecker B, Nageshwar P, Nikiforow S, Koreth J, et al. Early Clinical Predictors of Hepatic Veno-Occlusive Disease/Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome after Myeloablative Stem Cell Transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2018. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2018.07.039.
- [278] Kebriaei P, Cutler C, de Lima M, Giralt S, Lee SJ, Marks D, et al. Management of important adverse events associated with inotuzumab ozogamicin: expert panel review. Bone Marrow Transplant 2018;53:449– 56. doi:10.1038/s41409-017-0019-y.
- [279] Marconi G, Ravaioli F, Martinelli G, Dajti E, Abbenante MC, Sartor C, et al. Vascular and Parenchymal Alterations of the Liver and Liver Surveillance in Patients Who Received Inotuzumab Ozogamicin As the Standard of Care for Relapse/Refractory Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Blood 2019;134:1343–1343. doi:10.1182/blood-2019-130632.
- [280] Karlas T, Lindner F, Troltzsch M, Keim V. Assessment of spleen stiffness using acoustic radiation force impulse imaging (ARFI): definition of examination standards and impact of breathing maneuvers. Ultraschall Med 2014;35:38–43. doi:10.1055/s-0033-1356230.
- [281] Piscaglia F, Salvatore V, Mulazzani L, Cantisani V, Colecchia A, Di Donato R, et al. Differences in liver stiffness values obtained with new ultrasound elastography machines and Fibroscan: A comparative study. Dig Liver Dis

2017;49. doi:10.1016/j.dld.2017.03.001.

- [282] Castera L, Yuen Chan HL, Arrese M, Afdhal N, Bedossa P, Friedrich-Rust M, et al. EASL-ALEH Clinical Practice Guidelines: Non-invasive tests for evaluation of liver disease severity and prognosis. J Hepatol 2015;63:237– 64. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2015.04.006.
- [283] Lim JK, Flamm SL, Singh S, Falck-Ytter YT, Clinical Guidelines Committee of the American Gastroenterological Association L, Hirano I, et al. American Gastroenterological Association Institute Guideline on the Role of Elastography in the Evaluation of Liver Fibrosis. Gastroenterology 2017;152:1536–43. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2017.03.017.

APPENDIX

This thesis is based on the following articles:

- <u>Ravaioli F</u>, Colecchia A, Alemanni LV, Vestito A, Dajti E, Marasco G, Sessa M, Pession A, Bonifazi F and Festi D. Role of imaging techniques in liver veno-occlusive disease diagnosis: recent advances and literature review. *Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019* (*IF 2.963*); 13(5):463–84. doi.org//10.1080/17474124.2019.1588111/
- II. Chan SS, Colecchia A, Duarte RF, Bonifazi F, <u>Ravaioli F</u> and Bourhis JH. Imaging in Hepatic Veno-Occlusive Disease/Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome. *Submitted to Journal*.
- III. Bonifazi F, Sessa M, Barbato F, <u>Ravaioli F</u>, Arpinati M, Cavo M, Colecchia A. Diagnosis and treatment of VOD after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Submitted to Journal*.
- IV. Colecchia A, Marasco G, <u>Ravaioli F</u>, Kleinschmidt K, Masetti R, Prete A, Pession A and Festi D. Usefulness of liver stiffness measurement in predicting hepatic veno-occlusive disease development in patients who undergo HSCT. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2017. (IF <u>4.674</u>); 52(3):494–7. doi.org//10.1038/bmt.2016.320/
- V. Zama D, Bossù G, <u>Ravaioli F</u>, Masetti R, Prete A, Festi D and Pession A. Longitudinal evaluation of liver stiffness in three pediatric patients with the veno-occlusive disease. *Pediatr Transplant.* 2019. (<u>IF 1.377</u>); 23(5):e13456. doi.org//10.1111/petr.13456/

VI. Colecchia A^{*}, <u>Ravaioli F^{*}</u>, Sessa M, Alemanni VL, Dajti E, Marasco G, Vestito A, Zagari RM, Barbato F, Arpinati M, Cavo M, Festi D and Bonifazi F. Liver Stiffness Measurement of Allows Early Diagnosis Veno-Occlusive Disease/Sinusoidal Obstruction Syndrome in Adult Patients Who Undergo Hematopoietic Stem Cell **Transplantation:** Results from a Monocentric **Prospective Study**. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2019. (*IF*: 3.955); 25(5):995-1003 doi.org//10.1016/j.bbmt.2019.01.019/

These articles are referred to by their Roman numerals in the text.

<u>Copyrights:</u>

- Article I © 2019 Informa UK Limited, trading as Taylor & Francis Group
- > Article II © Chan SS. et al.
- > Article III © Bonifazi F. et al.
- Article IV © 2017 Macmillan Publishers Limited, part of Springer Nature.
- > Article V © 2019 Wiley Periodicals, Inc.
- Article VI © 2019 American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. This is an open-access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license.